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UNIT PURCHASE AGREEMENT

THIS UNIT PURCHASE AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into
this 5™ day of April, 2018, by and among Gabriel Performance Products, LLC, an Ohio limited
liability company (“Purchaser”), and Harvinder (Harry) Anand (“Anand”), Albert J. Royce, 111,
Wylie H. Royce, and Victor Villafranca, each of whom is a member of the Company (as defined
below) (each, including Anand, a “Seller” and collectively, the “Sellers”). Purchaser and Sellers
are sometimes collectively referred to herein as the “Parties” and each individually as a “Party.”

RECITALS

WHEREAS, Sellers own all of the outstanding units of membership interest (the “Units”)
of Royce International, LLC, a Florida limited liability company (the “Company”).

WHEREAS, upon the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement, each of the
Sellers desires to sell to Purchaser the issued and outstanding Units set forth next to such Seller’s
name on Exhibit A hereto, to be sold for the consideration set forth in this Agreement;

WHEREAS, following the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, Purchaser will
own all of the Units; and

WHEREAS, each of the Sellers has a material economic interest in the consummation of
the transactions contemplated hereby, and Purchaser is requiring that each of the Sellers enter
into this Agreement as a condition to Purchaser entering into this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of
which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereto agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1
PURCHASE, SALE AND CONTRIBUTION

1.1 Purchase and Sale of Units. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth
in this Agreement, at the Closing, each Seller will sell, transfer, convey, assign and deliver to
Purchaser, and Purchaser will purchase and acquire from each Seller, free and clear of any Liens,
the Units.

1.2 Purchase Price.

(a) The total purchase price for the Units will be Thirty-Three Million Dollars
($33,000,000) plus or minus the Working Capital Adjustment as provided in Section 1.4
(the “Purchase Price”).

(b) The purchase price payable at Closing for the Units will be the sum of (1)
Thirty-Three Million Dollars ($33,000,000), plus or minus (ii) the Estimated Working
Capital Adjustment (such amount, the “Closing Cash Purchase Price™).

1.3 Payment of Consideration. At the Closing:
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(a) Purchaser will pay from the Closing Cash Purchase Price the Outstanding
Transaction Expenses on behalf of the Company;

(b) Purchaser will pay from the Closing Cash Purchase Price the Indebtedness
Amount on behalf of the Company, with such payment being made to the holders of such
Indebtedness pursuant to payoff letters in form acceptable to Purchaser;

() Purchaser will pay from the Closing Cash Purchase Price an amount equal
to Two Million Four Hundred Seventy Five Thousand Dollars ($2,475,000) (the “Escrow
Amount”) to JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (the “Escrow Agent”), with such funds to be
held in an escrow account pursuant to the terms and conditions of the escrow agreement
executed simultaneously with this Agreement (the “Escrow Agreement”),

(d) Purchaser will pay to Sellers via wire transfer of immediately available
funds to an account or accounts designated by Sellers the sum of the following:

(1) The Closing Cash Purchase Price, less;

(i)  the Outstanding Transaction Expenses, less;
(iii)  the Indebtedness Amount, less;

(iv)  the Escrow Amount.

1.4 Working Capital Adjustment. The Purchase Price will be subject to adjustment as
provided in this Section 1.4 (the “Working Capital Adjustment”).

(a) Working Capital. “Working Capital” means the Current Assets of the
Business (excluding Cash), minus the Current Liabilities of the Business (excluding
Indebtedness), as of the specified date, determined in a manner consistent with GAAP
and to the extent not inconsistent with GAAP, utilizing the accounting methods,
practices, principles, and procedures, and with consistent classifications, judgments and
valuation and estimation methodologies as those expressly set forth in Exhibit 1.4(a),
which sets forth an illustrative calculation of Working Capital as of the date specified
thereon (the “Sample Working Capital Statement”). For purposes of this Agreement,
“Current Assets” will mean accounts receivable, Inventory, and the other current assets of
the Company specifically identified on Exhibit 1.4(a), and “Current Liabilities” will
mean accounts payable, accrued liabilities, and the other current liabilities identified on
Exhibit 1.4(a), but in all cases excluding any items to the extent such items are included
as part of Indebtedness Amount or Outstanding Transaction Expenses for purposes of
determining the Closing Cash Purchase Price under this Article I.

(b) Estimated Working Capital Adjustment. Attached hereto as Exhibit 1.4(a)
is an estimated statement of the Working Capital as of the close of business on the day
prior to the Closing Date (the “Estimated Working Capital”), which was determined in
the manner described in Section 1.4(a) above and in the Sample Working Capital
Statement. If the Estimated Working Capital is greater than the Working Capital Target,
then, on the Closing Date, the Closing Cash Unit Purchase Price will be increased on a

TRADEMARK
REEL: 006697 FRAME: 0433



dollar-for-dollar basis by an amount equal to the Estimated Working Capital less the
Working Capital Target, and if the Working Capital Target is greater than the Estimated
Working Capital, then, on the Closing Date, the Closing Cash Unit Purchase Price will be
decreased on a dollar-for-dollar basis by an amount equal to the Working Capital Target
less the Estimated Working Capital (such adjustment, the “Estimated Working Capital

Adjustment”).

(©) Closing Working Capital Adjustment.

(1) Within ninety (90) days after the Closing Date, Purchaser will
prepare and deliver to the Sellers Representative a reasonably detailed statement
(the “Closing Working Capital Statement”) of the Working Capital as of the close
of business on the day prior to the Closing Date (the “Closing Working Capital”),
which Closing Working Capital Statement will determine Closing Working
Capital in the same manner as the Estimated Working Capital was determined.
Following the Closing Date, Purchaser agrees that it will cooperate with the
Sellers Representative and his advisors in making available to the Sellers
Representative and his advisors such books, records, financial information, work
papers, and supporting data, as reasonably requested, in connection with the
Sellers Representative’s review of the Closing Working Capital.

(1))  The Sellers Representative may deliver a written notice to
Purchaser within thirty (30) days of the Sellers Representative’s receipt of the
Closing Working Capital Statement stating whether the Sellers Representative has
any objections to the Closing Working Capital, describing in reasonable detail any
objections thereto. Failure to give a timely objection notice (or written notification
from the Sellers Representative that he has no objection to the Closing Working
Capital Statement) will constitute acceptance and approval of the Closing
Working Capital set forth therein, and such Closing Working Capital will be final
and binding upon the Parties, absent manifest error.

(1i1)  If the Sellers Representative notifies Purchaser of any objection to
the Closing Working Capital Statement within the time period set forth in Section
1.4(c)(i1), Purchaser and the Sellers Representative will attempt in good faith to
reach an agreement as to the matter in dispute. If such Parties have failed to
resolve any such disputed item within ten (10) days after receipt of timely notice
of such objection, then any such disputed item will be submitted to and
determined by an independent accounting firm jointly selected by Purchaser and
the Sellers Representative (the “Independent Accounting Firm”); provided,
however, the Parties may mutually agree on an extended period to resolve any
such dispute before submitting it to the Independent Accounting Firm. The
Independent Accounting Firm will be given reasonable access to all of the records
of the Company and Purchaser to resolve any disputed item regarding the Closing
Working Capital Statement, and will be instructed to submit its determination in
writing with respect to any disputed matters to Purchaser and the Company within
twenty (20) days. In connection with the engagement of the Independent
Accounting Firm, Purchaser and Sellers Representative shall execute (or shall

TRADEMARK
REEL: 006697 FRAME: 0434



cause the Company to execute) reasonable engagement letters as the Independent
Accounting Firm reasonably requires in order to commence its engagement. The
Independent Accounting Firm will address only those items properly disputed in
accordance with Section 1.4(c)(ii) and the Independent Accounting Firm may not
assign a value greater than the greatest value or lower than the lowest value for
any such item claimed by Purchaser, on the one hand, or the Sellers
Representative, on the other hand. The Sellers Representative and Purchaser will
be entitled to present any materials they deem appropriate to the Independent
Accounting Firm, including a meeting, with all parties present (to the extent such
parties desire to be present in such meeting), to discuss their position. The fees
and expenses of the Independent Accounting Firm incurred in resolving the
disputed matter will be equitably apportioned by the Independent Accounting
Firm based on the extent to which Purchaser, on the one hand, or the Sellers
Representative, on the other hand, is determined by the Independent Accounting
Firm to be the prevailing party in the resolution of each such disputed matter. The
Closing Working Capital Statement properly disputed under this Section
1.4(c)(ii1) will, after resolution of such dispute pursuant to this Section 1.4(c)(iii),
be final, binding and conclusive on all parties.

(iv)  If the Closing Working Capital as finally determined is greater
than the Estimated Working Capital, Purchaser will pay such excess on a dollar-
for-dollar basis to Sellers in immediately available funds, and if the Estimated
Working Capital is greater than the Closing Working Capital, Sellers will, jointly
and severally, pay such excess on a dollar-for-dollar basis to Purchaser, or, at
Purchaser’s election in its sole discretion, Purchaser may instead require that
Purchaser and the Sellers Representative direct the Escrow Agent to release to
Purchaser the amount of such difference from the Escrow Amount. If Purchaser
elects to recover such amount from the Escrow Amount, but such amount exceeds
the Escrow Amount, Sellers, jointly and severally, will pay such excess on a
dollar-for-dollar basis to Purchaser in immediately available funds. Additionally,
if Purchaser elects to recover such amount from the Escrow Amount, Sellers will
be jointly and severally liable to replenish the Escrow Amount with the amount
disbursed from the Escrow Amount within five (5) Business Days of such
disbursement. The final adjustment is referred to herein as the “Closing Working
Capital Adjustment”. All payments pursuant to this Section 1.4(c)(iv) will be
made within five (5) Business Days after the determination of Closing Working
Capital becomes final and binding.

1.5 Tax Matters.

(a) Any Closing Working Capital Adjustment will be treated for Tax purposes
as an adjustment to the Purchase Price.

(b) Purchaser and the Sellers agree that, for U.S. federal income Tax
purposes, the purchase and sale of the Units pursuant to this Agreement is intended to be
treated as the deemed sale by the Sellers to Purchaser of all of the assets held by the
Company as of the Closing pursuant to Revenue Ruling 99-6 (Situation 2).
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(©) Purchaser and the Sellers agree that for U.S. federal income Tax purposes
the Purchase Price will be allocated among the assets of the Company deemed purchased
and sold in accordance with Exhibit 1.5(c) (the “Allocation Statement”), and none of
such parties will take any position (whether in audits, on any Tax Returns, or otherwise)
for Tax purposes that is inconsistent with the Allocation Statement unless required to do
so by applicable Legal Requirements; provided, however, that, with respect to the
allocation of the Purchase Price only, (i) Purchaser’s cost for the assets that it is deemed
to have acquired may differ from the total amount allocated hereunder to reflect the
inclusion in the total cost of items (for example, capitalized acquisition costs) not
included in the amount so allocated, and (i1) the amount realized by Sellers may differ
from the total amount allocated hereunder to reflect transaction costs that reduce the
amount realized for U.S. federal income Tax purpose.

1.6  Withholding. Purchaser will be entitled to deduct and withhold from the amounts
otherwise payable pursuant to this Agreement to any Seller such amounts (the “Withholding
Amounts”) as Purchaser or its agent or designee is required to deduct and withhold under the
Code, or any provision of state, local or foreign Tax law and to property remit (or have the
Company remit through its payroll system) such Withholding Amounts to the appropriate Tax
authority or other Governmental Authority. To the extent such Withholding Amounts are so
withheld and paid to the applicable Tax authority or other Governmental Authority, such
Withholding Amounts will be treated for all purposes of this Agreement as having been paid to
the Person with respect to whom such withholding and deduction was made.

1.7 Sellers Representative. Each Seller hereby irrevocably appoints Anand (the
“Sellers Representative™) as such Person’s sole and exclusive agent and attorney-in-fact, for and
on behalf of each such Person, with full power and authority to represent each such Person and
each such Person’s successors and assigns, with full power of substitution in the premises, with
respect to all matters arising under this Agreement or any other agreement or document
contemplated hereby or delivered pursuant hereto (including, but not limited to, waiving any
right or remedy in favor of Seller; contesting, negotiating, and settling any dispute arising out of
or in connection with this Agreement or any other agreement or document contemplated hereby
or delivered pursuant hereto; or entering into any amendment to this Agreement or any other
agreement or document contemplated hereby or delivered pursuant hereto) and to receive all
sums payable to such Persons, and all actions taken by the Sellers Representative under this
Agreement or any other agreement or document contemplated hereby or delivered pursuant
hereto will be binding upon each such Person and such Person’s successors and assigns as if
expressly ratified and confirmed in writing by each of them. The authority conferred under this
Agreement will be an agency coupled with an interest, and all authority conferred hereby is
irrevocable and not subject to termination by any Seller, or by operation of law, whether by the
death or incapacity of any Seller, the termination of any trust or estate, dissolution or the
occurrence of any other event. If any Seller should die or become incapacitated, if any trust or
estate should terminate, if any Seller should be dissolved or if any other such event should occur,
any action taken by the Sellers Representative will be as valid as if such death or incapacity,
termination, dissolution or other event had not occurred, regardless of whether or not the Sellers
Representative received notice of such death, incapacity, termination, dissolution or other event.
Each Seller will be deemed a party or a signatory to any agreement, document, instrument or
certificate for which the Sellers Representative signs on behalf of a Seller for which the Sellers
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Representative had authority. In performing any of his duties under this Agreement or upon the
claimed failure to perform his duties under this Agreement, the Sellers Representative will not be
liable to a Seller for any Damages that such Persons may incur as a result of any act, or failure to
act, by the Sellers Representative under this Agreement, and the Sellers Representative will be
indemnified and held harmless by each Seller for all Damages.

ARTICLE 1T
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES REGARDING
THE COMPANY AND THE BUSINESS

In order to induce Purchaser to enter into this Agreement, Sellers jointly and severally
represent and warrant the following to Purchaser that, except as set forth in the corresponding
sections of the disclosure schedule delivered by Sellers to Purchaser on the date of this
Agreement (the “Disclosure Schedule”):

2.1 Organization and Qualification. The Company is a duly organized, validly
existing limited liability company existing and in good standing under the Legal Requirements of
the State of Florida. The Company is duly authorized to conduct business and is in good
standing under the Legal Requirements of each jurisdiction where the nature of the business
transacted by it makes qualification therein as a foreign limited liability company necessary,
except as set forth on Section 2.3 of the Disclosure Schedules or where the failure to be so
qualified would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material
Adverse Effect. The jurisdictions in which the Company is qualified to do business as a foreign
limited liability company are listed on Section 2.1(a) of the Disclosure Schedule. The Company
has delivered to Purchaser complete and correct copies of its Organizational Documents now in
effect, and it is not in default or in violation of any provision of such Organizational Documents.

2.2 Authority, Power and Enforceability. The Company has all requisite entity power
and authority to enter into and consummate the transactions contemplated by any agreement
contemplated hereby or delivered pursuant hereto to which it is a party. The execution, delivery,
and performance of any agreement contemplated hereby or delivered pursuant hereto by the
Company and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby by the
Company have been duly authorized by all necessary limited liability company action. Any
agreement contemplated hereby or delivered pursuant hereto to which the Company is a party,
when executed and delivered, will constitute valid and binding obligations of the Company,
enforceable against the Company in accordance with their terms except as such enforceability
may be limited by (i) applicable insolvency, bankruptcy, reorganization, moratorium, or other
similar Legal Requirements affecting creditors’ rights generally, and (ii) applicable equitable
principles (whether considered in a proceeding at law or in equity).

2.3 No Conflict; Required Filings and Consents. The execution, delivery, and
performance by the Company of any agreement contemplated hereby or delivered pursuant
hereto to which the Company is a party will not: (a) violate any Legal Requirement or Permit
held by the Company or to which the Company is subject or violate the Company’s
Organizational Documents; (b) conflict with, result in a breach of, constitute a default under,
result in the acceleration of, create in any party the right to accelerate, terminate, modify, or
cancel, or result in any waiver or diminution of rights or claims held by the Company under any
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Contract to which the Company is a party or by which the Company is bound or to which the
assets of the Company are subject; or (c) result in the creation of any Lien on any of the Units or
any asset of the Company. No consent, approval, order, or authorization of or from, or
registration, notification, declaration, or filing with, any Person, including without limitation, any
Governmental Authority, is required in connection with the execution, delivery, or performance
by the Company of any agreement contemplated hereby or delivered pursuant hereto by the
Company or the consummation by such Party of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement. Except as set forth on Section 2.3 of the Disclosure Schedules, there are no voting
trust agreements, powers of attorney, member agreements, proxies, or any other Contracts to
which the Company or any of the Sellers is a party, or by which the Company is bound, relating
to the sale, transfer, voting, registration, acquisition, distribution rights, or disposition of any of
the Units, or otherwise granting any Person any right in respect of the Units, and there are no
existing restrictions on the transfer of the Units other than restrictions on transfer under
applicable federal and state securities Legal Requirements.

2.4  Capitalization. The Company has no outstanding equity interests other than the
Units, all of which are owned by the Sellers as set forth in Section 2.4 of the Disclosure
Schedule, and all such Units have been duly authorized, validly issued, and are fully paid and
nonassessable. None of the Units were offered, issued, sold, or delivered by the Company in
violation of (i) the Securities Act of 1933 or any other applicable Legal Requirement, or (ii) any
preemptive rights, rights of first refusal, rights of first offer, or similar rights. There are no
Contracts to which the Company is party relating to the issuance, sale, or transfer of any equity
securities or other securities of the Company. There are no options, warrants, convertible
securities, or other rights, agreements, arrangements, or commitments to which the Company is
party relating to the equity securities of the Company, or obligating the Company to issue, sell,
or redeem any equity securities in the Company, and there are no outstanding or authorized
equity interest appreciation, phantom equity interests, management equity incentive, or other
such incentives relating to ownership for which the Company is or may be liable.

2.5 Subsidiaries. Except as set forth on Section 2.5 of the Disclosure Schedules, the
Company has no Subsidiaries, nor has the Company ever had a Subsidiary. The Company does
not own, directly or indirectly, any equity ownership interest in any other Person or the right to
acquire any stock, partnership interest, joint venture interest, or other equity ownership interest in
any other Person.

2.6 Financial Statements.

(a) Attached to Section 2.6(a) of the Disclosure Schedule are the following
reviewed financial statements of the Business (the “Financial Statements”): (a) the
unaudited balance sheets and related statements of income and cash flows of the Business
for the calendar years ended December 31, 2014, December 31, 2015, and December 31,
2016 (the “Annual Financial Statements”); and (b) the unaudited balance sheet as of
December 31, 2017, and related statement of income of the Business for the twelve-
month period then ended (the “Interim Financial Statements”). The Financial Statements
have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting and in accordance with GAAP and
fairly present the financial condition of the Business. The accounting practices of the
Company have been consistently applied in accordance with GAAP for all periods
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represented by the Financial Statements. The Company’s financial books and records are
complete and correct in all material respects, and the Financial Statements have been
prepared on the basis of such financial books and records.

(b) The Company does not have any Liabilities, except Liabilities (1) reflected
on or reserved against the Interim Financial Statements (or reflected in the notes thereto),
and (i1) current Liabilities incurred since the date of the Interim Financial Statements in
the Ordinary Course of Business.

(©) All accounts receivable reflected in the Interim Financial Statements and
all accounts receivable arising subsequent to the date of the Interim Financial Statements
and prior to the Closing Date represent arm’s length transactions in the Ordinary Course
of Business and, subject to a reserve for bad debts shown on the Interim Financial
Statements or, with respect to accounts receivable arising after the date of the Internal
Financial Statements in the Ordinary Course of Business, on the accounting records of
the Company, will be collected in full without setoff, within 90 days after the day on
which they first became due and payable. There is no contest, claim, defense, or right of
setoff with any account debtor of the Business relating to the amount or validity of such
accounts receivable, other than contests, claims, defenses or rights of setoff in the
Ordinary Course of Business. The Company has not accelerated collections of any
accounts receivable outside of the Ordinary Course of Business, and the Company has
not failed to pay any current Liabilities prior to the date such payments are due.

(d) All of the Inventory of the Business (i) consists of a quality and quantity
which (A) is properly reflected and valued in the Interim Financial Statements in
accordance with GAAP, and (B) is usable and saleable in the Ordinary Course of
Business without discount or price reduction, and (ii) is located at the Company’s
facilities at the Real Property (excluding items of Inventory in transit in the ordinary
course of business). The value of Inventory known to the Company to be obsolete or
below standard quality has been written down or reserved against in the Interim Financial
Statements.

(e) The Company is exempt from duties for product imported from countries
identified in the Generalized System of Preferences. The Company is entitled to a refund
of duties previously paid to Governmental Authorities following the expiration of the
Generalized System of Preferences on December 31, 2017 in the amount set forth on
Section 2.6(e) of the Disclosure Schedule (the “GSP Refund”). The Company has no
Liability to any Governmental Authority for any duties or similar amounts that have not
been timely paid, and except as and to the extent set forth in the Closing Working Capital
as finally determined, the Company has no Liability to any of its vendors for any duties
previously withheld by the Company.

27  Indebtedness. Section 2.7 of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth all Indebtedness
of the Company and all obligations of others guaranteed by the Company. The Company is not
in default of any of its respective obligations under its Indebtedness or guarantees.
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2.8  Absence of Certain Changes. Except as disclosed in Section 2.8 of the Disclosure
Schedule, since December 31, 2016, the Company has conducted the Business in the Ordinary
Course of Business, and the Company has not:

(a) incurred any Indebtedness or become subject to any Liabilities, except
Current Liabilities incurred in the Ordinary Course of Business and ordinary course
Liabilities pursuant to executory contracts and other commercial obligations incurred in
the Ordinary Course of Business;

(b) mortgaged, pledged, or subjected any of its assets to any Liens, other than
Permitted Liens;

(©) sold, assigned, transferred, leased, or licensed any assets in excess of
$50,000 other than in the Ordinary Course of Business;

(d) sold, assigned, transferred, abandoned, or permitted to lapse any Permits;

(e) sold, assigned, or transferred any patents, registered trademarks, trade
names, registered copyrights, or other Intellectual Property, or disclosed any proprietary
information with respect to the Business other than in the Ordinary Course of Business;

® disclosed any trade secret information that is material to the Business
except subject to confidentiality obligations that are valid and binding on the recipient;

(2) suffered any extraordinary losses or waived any rights of material value,
whether or not covered by insurance and whether or not in the Ordinary Course of
Business;

(h) issued any equity securities, securities convertible into its equity
securities, or warrants, options, or other rights to acquire its equity securities;

(1) made any capital investment in, or any loan to, any other Person;
) made any capital expenditures or commitments therefor in excess of
$50,000:

(k) made any change in, established, adopted, or terminated any Benefit Plan,
labor, or collective bargaining agreement or trust or fund, or made any material changes
in wages, salary, or other compensation, or granted or paid any material bonus, benefit, or
other direct or indirect compensation, in each case, with respect to its current or former
officers, employees, or consultants, other than as required by the terms of any Benefit
Plan or pursuant to an applicable Legal Requirement;

D purchased or redeemed any of its outstanding equity securities;

(m)  paid, loaned, or advanced (other than the payment of salary and benefits in
the Ordinary Course of Business or the payment, advance, or reimbursement of expenses
in the Ordinary Course of Business) any amounts to, or sold, transferred, or leased any of
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its assets to, or entered into any other transactions with, any Affiliates or Insiders of the
Company, or made any loan to, or entered into any other transaction with, any directors
or officers of the Company;

(n) made any change in its accounting or Tax reporting principles, methods,
or policies;

(o) made, changed, or revoked any Tax election or settled or compromised
any Tax claim or Liability or entered into a settlement or compromise, or prepared or
filed any income or other Tax Return (or any amendment thereof) unless such Tax Return
will have been prepared or filed in a manner consistent with past practice;

(p) conducted its billing or collection of receivables, replacement of
inventory, and payment of trade payables other than in the Ordinary Course of Business;

(@ commenced any litigation or binding dispute resolution process or settled
or compromised any pending or threatened suit, action, or claim,;

(r) amended its Organizational Documents;

(s) entered into any other material transactions, other than in the Ordinary
Course of Business;

(1) discontinued operations at any location;
(u) experienced a Material Adverse Effect; or
(v) agreed to do any of the foregoing.

2.9  Title to Assets; Condition of Assets. The Company has good and marketable title
to, or a valid leasehold interest in, all of the assets of the Company used in the conduct of the
Business (including but not limited to the assets reflected in the Interim Financial Statements),
free and clear of all Liens, other than Permitted Liens. The assets owned by the Company
constitute all of the assets necessary to conduct the Business as presently conducted. No Person
other than the Company owns or leases any asset that is necessary or desirable in connection
with the conduct of the Business as conducted as of the date of this Agreement or as proposed to
be conducted as of the date of this Agreement. All items of personal property owned or leased
by the Company are in good operating condition and repair, ordinary wear and tear excepted, and
are sufficient for the continued conduct of the Business after the Closing in substantially the
same manner as conducted as of the date of this Agreement. None of the personal property of
the Company is located at any location other than the Real Property.

2.10 Compliance with Laws and Regulations:; Permits.

(a) Section 2.10(a) of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete listing
and summary description of all permits, approvals, registrations, franchises, licenses,
certificates, accreditations and other authorizations of Governmental Authorities (the
“Permits”) required for the conduct of the Business. The Company owns or possesses all
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right, title and interest in and to all of the Permits that are necessary for it to own and
operate the Business as presently conducted, and all such Permits will be available for
use by the Company on identical terms and conditions immediately subsequent to the
Closing. The Company has complied with and is in compliance in all material respects
with the terms and conditions of all such Permits and has not received any notices that
any is in violation of any of the terms or conditions of any Permits. Purchaser has been
provided with copies of any filings made by the Company in connection with Company’s
use of the Permits or that are otherwise necessary to own and operate the Business
pursuant to such Permits, and such filings contain information that is true, accurate and
complete in all respects. All information provided by the Sellers or the Company in
connection with the transfer of or request for consent from any Governmental Authority
in regards to any Permit is true, complete and correct in all material respects.

(b) The Company is in compliance in all material respects with all applicable
Legal Requirements, and no claims, notices, investigation, inquiry, audit or review by
any Governmental Authority with respect to the Company is filed, pending or threatened
against the Company alleging any failure to so comply. To the Knowledge of the
Company, no event has occurred or circumstance exists that (with or without notice or
lapse of time) constitutes or will result in a violation by the Company of, or a failure on
the part of the Company to substantially comply with, any applicable Legal
Requirements, including any Legal Requirements in connection with the operation of the
Business.

2.11 Taxes.

(a) The Company has timely filed with the appropriate Governmental
Authorities all Tax Returns that it was required to file. All such Tax Returns were true,
correct and complete in all material respects. All Taxes and Tax Liabilities (whether or
not shown on any Tax Return) due and payable by the Company with respect to income,
assets or operations of the Company have been fully and timely paid. The Company has
not been granted nor is currently the beneficiary of any waiver or extension of time
applicable to any claim for, or the statute of limitations for, the payment, collection or
assessment of Taxes, or the statute of limitations within which to file any Tax Return. No
claim has ever been made (and no claim, audit or other examination is pending or
threatened) by any Governmental Authority in a jurisdiction where the Company does not
file Tax Returns, that it is, or may be, subject to taxation by that jurisdiction or that Taxes
may be assessed by such jurisdiction with respect to the Company’s assets or activities.
There are no Liens for Taxes (other than Liens on real estate and personal property Taxes
or assessments not yet due and payable and for which adequate reserves have been posted
on the Financial Statements) on any of the assets of the Company. The Company has
timely withheld and paid all Taxes required to have been withheld and paid in connection
with amounts paid or owing to any employee, independent contractor, creditor, member
or other third party. Section 2.11(a) of the Disclosure Schedule contains a correct and
complete list of all audits of Tax Returns of each of the Sellers and the Company since
December 31, 2010. There is not outstanding any notice received by the Company from
any Governmental Authority that it is subject to an audit, investigation, claim,
assessment, levy, administrative proceeding, lawsuit or other examination (and no such
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action is pending or, the Knowledge of the Company, threatened) that could reasonably
be expected to affect the Tax Liability of the Company. There is outstanding no dispute
or claim concerning any Tax of the Company. The Financial Statements reflect accurate
accruals for all Taxes owed by the Company (including Taxes not yet due and payable
for the Pre-Closing Tax Period) and there is no Tax Liability in excess of the amounts
accrued on the Financial Statements. The Company has delivered to Purchaser correct
and complete copies of all Tax Returns, examination reports, and statements of
deficiencies assessed against or agreed to by the Company since December 31,
2012. The Company is not a party to any Tax allocation, sharing, indemnity or similar
agreement, arrangement, understanding or practice. The Company has no Liability for
the Taxes of any other Person, under Treasury Regulation Section 1.1502-6 (or similar
provision of state, local or foreign law), as a transferee or successor, by Contract, or
otherwise.

(b) The Company is not, and has not been, a member of an affiliated group of
corporations within the meaning of Section 1504(a) of the Code (or any similar Legal
Requirement).

(©) The Company is not the subject of any private letter ruling of the Internal
Revenue Service or comparable rulings of other Governmental Authorities.

(d) The Company has not engaged in any “reportable transactions” as defined
in Treasury Regulation Section 1.6011-4(b). The Company has disclosed on its U.S.
federal income Tax Return all positions taken therein that could give rise to a substantial
understatement of income within the meaning of Section 6662 of the Code.

(e) The Company has been a partnership or disregarded entity within the
meaning of Treasury Regulation Section 301.7701-3(b) at all times since its organization
and no election has been filed to treat the Company as an association.

® None of the Sellers is a “foreign person” within the meaning of Section
1445 of the Code.

2.12 Environmental Matters. Except as set forth in Section 2.12 of the Disclosure
Schedule: (a) all Hazardous Materials and wastes of the Company have been disposed of in
accordance with all Environmental Laws; (b) the Company has not received any notice of any
noncompliance of the Real Property or any past or present operations of the Company with
Environmental Laws; (¢) no notices, administrative actions, or suits are pending or, to the
Knowledge of the Company, threatened, relating to an actual or alleged violation of any
applicable Environmental Laws by the Company; (d) to the Knowledge of the Company, the
Company is not a potentially responsible party under the federal Comprehensive Environmental
Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980, as amended, or any analogous state, local,
or foreign Legal Requirements; (e) to the Knowledge of the Company, there have not been in the
past, and are not now, any Hazardous Materials on, under, or migrating to or from any of the
Real Property; (f) to the Knowledge of the Company, there have not been in the past, and are not
now, any underground tanks or underground improvements at, on or under the Real Property,
including treatment or storage tanks, sumps, or water, gas or oil wells; (g) the Company is and at
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all times has been in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Environmental Laws,
which compliance includes the possession and material compliance with the terms and
conditions of all Permits required under Environmental Laws for the conduct of the Business and
occupation of the Real Property, and all such Permits are listed on Section 2.12 of the Disclosure
Schedule; and (h) the Company has provided to Purchaser all environmental reports, studies,
Permits, audits, site assessments, risk assessments, and other similar document with respect to
the Real Property, the Company, and the Business that are in its possession or control.

2.13 Intellectual Property.

(a) Section 2.13(a) of the Disclosure Schedule identifies (a) each item of
registered Intellectual Property owned by or used under license by the Company, and (b)
each item of material unregistered Intellectual Property owned by or used under license
by the Company, and identifies whether each such item of Intellectual Property is owned
or licensed by the Company. The registered Intellectual Property listed on Section 2.13(a)
of the Disclosure Schedule is valid, subsisting, in full force and effect, and has not been
cancelled, expired or abandoned; the Company has not abandoned or cancelled or
permitted to be abandoned, cancelled or lapsed, any such registered Intellectual Property;
and there have there no interference actions, re-examinations, cancellation proceedings,
or similar adversarial proceedings with respect to any such registered Intellectual
Property. All fees associated with maintaining any registered Intellectual Property listed
on Section 2.13(a) of the Disclosure Schedule and that are due and payable have been
paid in full in a timely manner to the proper Governmental Authority, and all actions
required to maintain any registered Intellectual Property listed on Section 2.13(a) of the
Disclosure Schedule have been taken, and no such fees are due, and no such actions are
required, within the three (3) month period after the Closing Date. None of the
Intellectual Property owned or licensed by the Company is subject to any Liens (other
than Permitted Liens) or any restrictions or limitations regarding use or disclosure, other
than pursuant to a written Contract applicable thereto and identified on Schedule
2.18(a)(xix) of the Disclosure Schedule.

(b) The Company owns all rights in or otherwise possesses adequate licenses
or other rights to use all Intellectual Property necessary in connection with the conduct of
the Business as currently conducted, including but not limited to the Intellectual Property
described on Section 2.13(a) of the Disclosure Schedule, and the Intellectual Property
owned by the Company constitutes all Intellectual property that is necessary in
connection with the conduct of the Business as currently conducted. The Company is not
subject to any obligation, including any license or royalty obligation, relating to the
current and former conduct of the Business. The Business, as currently and formerly
conducted, has not infringed, misappropriated, diluted or otherwise violated, and does not
infringe, dilute, misappropriate or otherwise violate, the Intellectual Property or other
rights of any Person. To the Knowledge of the Company, no Person has infringed or is
infringing any of the Company’s Intellectual Property. Neither the Sellers nor any of
their respective Affiliates nor any other Person other than the Company owns or has any
interest in any of the Intellectual Property that is necessary in connection with the
conduct of the Business as currently conducted.

13

TRADEMARK
REEL: 006697 FRAME: 0444



() All employees and independent contractors (including consultants) that
have participated in the development or creation of any material Intellectual Property
have executed appropriate assignment agreements, pursuant to which each such
employee or independent contractor has assigned to the Company all of its rights, in and
to all such material Intellectual Property that relates to the Business, and that was
conceived, created, authored or developed, in whole or in part, by such employee or
independent contractor. No past or present employee or independent contractor of the
Company has any ownership interest, license, permission or other right in or to any such
Intellectual Property. None of the Intellectual Property owned or licensed by the
Company has been used, divulged or appropriated for the benefit of any current or former
employee of the Company or any other Person, or to the detriment of the Company or the
Business, and the Company has taken commercially reasonable precautions to protect the
secrecy and value of its trade secrets relating to the Business. With respect to each trade
secret or other know-how of the Business, the Company possesses documentation
relating to such trade secret that is current and accurate in all material respects and is
reasonably sufficient in detail and content to allow its use without reliance on the
knowledge or memory of any individual. To the Knowledge of the Company, no current
employee or independent contractor of the Company has entered into or is a party to or is
otherwise bound by any Contract that restricts or limits in any way the scope or type of
work in which such employee or independent contractor may be engaged for the Business
or requires such employee or independent contractor to transfer, assign or disclose
information concerning his or her work performed for the Business to anyone other than
the Company.

(d) The Company has adopted and maintains commercially reasonable
safeguards (i) to protect the operation, confidentiality, integrity and security of the
computer systems and other information technology systems (“Company IT Systems”)
owned or operated by the Company and the information and transactions stored therein or
transmitted thereby and (ii) to prevent unauthorized or improper use, access, transmittal,
modification or corruption of such information, and to the Knowledge of the Company,
there has been no unauthorized access or use of any such information. The Company has
not experienced any material disruption to, or material interruption in, the Company IT
Systems, or the services provided by the Company through the use of the Company IT
Systems in the prior three years. The Company has implemented and maintains
commercially reasonable disaster recovery plans, which include regular back up and
recovery of the data and information necessary to the conduct of the business of the
Company and its Subsidiaries. To the Knowledge of the Company, the Company has not
suffered a security breach with respect to the Company IT Systems or the information
stored therein in the prior three years that has resulted in a loss of data, a breach of a
Contract, or an obligation to provide notification of the breach to a third party.

2.14 Real Property.

(a) The Company leases the real property identified in Section 2.14 of the
Disclosure Schedule (such leased real property, the “Real Property”), and has delivered to
Purchaser a correct and complete copy of each lease for the Real Property. The Real
Property constitutes all of the real property necessary to conduct the Business as
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conducted as of the date of this Agreement. The Company does not own and has not in
the past owned any real property interest. The Company has not at any time (a) had
vested in it (whether as an original tenant or undertenant or as an assignee, transferee or
otherwise) any freehold or leasehold property or (b) given any easement or entered into
any deed or other document (whether as a tenant or undertenant or as an assignee,
transferee, guarantor or otherwise) in respect of any freehold or leasehold property in
respect of which any contingent or potential liability remains with the Company.

(b) There are no pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened
condemnation or other proceedings relating to the Real Property or other matters
adversely affecting the use or occupancy of the Real Property, and the Company has
received no notice of the same. The Company has received all requisite approvals of
Governmental Authorities (including Permits) required in connection with the operation
of the Real Property and the Company has not received notice that the Real Property has
not been operated and maintained in accordance with applicable Legal Requirements.
With respect to the Real Property: (i) the Company’s possession and quiet enjoyment of
the Real Property under any lease relating thereto is not being disturbed by any landlord,
and there are no disputes with respect to any lease relating thereto between landlord and
tenant; (i1) no security deposit or portion thereof deposited with respect to any lease
relating thereto has been applied in respect of a breach or default under such lease; (iii)
the other party to any lease relating thereto is not an Affiliate of, and otherwise does not
have any economic interest in, the Company; (iv) the Company has not subleased,
licensed, or otherwise granted any Person the right to use or occupy such Real Property
or any portion thereof; (v) the Company has not collaterally assigned or granted any other
security interest in any lease relating thereto or any interest therein; (vi) there are no
abatements of rent, bonuses, or other inducements provided to the Company with respect
to any lease relating thereto; and (vii) the Company does not owe any brokerage
commissions or finder’s fees with respect to any lease relating thereto.

(©) The Real Property has unlimited access to public roads and streets without
restriction which access is adequate to service the Real Property as currently used. The
Real Property is supplied with utilities and other services necessary for the operation of
the Business as currently conducted on such Real Property, including gas, electricity,
water, telephone, sanitary sewer, and storm sewer which are installed to the property line
of such Real Property and are connected pursuant to valid Permits, if necessary, to
municipal or public utility services. The classification of the Real Property under
applicable zoning laws permits the use and occupancy of such parcel and the operation of
the Business as currently conducted thereon. All buildings, structures, improvements,
fixtures, building systems, and equipment, and all components thereof that are included
in the Real Property are structurally sound and in good operating conditions (reasonable
wear and tear excepted).

2.15 Litigation. There is no legal action pending, or to the Knowledge of the
Company, threatened against the Company, or against any of its assets or properties, including
any Intellectual Property, or against any of its officers or managers in their capacities as such.
There is no order against the Company, or any of its assets or properties, including any
Intellectual Property, or any of its officers or managers in their capacities as such, and to the
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Knowledge of the Company there is no Basis therefor. There is no legal action pending, or to the
Knowledge of the Company threatened, against any Person who has a contractual right or other
right pursuant to any of the Company’s Organizational Documents or applicable Legal
Requirements to indemnification from the Company, nor to the Knowledge of the Company is
there any Basis that would give rise to any such action. There is no legal action by the Company
pending or threatened or contemplated against any other Person. Section 2.15 of the Disclosure
Schedule sets forth all legal actions to which the Company is a named party or has been a named
party since December 31, 2012, and to the Knowledge of the Company there is no Basis for
further Liability on the part of the Company with respect to any such legal action.

2.16 Employee Benefits.

(a) Section 2.16(a) of the Disclosure Schedule lists each Benefit Plan of the
Company (collectively, the “Company Benefit Plans”). Each Company Benefit Plan has
been and is drafted, maintained, funded, operated, and administered in material
compliance with its terms, the applicable provisions of ERISA, COBRA, the Code, and
all other applicable Legal Requirements, and no event has occurred and no condition
exists that has subjected, or would reasonably be expected to subject, the Company to any
material tax, fine, lien, penalty or other liability imposed by ERISA, the Code or any
other applicable Legal Requirements. There are no underfunding liabilities with respect
to any of the Company Benefit Plans. No Company Benefit Plan is under audit or review
by any Government Authority and, to the Knowledge of the Company, no such audit or
review has been threatened. No charge, complaint, or proceeding with respect to any
Company Benefit Plan is pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, has been
threatened against any such Benefit Plan. The Company is not in default under or
violation of, and to the Knowledge of the Company, there has not been any default or
violation by any other party to, any of the Company Benefit Plans. There has been no
“prohibited transaction,” as such term is defined in Section 4975 of the Code or Section
406 of ERISA, which could subject any Company Benefit Plan or associated trust or the
Company to any material Tax or penalty. The Company does not have any Liability
under ERISA or the Code as a result of its being a member of a group described in
Sections 414(b), (c), (m) or (o) of the Code.

(b) With respect to each Company Benefit Plan, the Company has delivered to
Purchaser accurate, current, and complete copies of each of the following: (i) where the
Company Benefit Plan has been reduced to writing, the plan document together with all
amendments; (i1) where the Company Benefit Plan has not been reduced to writing, a
written summary of all plan terms; (iii) where applicable, copies of any trust Contracts,
custodial Contracts, insurance policies, administration Contracts, and similar Contracts,
and investment management or investment advisory Contracts; (iv) copies of any
summary plan descriptions, employee handbooks, or similar employee communications
relating to any Company Benefit Plan; (v) in the case of any Company Benefit Plan that
is intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code, a copy of the most recent
determination or opinion letter from the Internal Revenue Service; (vi) in the case of any
Company Benefit Plan for which Forms 5500 are required to be filed, a copy of the filed
Form 5500, with schedules attached, for the last three Company Benefit Plan years; (vii)
nondiscrimination testing reports for the last three Company Benefit Plan years, and (viii)
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copies of notices, letters, or other correspondence from the Internal Revenue Service,
Department of Labor, Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation, or other Governmental
Authority relating to any of the Company Benefit Plans.

(©) The Company does not have any obligation to provide health benefits or
death benefits to any employee of the Company, or any dependent of such employee
following the termination of such employee’s employment, except as specifically
required by applicable Legal Requirements. Neither the execution or delivery of this
Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby (either alone or
together with any other event) will not, directly or indirectly, (i) entitle any Person
currently or formerly providing services to the Company to severance pay or any other
payment or form of compensation or benefit upon termination of services, (ii) accelerate
the time of payment or vesting or increase the amount of compensation due from the
Company to any such current or former service provider, or (iii) give rise to the payment
of any amount that would not be deductible or for which an excise Tax would be imposed
pursuant to the terms of Section 280G of the Code. With respect to each Company
Benefit Plan that is a “nonqualified deferred compensation plan” within the meaning of
Section 409A(d)(1) of the Code and is subject to Section 409A of the Code, (i) the
written terms of such Company Benefit Plan have at all times been in compliance with,
and (i1) such Company Benefit Plan has, at all times while subject to Section 409A of the
Code, been operated in compliance with Section 409A of the Code. The Company does
not have any obligation under or with respect to any Company Benefit Plan that could
reasonably be expected to be subject to an excise Tax under Section 409A of the Code.
The Company does not have any obligation to gross-up, reimburse or indemnify any
individual with respect to any Taxes, including those imposed pursuant to Sections 409A
or 4999 of the Code.

(d) With respect to the Company Benefit Plans, all required payments by or
contributions of the Company have been made when due.

(e) None of the Company Benefit Plans are subject to Title IV of ERISA or
provide for medical or life insurance benefits to retired or former employees of the
Company (other than as required under Code Section 4980B, or similar state Legal
Requirement and at the sole expense of such individual). The Company is not a
participating or contributing employer in any “multiemployer plan” (as defined in Section
3(37) of ERISA) with respect to employees of the Company, nor has the Company
incurred any withdrawal Liability with respect to any multiemployer plan or any Liability
in connection with the termination or reorganization of any multiemployer plan. Except
as disclosed on Schedule 2.16(e), no Company Benefit Plan is (1) a “multiple employer
welfare arrangement (as defined in Section 3(40) of ERISA), (i) a “multiple employer
plan” (as defined in Section 413(c) of the Code), or (iii) a “welfare benefit trust” or
“voluntary employees beneficiary association” within the meaning of Sections 419, 419A
or 501(a)(9) of the Code.

® No condition exists that would prevent the Company from amending or
terminating any Company Benefit Plan without liability to the Company (other than for
benefits accrued at the time of termination). The Company has expressly reserved the
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right to amend, modify or terminate any Company Benefit Plan, or any portion of it, and
has made no representations (whether orally or in writing) which would conflict with or
contradict such reservation or right. Purchaser shall not have any liability with respect to
any Benefit Plan.

2.17 Insurance. Section 2.17 of the Disclosure Schedule contains a list of each
insurance policy, bond, or other form of insurance maintained by the Company (the “Insurance
Policies”). The Company has promptly notified its insurance carriers of any and all pending
claims with respect to its assets or the Business for which it is or may be insured. Section 2.17 of
the Disclosure Schedule also contains a list and description of all claims made by the Company
against the Insurance Policies since December 31, 2012, and, with respect to the claims listed on
Section 2.17 of the Disclosure Schedule, the Company has not been informed that coverage has
been questioned, denied, or disputed by the underwriters of such policies with respect to any
such claims. All Insurance Policies are in full force and effect, and the Company is not, and to
the Knowledge of the Company no other party is, in default with respect to its obligations under
any of the Insurance Policies. No notice of cancellation or termination has been received by the
Company with respect to any Insurance Policy, and no event has occurred that (with or without
the passage of time or giving of notice) would reasonably be expected to constitute a material
breach or material violation of or a material default under, conflict with or give rise to or create
any right or obligation of any Person to accelerate, increase, terminate, renegotiate, modify or
cancel any material right or material Liability under, any such Insurance Policy, including that all
premiums due with respect to such Insurance Policy have been paid. The Insurance Policies are
sufficient for compliance with all Applicable Laws and all Contracts to which the Company is a

party.

2.18 Contracts.

(a) Section 2.18 of the Disclosure Schedule contains a list of the following
Contracts (the “Material Contracts™) to which the Company is a party, or by which the
Company’s assets or properties are bound:

(1) Contracts for the acquisition or sale of any securities or any
substantial portion of the assets or business of or to any other Person whether
completed or pending;

(1))  Contracts that involve the performance of services or delivery of
goods or materials by the Company that is reasonably expected to result in
revenue to the Company after the date of this Agreement in excess of $50,000
over the remaining life of such Contract;

(ii1))  Contracts that involve the performance of services for, or delivery
of goods or materials to, the Company that are reasonably expected to result in
expenditures by the Company after the date of this Agreement in excess of
$50,000 over the remaining life of such Contract;

(iv)  Contracts with a Governmental Authority;
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(v) Contracts relating to or for the employment, or engagement as an
independent contractor, of any Person on a full-time, part-time, consulting or
other basis, including without limitation any plan, program, policy, or handbook
relating to severance, bonuses, employment policies, or other employment-related
matters;

(vi)  pension, profit sharing, stock option, employee stock purchase, or
other plans or arrangements providing for deferred or other compensation to
employees, or any other Company Benefit Plans, arrangements or practices,
whether formal or informal, or any Contracts calling for severance pay or
benefits, retention bonus payments or benefits, or change of control payments or
benefits;

(vil) indenture, mortgage, note, loan agreement, equipment financing
agreement, installment obligation, or other similar Contracts relating to
Indebtedness;

(vii) Contracts that, by their terms, contain exclusivity or non-
competition restrictions that materially restrict the ability of the Company to
compete in any geographical area or business, or to compete with any Person, or
that have or could have the effect of prohibiting or impairing the Business, or
prohibiting or limiting any acquisition of property (tangible or intangible), in each
case, with respect to the Business as being conducted and as proposed to be
conducted, including any Contract that limits the Company’s ability to make use
of any Intellectual Property;

(ix)  Contracts to provide a guaranty, indemnification, reimbursement,
contribution, assumption, or endorsement of, or any substantially similar
commitment with respect to, the Liabilities or Indebtedness of any other Person
except Contracts containing standard indemnification provisions entered into in
the Ordinary Course of Business;

(x) distribution, third party reseller, dealer, agency, franchise,
advertising, revenue sharing, alliance, joint venture, marketing, or similar
Contracts to which the Company is a party;

(xi)  Contracts under which the Company is (A) a lessee of or holds or
operates any real property or any tangible or intangible personal property
(including but not limited to machinery, equipment, motor vehicles, trailers, office
furniture, IT equipment, or fixtures) owned by any other Person in which the
aggregate annual rental payments exceed $25,000, or (B) a lessor of, or permits
any other Person to hold or operate, any intangible or tangible property (real or
personal) owned by the Company;

(xi1)  Contracts that obligate the Company to provide best pricing to any
third party, exclusively purchase goods or services from any third party, or
otherwise include minimum purchase requirements from any third party;
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(xiii)) Contracts that grant exclusive sales, distribution, marketing or
other exclusive rights, rights of refusal, rights of first negotiation or equivalent
rights and/or terms to any Person;

(xiv) Contracts that limit the right of the Company to sell, distribute, or
manufacture any products or services, to purchase or otherwise obtain any
software, products, or services, or to hire or solicit potential employees,
consultants, or independent contractors other than non-solicitation of employee
terms in any out-bound customer license agreements;

(xv) Contracts for capital expenditures with remaining obligations in
excess of $50,000;

(xvi) Contracts containing confidentiality, secrecy, or non-disclosure
clauses that were entered into outside the Ordinary Course of Business;

(xvil) any investment banking, placement, broker or substantially similar
Contract;

(xviii) any Contract that contemplates the payment of royalties,
commissions or other payments based on provision of services or sales of
products, whether related to licensing or development of Intellectual Property or
otherwise;

(xix) any Contract providing for the license of any Intellectual Property
by the Company, or granting any rights by the Company to any third party
relating to any Intellectual Property, or the development or creation of any
Intellectual Property for or on behalf of the Company;

(xx) any Contract of the Company that, by its terms, contains any fee,
payment, expense reimbursement, liquidated damages, early termination
payments, minimum purchase or payment requirements, accelerated payments or
other similar amounts, however described or characterized, that are or may
become payable to any third party in connection with or as a result of (i) the
consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, or (ii) the
election to terminate prior to expiration or not to renew such Contract in
accordance with its terms; and

(xxi) Contracts that individually, or collectively with related Contracts,
represent a material portion of the revenue of the Business or are otherwise
material to the Business.

(b) The Company has provided to Purchaser an accurate, correct, and
complete copy of each written Material Contract and a written description of the material
terms of each oral Material Contract. Except as set forth in Section 2.18(b) of the
Disclosure Schedule, no consent, permission, waiver, or approval is required to be
obtained from, and no penalty, assessment, or special payment is required to be paid to,
and no notice is required to be sent to, any third party or Governmental Authority in order
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to preserve for the Company the benefits of the Contracts to which the Company is a
party after the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. The
Company has performed all obligations required to be performed by it to date under the
Material Contracts, and, to the Knowledge of the Company, there are no defaults by any
other party thereto, and no event has occurred (or failed to occur) that, with the passing of
time or the giving of notice or both would reasonably be expected to constitute a default
by the Company under any such Material Contract, including the consummation of the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement (and, for the avoidance of doubt, the Sellers
acknowledge that any consent requirement or right to terminate or modify such Material
Contract as a result of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement would be
material). Each Material Contract is a valid and binding obligation of the Company,
enforceable against such Party in accordance with its terms except as such enforceability
may be limited by (i) applicable insolvency, bankruptcy, reorganization, moratorium, or
other similar Legal Requirements affecting creditors’ rights generally, and (ii) applicable
equitable principles (whether considered in a proceeding at law or in equity).

(©) Except as set forth on Section 2.18(a)(xx) above, neither the Company nor
any Seller is a party to any Contract that provides for any fee, payment, expense
reimbursement, liquidated damages, early termination payments, minimum purchase or
payment requirements, accelerated payments or other similar amounts, however
described or characterized, that are or may become payable to any third party in
connection with or as a result of (i) the consummation of the transactions contemplated
by this Agreement, or (ii) the Company’s election to terminate prior to expiration or not
to renew such Contract in accordance with its terms.

(d)  Each Material Contract that is not in writing is terminable by the Company
at will with no additional payment. Each purchase order relating to the purchase or sale
by the Company of any products and pursuant to which there are any executory
obligations is governed by the Company’s standard terms and conditions, complete and
correct copies of which has been made available to Purchaser.

2.19 Employment Matters.

(a) The Company is not a party to and is not bound by any collective
bargaining agreement with any labor organization or works council. The Company has
not experienced any strike, lockout, or grievance, claim of unfair labor practices or other
collective bargaining dispute, and, none are pending, or, to the Company’s Knowledge,
threatened. There are no material disputes pending, or, to the Company’s Knowledge,
threatened between the Company and its employees. To the Company’s Knowledge,
there are no current union representation questions or union organizing activities
involving employees of the Company, nor are any employees of the Company
represented by any labor organization or works council.

(b) The Company is and has been in compliance in all material respects with
all applicable Legal Requirements and regulations with respect to employment, employee
relations, employee leaves, discrimination in employment, terms and conditions of
employment, termination of employment, civil and human rights, equal pay, holiday pay,
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wages, hours, overtime pay, occupational safety and health, workers’ compensation,
employee whistle-blowing, immigration (including, without limitation, Form I-9
compliance), employee Privacy Laws, withholding and payment of employment-related
Taxes, employment practice, and classification of employees and independent
contractors, and the Company does not have any outstanding current or contingent
Liability as a result of any non-compliance with any of the foregoing Legal Requirements
or regulations.

(©) To the Knowledge of the Company, no employee or independent
contractor of the Company is subject to any restrictive covenant or any other obligation
for the benefit of any third party that adversely affects the ability of such employee or
independent contractor to perform his or her duties with the Company.

(d) Except as set forth on Section 2.19 of the Disclosure Schedule, no
employees of the Company: (i) are out on a leave of absence (whether related to
disability, under the FMLA, or otherwise under any applicable Legal Requirements); (ii)
are on maternity leave for a period that is expected to exceed three (3) months; or (iii)
have, at any time during the period of two (2) years prior to the date of this Agreement,
been on long-term sick leave or any other continuous absence from work (other than
maternity leave) for a period that exceeded or is expected to exceed three (3) months.

220 Employees. Section 2.20 of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth a correct and
complete list of all employees, consultants, or contractors of the Company, and sets forth for
each such individual the following: (a) name; (b) title or position (including whether full or part-
time); (¢) whether an employee, consultant, or contractor; (d) city and state of employment; (e)
hire date; (f) current annual base compensation rate (annualized salary if paid a salary, hourly
rate if paid hourly); (g) commission, bonus, or other incentive-based compensation; (h)
exempt/non-exempt classification under wage and hour laws; and (i) the current rate of such
compensation paid or anticipated to be payable to each such individual through December 31,
2018. Except as set forth in Section 2.20 of the Disclosure Schedule, there have been no changes
in such compensation since December 31, 2017, other than in the Ordinary Course of Business,
in each case including bonuses and other compensation and fringe benefits. Since December 31,
2017, the Company has not made any pension, bonus, or other payment, other than base salary or
fees, or become obligated to make any such payment, to any employee, consultant, or contractor
other than in the Ordinary Course of Business. Section 2.20 of the Disclosure Schedule lists any
employee handbook and/or personnel manuals that in any way affect such employees, correct
and complete copies of which have been given to Purchaser. The Company has no outstanding
loans or advances to employees, consultants, or contractors. Any individual performing services
for the Company who has been classified by the Company as an independent contractor has been
correctly so classified and is in fact not an employee of the Company under common law or civil
law. All employees of the Company who have been classified by the Company as exempt under
applicable wage and hour Legal Requirements have been correctly so classified. To the
Knowledge of the Company, no employee, group of employees, or independent contractor has
any plans to terminate employment or the contract relationship, as applicable, with the Company.
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2.21 Affiliate Transactions. Except as set forth in Section 2.21 of the Disclosure
Schedule, the Company is not a party to any Related Party Transaction or has been a party to any
Related Party Transaction since December 31, 2012.

2.22 Brokerage. Except as set forth in Section 2.22 of the Disclosure Schedule, none
of the Sellers or the Company has retained any broker in connection with the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement. Neither Purchaser nor any Affiliate of Purchaser will have any
obligation to pay any broker’s, finder’s, investment banker’s, financial advisor’s, or similar fees
in connection with this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement by reason
of any action taken by the Sellers or the Company.

2.23  Suppliers and Customers. Section 2.23 of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth a list
of the top 10 customers of the Business and the top 10 suppliers of the Business by dollar volume
of sales and purchases with respect to the Business for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2017
and December 31, 2016. Except as set forth on Section 2.23 of the Disclosure Schedule, since
December 31, 2016, the Company has not received any written notice from any customer or
supplier listed on Section 2.23 of the Disclosure Schedule to the effect that any such customer or
supplier will stop, materially decrease the rate of, or materially change the pricing terms with
respect to, purchasing or selling products or services from or to the Company; provided,
however, that fluctuations in order volumes and negotiated concessions on pricing that have
occurred in the Ordinary Course of Business and that, individually, do not involve a material and
negative impact to the Company that exceed, or would reasonably be expected to exceed,
$200,000 will not constitute a breach of the foregoing representation. The Company has not
received written notice, and the Company has no Knowledge, that any such customer has plans
or has threatened to stop or to decrease the rate of business done with the Company by an
amount that exceeds, or that would reasonably be expected to exceed, $200,000. The Company
has not received written notice, and the Company has no Knowledge, that any such supplier has
plans or has threatened to stop or to decrease the rate of business done with the Company by an
amount that exceeds, or that would reasonably be expected to exceed, $200,000.

2.24 Financial Accounts and Authority. Section 2.24 of the Disclosure Schedule
hereto contains a true and complete list of all banks, trust companies, and financial institutions in
which the Company maintains accounts or safe deposit vaults, each account number, and the
names of all Persons authorized to draw thereon. There are no outstanding powers of attorney
executed on behalf of the Company with respect to such accounts or safe deposit vaults.

2.25 Warranties and Certifications; Product Liability. Except for warranties made to
customers in the Ordinary Course of Business, the terms of which are completely and accurately
described in Section 2.25 of the Disclosure Schedule, the Company makes no express or implied
warranty or guaranty as to services rendered or goods provided by the Business. Each product
manufactured and sold by the Company has been in conformity in all material respects with all
applicable certifications and all applicable contractual commitments of the Company, and the
Company has not recalled any products. There is no pending or, to the Knowledge of the
Company, threatened claim alleging any non-compliance with any applicable certification or any
breach of any applicable warranty, and, to the Knowledge of the Company, no Basis for any such
claim exists. The Company has not been required to pay any damages to any Person in
connection with the provision of any services or the sale of any products at any time since
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December 31, 2012. The Company has no Liability for products and services sold by the
Company that exceeds or could reasonably be expected to exceed any applicable product
warranty reserve set forth in the Financial Statements. The Company has no Liability arising out
of any injury to any Person or property as a result of the ownership, possession, or use of any
product or service sold by the Company prior to the Closing Date.

226 No Material Misstatements or Omissions. No representation or warranty made by
the Sellers in this Agreement (including the Disclosure Schedules) or in any Additional
Agreement delivered or to be delivered to Purchaser pursuant hereto or in connection with the
transactions contemplated hereby contains any untrue statement of a material fact or omits to
state a material fact required to be stated herein or therein or necessary to make such
representation and warranty, in light of the circumstances in which it was made, not misleading.

ARTICLE 1II
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES REGARDING THE SELLERS

In order to induce Purchaser to enter into this Agreement, each Seller hereby severally
and not jointly represents and warrants the following to Purchaser that, except as set forth in the
corresponding sections of the Disclosure Schedule:

3.1 Organization and Qualification; Limited Activities. If an entity, such Seller is
duly incorporated or organized and validly existing under the Legal Requirements of the state of
its incorporation or organization, and is duly authorized to conduct business and is in good
standing under the Legal Requirements of its incorporation or organization, and is not required to
be qualified as a foreign corporation under the Legal Requirements of any other jurisdiction,
except where the failure to be so qualified would not reasonably be expected to have,
individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect. If an entity, such Seller has delivered
to Purchaser complete and correct copies of its Organizational Documents now in effect, and
such Seller is not in default under or in violation of any provision of such Organizational
Documents. Such Seller has all the requisite power, authority, and capacity to own, lease, and
operate its assets.

3.2  Authority, Power and Enforceability. Such Seller has all requisite entity power
and authority to enter into and consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and
any additional agreement contemplated hereby or delivered pursuant hereto to which it is a party.
Such Seller’s execution, delivery, and performance of this Agreement and any additional
agreement contemplated hereby or delivered pursuant hereto, and the consummation by such
Seller and the Company of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby have been duly
authorized by all necessary corporate action (if any) of such Seller. This Agreement and any
other agreement contemplated hereby or delivered pursuant hereto to which such Seller is a
party, when executed and delivered, will constitute valid and binding obligations of such Seller,
enforceable against such Seller in accordance with their terms except as such enforceability may
be limited by (i) applicable insolvency, bankruptcy, reorganization, moratorium, or other similar
Legal Requirements affecting creditors’ rights generally, and (i1) applicable equitable principles
(whether considered in a proceeding at law or in equity).
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3.3  No Conflict; Required Filings and Consents. Neither the execution and delivery
of this Agreement, nor the performance of the provisions hereof to be performed by such Seller,
nor the transactions contemplated hereby, will: (a) violate any Legal Requirement to which such
Seller is subject; (b) conflict with, result in a breach of, constitute a default under, result in the
acceleration of, create in any party the right to accelerate, terminate, modify, or cancel, or result
in any waiver or diminution of rights or claims held by such Seller under any agreement, lease,
license, instrument, or other arrangement to which such Seller is a party or by which such Seller
is bound or to which the assets of such Seller are subject; or (¢) result in the creation of any Lien
on any assets of such Seller. No consent, approval, order, or authorization of or from, or
registration, notification, declaration, or filing with, any Person, including without limitation, any
Governmental Authority, is required in connection with the execution, delivery, or performance
of this Agreement or any other agreement contemplated hereby or delivered pursuant hereto by
such Seller or the consummation by such Seller of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement.

3.4  Title to Equity. Such Seller has good and valid title to and beneficial ownership
in the Units of the Company owned by such Seller, free and clear of all Liens. Other than the
Units set forth on Section 3.4 of the Disclosure Schedule, such Seller owns no equity interests of
the Company, or any option, warrant, right, call, commitment or right of any kind to have any
such equity interest issued. Neither such Seller nor the Units owned by such Seller are a party to
or subject to any option, call, or other agreement relating to the disposition of or governance
rights associated with such Units.

3.5 Legal Proceedings. There are no suits, actions, claims, proceedings or
investigations pending or, to the Knowledge of such Seller, threatened against, relating to or
involving such Seller that could reasonably be expected to adversely affect the Company’s or
any Seller’s ability to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any other
agreement contemplated hereby or delivered pursuant hereto or which otherwise relate to the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

3.6  Amounts Owed to Sellers. Such Seller does not owe and is not obligated to pay
the Company, and the Company does not owe and is not obligated to pay such Seller, any
amount in such Person’s capacity as a direct or indirect owner of equity interests of the Company
or in any other capacity other than, if applicable, regularly scheduled compensation of the
Company as an employee in the Ordinary Course of Business. Such Seller (whether in his or its
capacity as a direct or indirect owner of equity interests of the Company or in any other capacity,
including as an officer and director of the Company) has no claim of any kind against the
Company.

3.7  Brokerage. Except as set forth in Section 3.7 of the Disclosure Schedule, such
Seller has not retained any broker in connection with the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement. Neither Purchaser nor any Affiliate of Purchaser will have any obligation to pay any
broker’s, finder’s, investment banker’s, financial advisor’s, or similar fee in connection with this
Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement by reason of any action taken by
such Seller.
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3.8 Status as “Foreign Person”. Such Seller is not a “foreign person” within the
meaning of Section 1445 of the Code.

ARTICLE IV
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PURCHASER

In order to induce Sellers to enter into this Agreement, Purchaser represents and warrants
to Sellers as follows:

4.1 Organization and Qualification. Purchaser is a limited liability company duly
organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of Ohio with full
company power and authority to own, lease, use and operate its properties and to conduct its
business as and where now owned, leased, used, operated and conducted.

42  Authority, Power and Enforceability. Purchaser has all requisite company power
and authority to enter into this Agreement and any other agreement contemplated hereby or
delivered pursuant hereto, and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby. The
execution and delivery of this Agreement and the Additional Documents and the consummation
of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly authorized by all necessary company
action on the part of Purchaser. This Agreement and any other agreement contemplated hereby
or delivered pursuant hereto to which Purchaser is a party, when executed and delivered by
Purchaser, will constitute the legal, valid and binding obligations of Purchaser in accordance
with their respective terms except to the extent that (a) their enforceability may be limited by
applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other laws affecting the enforcement of
creditor’s rights generally and (b) the availability of equitable remedies, including specific
performance, is subject to the discretion of the court before which any such proceeding may be
brought.

43  Required Filings and Consents. The execution, delivery, and performance of this
Agreement and any other agreement contemplated hereby or delivered pursuant hereto to which
Purchaser is a party will not: (a) violate any Legal Requirement to which Purchaser is subject or
Purchaser’s Organizational Documents; or (b) conflict with, result in a breach of, constitute a
default under, result in the acceleration of, create in any party the right to accelerate, terminate,
modify, or cancel, or result in any waiver or diminution of rights or claims held by such entity
under any material agreement, lease, license, instrument, or other material arrangement to which
such entity is a party or by which such entity is bound or to which the assets of such entity are
subject. No consent, approval, order, or authorization of or from, or registration, notification,
declaration, or filing with, any Person, including without limitation, any Governmental
Authority, is required in connection with the execution, delivery, or performance of this
Agreement or any other agreement contemplated hereby or delivered pursuant hereto by
Purchaser or the consummation by Purchaser of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement.

44  No Brokers. Neither any Seller nor any Affiliate of any Seller will have any
obligation to pay any broker’s, finder’s, investment banker’s, financial advisor’s, or similar fee
in connection with this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement by reason
of any action taken by Purchaser.
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45 Securities Representations. Purchaser is acquiring the Units solely for its own
account for investment purposes and not with a view to, or for offer or sale in connection with,
any distribution thereof. Purchaser acknowledges that the Units are not registered under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or any state securities laws, and that the Units may not be
transferred or sold except pursuant to the registration provisions of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended or pursuant to an applicable exemption therefrom and subject to state securities laws
and regulations, as applicable.

4.6 Sufficient Capital. Purchaser has or at the Closing will have sufficient cash on
hand or other sources of immediately available funds to enable it to make payment of the
Purchase Price and consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

47  Reliance on Representations. Purchaser acknowledges and agrees that in making
its decision to enter into this Agreement and to consummate the transactions contemplated
hereby, Purchaser has relied upon the express representations and warranties of Sellers set forth
in this Agreement (including the related portions of the Disclosure Schedules). The Purchaser
acknowledges that it has had the opportunity to conduct due diligence and investigation with
respect to this transaction. For clarification, nothing in this Section 4.7 shall be applied to limit
Buyer’s rights or remedies in the case of Seller’s Fraud or intentional misrepresentation.

ARTICLE V
POST-CLOSING COVENANTS

5.1 Certain Tax Matters.

(a) Tax Returns. Purchaser has exclusive authority to prepare, or cause to be
prepared, all Tax Returns of the Company required to be filed for any Post-Closing Tax
Period. Sellers will file all Tax Returns for Pre-Closing Tax Periods, other than Straddle
Periods.

(b) Straddle Period. With respect to Taxes and Tax Liabilities with respect to
income, property or operations of the Company that relate to a taxable period that
includes (but does not end on) the Closing Date (a “Straddle Period”) the Straddle Period,
the portion of such Taxes and Tax Liabilities that is allocable to the portion of the
Straddle Period in the Pre-Closing Tax Period will be: (i) in the case of real property
Taxes, personal property Taxes or similar ad valorem Taxes, deemed to be the amount of
such Taxes and Tax Liabilities for the entire Straddle Period multiplied by a fraction (A)
the numerator of which is the number of calendar days of such Straddle Period in the Pre-
Closing Tax Period and (B) the denominator of which is the number of calendar days in
the entire Straddle Period and (ii) in the case of all other Taxes and Tax Liabilities,
determined as though the taxable year of the Company terminated at the close of business
on the Closing Date. Sellers, jointly and severally, will timely pay to the Purchaser, or
cause to be paid, all Taxes relating to the Pre-Closing Tax Period to the Purchaser on or
before 5 days prior to the due date for such Taxes.

(©) Cooperation; Audit. After the Closing Date, Purchaser and the Sellers
will, and will cause their respective Affiliates to, cooperate in the preparation of all Tax
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Returns of the Company and will provide, or cause to be provided, to the requesting Party
any records or other information requested by such Party in connection therewith. The
Sellers, on the one hand, and Purchaser, on the other hand, will give prompt written
notice to each other of any proposed adjustment to Taxes for periods ending on or before
the Closing Date (or beginning on or before the Closing Date and ending after the
Closing Date) (a “Tax Controversy”). Promptly upon receipt by either Party of any
notification or indication (whether written or oral) from any taxing authority that it
intends to investigate or audit any pre-Closing Tax Return, the Party receiving such
information will notify the other Party and convey such information to the other Party in
writing. Each Party will cooperate with the other in connection with any Tax
investigation, Tax audit, other Tax proceeding or other Tax Controversy. A Party will be
reimbursed for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in taking any action requested
by the other Party or Parties under this Section 5.1(c). The Sellers Representative shall
have the right (but not the duty) to control, at the Sellers’ expense, any Tax Controversy
that relates solely to any Pre-Closing Tax Period; provided, however, that (i) the Sellers
Representative shall not enter into any settlement or otherwise compromise any such Tax
Controversy without the prior written consent of Purchaser, which consent shall not be
unreasonably conditioned, withheld or delayed, (i1) Purchaser shall have the right (but not
the duty) to participate in the defense of such Tax Controversy and to employ counsel, at
its own expense, separate from counsel employed by the Sellers Representative, and (iii)
the Sellers Representative shall keep Purchaser informed with respect to the
commencement, status and nature of any such Tax Controversy, and shall reasonably
cooperate with Purchaser and consult with it regarding the conduct of or positions taken
in any such Tax Controversy. If the Tax Controversy does not relate solely to any Pre-
Closing Tax Period or the Sellers Representative does not elect to control a Tax Contest
for a Pre-Closing Tax Period, Purchaser shall control such Tax Controversy; provided,
however, that (i) Purchaser shall not enter into any settlement or otherwise compromise
any such Tax Controversy without the prior written consent of the Sellers Representative
if Sellers would be obligated to pay or indemnify with respect to a Tax under this
Agreement, which consent shall not be unreasonably conditioned, withheld or delayed,
(i1) the Sellers Representative shall have the right (but not the duty) to participate in the
defense of such Tax Controversy and to employ counsel, at its own expense, separate
from counsel employed by Purchaser, and (iii) Purchaser shall keep the Sellers
Representative informed with respect to the commencement, status and nature of any
such Tax Controversy, and shall reasonably cooperate with the Sellers Representative and
consult with it regarding the conduct of or positions taken in any such Tax Controversy.

(d) Purchaser shall prepare and file, or cause to be prepared and filed all Tax
Returns of the Company required to be filed for any Straddle Period, and, subject to the
provisions of Section 5.1(b), shall pay all costs thereof and all Taxes shown
thereon. Each such Tax Return shall be submitted by Purchaser to the Sellers
Representative for the Sellers Representative’s review and comment at least forty-five
(45) days prior to the due date (with applicable extensions) for such Tax Return. The
Sellers Representative shall provide any written comments to Purchaser not later than
fifteen (15) days after receiving any such Tax Return and, if the Sellers Representative
does not provide any written comments with fifteen (15) days, the Sellers Representative
shall be deemed to have accepted such Tax Return. Purchaser and the Sellers
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Representative shall attempt in good faith to resolve any dispute with respect to such Tax
Return. If Purchaser and the Sellers Representative are unable to resolve any such
dispute at least fifteen (15) days before the date (with applicable extensions) for any such
Tax Return, the dispute shall be referred to the Independent Accounting Firm for
resolution and the fees shall be shared one-half by Purchaser and one-half by the
Sellers. If the Independent Accounting Firm is unable to resolve any such dispute prior
to the due date (with applicable extensions) for any such Tax Return, such Tax Return
shall be filed as prepared by Purchaser subject to amendment, if necessary, to reflect the
resolution of the dispute by the Independent Accounting Firm.

52  Confidentiality. From and after the Closing Date, each Seller and each Affiliate
of a Seller will hold in confidence all Confidential Information concerning the Company and the
Business and all information otherwise proprietary to the Company which remains in the
possession of any Seller or an Affiliate of any Seller after the Closing. Each Seller will not, and
will cause his or its Affiliates, representatives, consultants and advisors not to, release or disclose
any such information to any Person other than Purchaser, the Company, and their authorized
representatives and will not use any such information for any purpose other than for the benefit
of the Company. Notwithstanding anything contained in this Section 5.2, the confidentiality
obligations will not apply to information which (a) a Seller is compelled to disclose by judicial or
administrative process, or, in the opinion of counsel, by other mandatory requirements of law;
(b) which can be shown to have been generally available to the public other than as a result of a
breach of any confidentiality obligations; or (c) which can be shown to have been provided to a
Seller by a third party who properly obtained such information other than from such Seller or the
Company and without confidentiality restrictions. At the request and election of Purchaser, each
Sellers agree to, and agree to cause his or its Affiliates, representatives, consultants and advisors
to, destroy or return to Purchaser all tangible or intangible embodiments (including electronic
copies) of any Confidential Information concerning the Company and the Business or otherwise
proprietary to the Company which remains in the possession of such Seller or any such other
party after the Closing, except that Sellers will be entitled to retain one copy of any such
information if and to the extent such information is reasonably necessary in connection with
Sellers’ compliance with applicable Legal Requirements relating to Taxes (in which case, any
usage by Sellers of any copy of any Confidential Information so retained will be limited to the
purpose or purposes for which it was entitled to be retained).

53 Noncompetition, Nonsolicitation and Non-Hire.

(a) Noncompetition. For a period of five (5) years after the Closing Date,
each Seller will not, and will not permit any of his or its Affiliates to, directly or
indirectly, invest in, own, manage, operate, finance, control, advise, render services to or
guarantee the obligations of any Person engaged in or planning to become engaged in a
business that competes with the Business and is located within the contiguous United
States; provided, however, that the Sellers and their respective Affiliates may collectively
purchase or otherwise acquire up to (but not more than) one percent (1%) of any class of
the securities of any Person (but may not otherwise participate in the activities of such
Person) if such securities are listed on any national or regional securities exchange or
have been registered under Section 12(g) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
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(b)  Nonsolicitation and Nonhire. For a period of five (5) years after the
Closing Date, each Seller will not, and will cause his or its Affiliates not to, directly or
indirectly:

(1) solicit the business of any Person who is a customer or prospective
customer of the Company or its Affiliates;

(i1) cause, induce or attempt to cause or induce any customer, supplier,
licensee, licensor, franchisee, consultant or other business relation of the
Company or its Affiliates to cease doing business with such parties, to deal with
any competitor of the Company or its Affiliates, or in any way otherwise interfere
with its relationship with such parties; or

(i)  hire, retain or attempt to hire or retain any employee or
independent contractor of the Company and its Affiliates (current as of the
Closing Date, or former if such Person was an employee or independent
contractor in the twelve-month period prior to the Closing Date) or in any way
otherwise interfere with the relationship between the Company and its Affiliates
and any of their employees or independent contractors.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, none of the following activities shall constitute a violation of this
Section 5.3: (i) general solicitations for employment by means of advertisements, public notices,
or internal or external websites or job search engines; (ii) general solicitations for employment
by means of professional search firms not directed to target such employees or (iii) solicitation of
any employee whose employment has been terminated by the Company after the date hereof.

(©) Modification of Covenant. Each Seller acknowledges that the restrictions
contained in this Section 5.3 are reasonable and necessary to protect the legitimate
interests of Purchaser and constitute a material inducement to Purchaser to enter into this
Agreement and consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. If a final
judgment of a court or tribunal of competent jurisdiction determines that any term or
provision contained in this Section 5.3 is invalid or unenforceable, then the Parties agree
that the court or tribunal will have the power to reduce the scope, duration or geographic
area of the term or provision, to delete specific words or phrases or to replace any invalid
or unenforceable term or provision with a term or provision that is valid and enforceable
and that comes closest to expressing the intention of the invalid or unenforceable term or
provision. This Section 5.3 will be enforceable as so modified after the expiration of the
time within which the judgment may be appealed.

(d) Enforcement of Covenant. Each Seller agrees that the remedy of damages
at law for the breach of any of the covenants contained in this Section 5.3 is an
inadequate remedy and that such Seller will not challenge the enforceability or
reasonableness of the covenants set forth in this Section 5.3. In recognition of the
irreparable harm that a violation by a Seller of any of the covenants, agreements or
obligations arising under this Section 5.3 would cause Purchaser, each Seller agrees that
in addition to any other remedies or relief afforded by any Legal Requirements, Purchaser
may seek an injunction against an actual or threatened violation or violations without
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posting a bond or other security. In the event Purchaser prevails in an action to enforce
the covenants in this Section 5.3, Purchaser will be entitled to be reimbursed by the
Sellers, jointly and severally, for actual attorney’s fees incurred by Purchaser with respect
to such action. Each Seller acknowledges and expressly consents to the governing law
and exclusive jurisdiction provisions set forth in Section 9.12 with respect to this Section
5.3. In the event a Seller violates any provision of this Section 5.3, then, in such event,
the period of the violation will be added to the restricted period set forth above with
regard to such Seller.

(e) Exclusions. Subject to compliance with Section 5.2 and Section 5.3(b)
and any applicable restrictions imposed by any other agreement entered into in
connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, the covenants contained in Section
5.3(a) will not be construed or applied to restrict or to prohibit Anand’s continued service
as an officer, director, manager, consultant, or employee of the Company or its Affiliates
following the Closing. Further, subject to compliance with Section 5.2 and Section 5.3(b)
and any applicable restrictions imposed by any other agreement entered into in
connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, the restrictions against
competition in Section 5.3(a) will not be construed or applied to restrict or to prohibit any
Seller from owning an equity membership interest (either directly or through an Affiliate)
in Royce Associates, a New Jersey limited partnership (“Royce Associates”), or from
continuing to conduct or remain involved in the business operations of Royce Associates
(including as an officer, director, manager, consultant, or employee) in the same role, and
in substantially same manner as such business operations are conducted as of the date of
execution of this Agreement (which business operations consist of and are and will be
limited to the production, sale, and distribution of dyes for paper, plastics and textiles,
reductive chemicals, and certain other specialty chemicals); provided, that in connection
with such business operations, Sellers will continue to be bound by the terms and
restrictions of Section 5.3(b) (Non-Solicitation and Non-Hire) and Section 5.3(¢c)
(Confidentiality); and provided further, that in no event will the business of Royce
Associates include any epoxy curatives, hardeners, diluents, additives, or resins.

54  Release. Subject to and effective as of the Closing, in consideration of the mutual
covenants and agreements contained herein, including the consideration to be received by the
Sellers, each of the Sellers, on behalf of himself or itself and his or its Affiliates, agents,
attorneys, representatives, successors, assigns and heirs (collectively, the “Seller Releasing
Parties”), hereby irrevocably releases and forever discharges the Company and Purchaser and
each of their respective Affiliates, and their respective past and present equityholders, directors,
managers, officers, members, managers, agents, employees, and the successors, heirs, assigns,
executors and administrators of each of the foregoing (collectively, the “Released Persons”), of
and from any and all manner or causes of action and actions, claims, suits, rights, debts, sums of
money, covenants, contracts, damages and judgments whatsoever, in law or in equity, which any
Seller Releasing Party ever had, now has or which any Seller Releasing Party hereafter will or
may have, against the Released Persons, whether known or unknown, suspected or unsuspected,
matured or unmatured, fixed or contingent, for, upon or by reason of any matter, and arising at
any time on or prior to the Closing Date, whether in a Seller Releasing Party’s capacity as an
equityholder, director, manager, officer, employee, holder of Indebtedness or otherwise, and the
Released Persons will have no liability with respect thereto, provided, however, that such release
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will not cover (1) causes of action and actions, claims, suits, rights, debts, sums of money,
covenants, contracts, damages, judgments or liabilities for amounts owed pursuant to, or to
enforce other rights set forth in this Agreement or any additional agreement contemplated hereby
or delivered pursuant hereto (provided, for clarity, that the foregoing release specifically includes
any and all claims against a Released Person arising out of or relating to that certain Proceeds
Sharing Agreement, dated as of March 21, 2018, between Sellers and the Company), (ii) rights
of a Seller Releasing Party as an employee of the Company for accrued but unpaid
compensation, but only to the extent such amount is consistent with the base salary of the party
set forth in Section 2.20 of the Disclosure Schedule, (iii) accrued rights of a Seller Releasing
Party as an employee of the Company under a Company Benefit Plan in accordance with the
express terms thereof, or (iv) any coverage for claims against any Seller Releasing Party under
any third party insurance policy held by the Company. Each of the Sellers, on behalf of
themselves and each other Seller Releasing Party, acknowledges and agrees that the release set
forth in this Section 5.4 applies to all claims or liabilities of any nature whatsoever, whether at
law or in equity, whether known or unknown, fixed or contingent, suspected or unsuspected,
foreseen or unforeseen, that he or it may have against the Released Persons.

55 Transfer Taxes and Related Costs. Sellers, jointly and severally, on one hand, and
Purchaser, on the other hand, will each be responsible for an equal 50% share of all stamp,
transfer, documentary, sales, use, value added, registration, property, excise and other such taxes
and fees relating thereto (including any penalties, interest and additions to such taxes) incurred in
connection with consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Purchasers
and Sellers’ Representative shall cooperate in executing and filing any Tax Returns, affidavits
and other documents relating to such taxes and fees.

5.6 Access to Information. After the Closing Date, the Sellers, on the one hand, and
Purchaser, on the other hand, will provide to each other and to their respective officers,
employees, counsel and other representatives, upon request (subject to any limitations that are
reasonably required to comply with applicable law or to preserve any applicable attorney-client
privilege or third-party confidentiality obligation), access for inspection and copying, of all files,
books, records, licenses, Contracts, and any other information existing as of the Closing Date and
relating to the Business or the Company, and will make their respective personnel reasonably
available to provide information relating to the Business or the Company, as may be necessary to
enable the party requesting such assistance: (i) to comply with reporting, filing or other
requirements (other than Tax requirements) imposed by any Governmental Authority; or (ii) to
assert or defend any claims or allegations in any litigation or arbitration or in any administrative
or legal proceeding other than claims or allegations that one party to this Agreement has asserted
against the other (in which case, any usage of any information so obtained will be limited to the
purpose or purposes for which it was provided, and will continue to be subject to Section 5.2, if
applicable). The access to files, books and records contemplated by this Section will be during
normal business hours and upon prior written request and will be subject to such reasonable
limitations as the party having custody or control thereof may impose to preserve the
confidentiality of information contained therein.

5.7 Seller Corporate Actions. If an entity, each Seller agrees that prior to the eighteen
(18) month anniversary of the Closing (or, if longer, until all pending but unresolved
Indemnifiable Claims asserted against the Sellers have been fully and finally resolved) such
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Seller will not dissolve or take any action with the purpose or intent of dissolving its corporate,
limited liability company, or other existence.

5.8 GSP Refunds. Sellers will, as part of the Purchase Price, be paid 100% of the
GSP Refunds (as such term is defined above) as and when such GSP Refunds are received by the
Company, provided that such GSP Refunds will be paid on a net basis, after deducting any
amounts owed to the corresponding vendor with respect to such GSP Refunds. Such net
proceeds from such GSP Refunds will be promptly (and in all cases within five (5) Business
Days) forwarded or paid to Sellers Representative by the Company upon receipt.

59  Transition Services. For a period beginning on the Closing Date and ending on
the three month anniversary of the Closing Date, or until any such earlier date when the
Purchaser may otherwise specify in writing, the Sellers will, and will cause Royce Associates to,
continue to perform services for the Company at the facility located at 41 Peachview Boulevard,
Gaftney, South Carolina 29341 (the “South Carolina Facility”) in the same manner as the Sellers
and Royce Associates performed such services to the Company prior to the Closing. In
consideration for the provision of such services, the Purchaser will cause the Company to pay to
Royce Associates an amount equal to $9,500 per month, prorated for any services provided in
partial months, which monthly payment will be payable in advance for each month and is
(consistent with the relationship between the Company and Royce Associates prior to Closing)
intended to compensate Royce Associates for the Company’s allocable share of rent, taxes,
CAM, employee wages and expenses, and other similar fixed charges associated with the South
Carolina Facility. If the Company utilizes the services of Royce Associates’ regulatory employee
or any other variable expense item in connection with the transition services or the Company’s
occupation or use of the facility (i.e., expense items not accounted for as part of the monthly
services fee described above), Purchaser will, in addition to the monthly services fee, cause the
Company to pay or reimburse Royce Associates for the Company’s allocable share of such
variable expense items, with any such allocation to be determined without mark-up and in the
manner consistent with consistent with the relationship between the Company and Royce
Associates prior to Closing. The Sellers will, and will cause Royce Associates to, perform such
services in the same manner as such services were provided prior to the Closing and will
indemnify the Company for any Damages resulting to, imposed upon or incurred or suffered by
the Company and arising out of or relating to any gross negligence by Sellers, Royce Associates,
or its employees in connection with the provision of such services.

ARTICLE VI
CLOSING; CLOSING DELIVERABLES

6.1 Closing. The closing of the transactions contemplated hereby (the “Closing”) will
take place by electronic delivery or overnight mail delivery (as needed) of closing documents
among the parties, on the date of this Agreement. The date on which the Closing occurs is
referred to as the “Closing Date.” The effective time of the Closing is 12:01 a.m. eastern time on
the Closing Date.

6.2 Sellers’ Closing Deliverables. As a condition to the Closing, Seller will deliver to
Purchaser or Purchaser will otherwise have obtained, as applicable, prior to or on the Closing
Date, each of the following deliverables:
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(a) Consents and Other Items. The Sellers and the Company will have
obtained and delivered to Purchaser (i) any and all written consents and authority
necessary to permit the sale of the Units to Purchaser, and to consummate the other
transactions contemplated hereby, (i1) evidence reasonably satisfactory to Purchaser that
all necessary notices have been given to third parties, and (iii) estoppel certificates, non-
disturbance agreements, and consents from third parties to Contracts of the Company
necessary to continue such Contracts from and after the Closing, in each case in form and
substance reasonably satisfactory to Purchaser.

(b) Release of Liens. The Sellers and the Company will have obtained and
delivered to Purchaser a payoff letter and lien release, in a form satisfactory to Purchaser,
from each holder of any Indebtedness Amount or which is required to release any Lien
that encumbers any Units or any asset of the Company, and, if requested by Purchaser,
payoff letter or similar documentation signed by the applicable third party evidencing that
all Outstanding Transaction Expenses owed by the Company to such third party have
been or will (subject to receipt of payment at the Closing) be fully satisfied.

(©) Regulatory Approvals. Purchaser or the Company, as applicable, will
have received all licenses, permits, approvals, or other authorization from any and
Governmental Authorities necessary in connection with the transactions contemplated
hereby and the conduct of the Business by the Company and Purchaser from and after the
Closing.

(d) Closing Documents. At the Closing, Sellers or the Company, as
applicable, will have delivered, or will have caused to be delivered, to Purchaser all of the
following documents:

(1) the certificates (or affidavits of lost certificates in lieu thereof)
representing the Units, if applicable, and an assignment (separate from such
certificates) of the Units to Purchaser, in form and substance acceptable to
Purchaser;

(i1) a certificate from the Secretary of the Company certifying as to
correct and complete copies of (A) the Company’s Organizational Documents,
(B) incumbency and signatures of officers of the Company, (C) resolutions of the
board of managers of the Company, authorizing the execution and delivery of this
Agreement and any other agreement or document contemplated hereby or
delivered pursuant hereto to which the Company is a party and the taking of any
and all actions reasonably necessary to consummate the transactions contemplated
herein and therein;

(ii1)  a certificate of the applicable Governmental Authority, dated as of
a date no earlier than ten (10) days prior to the Closing Date, as to the good
standing of the Company in the jurisdictions identified in Section 2.1(a) — (c) of
the Disclosure Schedule;

(iv)  the Escrow Agreement, duly executed by Sellers;
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(v) resignations of the officers, managers and directors of the
Company in form acceptable to and as required by Purchaser;

(vi)  aproperly executed affidavit prepared in accordance with Treasury
Regulations Section 1.1445-2(b) certifying each Seller’s non-foreign status;

(vil) a consulting agreement, in the form attached hereto as Schedule
6.2(d)(vii), between Anand and the Company (the “Consulting Agreement”), duly
executed by Anand; and

(viii)) all other documents, certificates, instruments or writings
reasonably requested by Purchaser in connection herewith.

6.3  Purchaser’s Closing Deliverables. As a condition to the Closing, Purchaser will
deliver to Sellers or Sellers will otherwise have obtained, as applicable, prior to or on the Closing
Date, each of the following deliverables:

(a) the Purchase Price, payable in the manner set forth in Article I above;

(b) a certificate of the applicable Governmental Authority, dated as of a date
no earlier than ten (10) days prior to the Closing Date, as to the good standing of
Purchaser in Ohio;

(©) certified copies of the resolutions duly adopted by Purchaser’s board of
managers authorizing the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement, any
agreement contemplated hereby or delivered pursuant hereto, and the consummation of
the transactions contemplated hereby;

(d) the Escrow Agreement, duly executed by Purchaser; and
(e) the Consulting Agreement, duly executed by the Company.

ARTICLE VII
INDEMNIFICATION

7.1 Survival of Representations, Warranties and Agreements. Subject to Section
7.6(c), if applicable, all representations, warranties, covenants and agreements of the Parties in
this Agreement and in any other agreements, documents or certificates executed or delivered by
the Parties pursuant to this Agreement, or in connection with the transactions contemplated by
this Agreement (the “Additional Documents™) will survive the execution, delivery and
performance of this Agreement and the Closing of the transactions contemplated hereby.

7.2  Indemnification of Purchaser. The Sellers will jointly and severally indemnify,
defend, and hold harmless Purchaser and its Affiliates (including, after the Closing, the
Company) and their respective directors, managers, officers, shareholders, members, managers,
agents and employees (specifically excluding the Sellers and their respective Affiliates, other
than the Company) (each, a “Party Indemnified by Seller”) from and against any and all
Liabilities, losses, damages, demands, claims, suits, actions, judgments or causes of action,
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assessments, costs and expenses including, without limitation, interest, penalties, and reasonable
attorneys’ fees, and any and all amounts paid in connection with the investigation, defense or
settlement of any claim or litigation (collectively, “Damages”), resulting to, imposed upon or
incurred or suffered by any Party Indemnified by Seller as a result of any of the following:

(a) any inaccuracy in or breach of any representation or warranty made by a
Seller pursuant to this Agreement;

(b) any breach or non-performance of any covenant, agreement or obligation
to be performed by a Seller pursuant to this Agreement;

(©) any (i) Taxes of a Seller or the Company with respect to any Pre-Closing
Tax Period, (ii) Seller’s allocable share of Taxes described in Section 5.5 (Transfer
Taxes), (iii) all Taxes imposed upon Sellers or the Company as a result of any transaction
contemplated by this Agreement, and (iv) all Taxes of any Person for which the
Company is liable (A) under Treasury Regulations Section 1.1502-6 (or similar
provisions of state, local or foreign applicable Tax Laws), (B) as a transferee or
successor, (C) by contract or (D) otherwise;

(d) the Unpaid Seller Expenses (to the extent not satisfied in full at Closing);,
(e) any Unpaid Indebtedness (to the extent not satisfied in full at Closing);
® any Fraud by any Seller or the Company;

(2) any inaccuracy in or breach of the representations and warranties set forth
in Section 2.6(e) of this Agreement; and

(h)  the matters, if any, identified on Schedule 7.2(h) hereto.

73 Indemnification of Sellers. Purchaser will indemnify, defend and hold harmless
the Sellers, their Affiliates, and their respective successors and assigns (each, a “Party
Indemnified by Purchaser”) from and against any and all Damages, resulting to, imposed upon or
incurred or suffered by any Party Indemnified by Purchaser as a result of any of the following:

(a) any inaccuracy in or breach of any of the representations or warranties
made by Purchaser in this Agreement;

(b) any breach or non-performance of any covenant, agreement or obligation
to be performed by Purchaser pursuant to this Agreement; and

(©) any (1) any Taxes of the Purchaser; (i) any Taxes of Purchaser or the
Company with respect to any Post-Closing Tax Period, (ii) Purchaser’s allocable share of
Taxes described in Section 5.5 (Transfer Taxes), (ii1) all Taxes imposed on Purchaser or
the Parent as a result of any transaction contemplated by this Agreement; or (iv) all Taxes
of any Person with respect to any Post-Closing Tax Period for which the Company is
liable, to the extent that the conditions which provide the basis for such liability did not
exist on or before Closing.
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7.4 Procedure for Indemnification with Respect to Third Party Claims.

(a) If any Party Indemnified by Seller or any Party Indemnified by Purchaser
(any such Person, an “Indemnified Party”) determines to seek indemnification under this
Article VII with respect to a claim indemnifiable pursuant to Section 7.2 or Section 7.3
(each such claim, an “Indemnifiable Claim”) resulting from the assertion of Liability by a
third party (including Governmental Authorities), it will give written notice to Sellers’
Representative or to Purchaser, as the case may be, within thirty (30) days of the
Indemnified Party’s becoming aware of any such Indemnifiable Claim (a “Claim
Notice”), which notice will set forth such material information with respect to such
Indemnifiable Claim as is then reasonably available to the Indemnified Party. In the
event of a Claim Notice delivered by a Party Indemnified by Seller, Sellers will be
collectively referred to herein as the “Indemnifying Party”, and in the event of a Claim
Notice delivered by a Party Indemnified by Purchaser, Purchaser will be referred to
herein as the Indemnifying Party. The Indemnifying Party will be entitled, if it so elects
by written notice delivered to the Indemnified Party within twenty (20) days after
receiving the Claim Notice, to assume the defense of the Indemnifiable Claim identified
therein with counsel reasonably satisfactory to the Indemnified Party. Notwithstanding
anything herein to the contrary, the Indemnifying Party will not have the right to assume
or continue the defense or handling of such Indemnifiable Claim, and the Indemnified
Party will be entitled to control the defense of such Indemnifiable Claim and treat all
costs and expenses of such defense as indemnifiable Damages (all as more fully set forth
in Section 7.4(b) below), unless each of the following conditions is and continues to be
satisfied: (A) the Indemnifiable Claim involves only monetary damages, (B) no conflict
exists between the Indemnified Party and Indemnifying Party with respect to the defense
of such Indemnifiable Claim, (C) the Indemnifiable Claim does not relate to Taxes, or
involve a criminal or regulatory action, (D) the settlement of the Indemnifiable Claim
will not, in the good faith opinion of the Indemnified Party, be likely to be materially
adverse to the Indemnified Party’s continuing business as a whole, and (E) the
Indemnitfying Party conducts the defense actively and diligently. Additionally, and
notwithstanding the foregoing: (i) even if the Indemnifying Party is entitled to and does
assume the defense of such Indemnifiable Claim, the Indemnified Party will have the
right to employ its own counsel in any such case, but the fees and expenses of such
counsel will be payable by the Indemnified Party; and (i1) the rights of the Indemnified
Party to be indemnified in respect of Indemnifiable Claims resulting from the assertion of
Liability by third parties will not be adversely affected by its failure to give a Claim
Notice pursuant to the foregoing provisions unless, and, if so, only to the extent that, the
Indemnifying Party is materially prejudiced by such failure. With respect to any
assertion of Liability by a third party that results in an Indemnifiable Claim, the Parties
will make available to each other all relevant information in their possession which is
material to any such assertion and otherwise cooperate in the defense of the
Indemnifiable Claim.

(b)  If the Indemnifying Party does not dispute its obligation with respect to an
Indemnifiable Claim described in a particular Claim Notice within twenty (20) days of
the receipt of the Claim Notice, the Indemnifying Party will be deemed to have accepted
liability for all Damages arising out of or relating to such Indemnifiable Claim. In the
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event the Indemnifying Party notifies the Indemnified Party in writing within twenty (20)
days after receiving the Claim Notice that it disputes liability for all or any portion of the
Indemnifiable Claim, or fails to timely provide the unconditional acceptance of liability
required as a condition to its control of the defense and settlement of the Indemnifiable
Claim, the Parties will endeavor in good faith to mutually agree to resolve such dispute.
If the Parties are unable to resolve the Indemnifiable Claim within twenty (20) days after
the Indemnifying Party delivers such notice (or within five (5) Business Days prior to the
deadline for any responsive filing, if earlier), the Indemnified Party will be entitled to
pursue all available legal rights and remedies relating thereto, and, without limiting the
generality of the foregoing, may elect to defend, compromise or settle such Indemnifiable
Claim, but in the event it is ultimately determined that the Indemnifying Party is
responsible for such Indemnifiable Claim, the costs of the Indemnified Party
investigating, in defending, compromising, or settling such Indemnifiable Claim will be
considered Damages for purposes of determining the amount of the Indemnifying Party’s
obligation to the Indemnified Party.

7.5 Procedure for Indemnification with Respect to Non-Third Party Claims.

(a) In the event that the Indemnified Party asserts the existence of an
Indemnifiable Claim giving rise to Damages (other than Indemnifiable Claims resulting
from the assertion of Liability by third parties), it will give notice to Sellers’
Representative or to Purchaser, as the case may be, specifying the nature and amount of
the Indemnifiable Claim asserted. If the Indemnifying Party, within twenty (20) days
after receiving such notice, has not given written notice to the Indemnified Party
announcing its intent to contest such assertion by the Indemnified Party, such assertion
will be deemed accepted, the amount of the Indemnifiable Claim will be deemed a valid
Indemnifiable Claim, and the Indemnifying Party will be deemed to have accepted
liability for all Damages arising out of or relating to such Indemnifiable Claim.

(b) If the Indemnifying Party contests the assertion of an Indemnifiable
Claim, then the Parties will endeavor in good faith to resolve the Indemnifiable Claim. If
the Parties are unable to resolve the Indemnifiable Claim within twenty (20) days after
the Indemnifying Party delivers such notice, then either Party will be entitled to pursue
all available legal rights and remedies relating thereto.

7.6  Limitations on Indemnification. The liability of the Sellers to indemnify and hold
harmless the Parties Indemnified by Seller for Damages pursuant to Section 7.2 will be subject to
the following limitations:

(a) With respect to any claims under Section 7.2(a) set forth above (other than
claims alleging facts or circumstances that would constitute a breach of Fundamental
Reps or SOL Reps), the Parties Indemnified by Seller will not be entitled to recover any
Damages unless and until the aggregate of all Damages exceeds One Hundred Sixty-Five
Thousand Dollars ($165,000) (the “Deductible”), after which the Parties Indemnified by
Seller will be entitled to recover only Damages in excess of the Deductible, subject to the
Cap.
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(b) With respect to any claims under Section 7.2(a) set forth above (other than
claims alleging facts or circumstances that would constitute a breach of Fundamental
Reps or SOL Reps), the Parties Indemnified by Seller will not be entitled to recover
Damages to the extent the aggregate Damages from all such claims in excess of the
Deductible exceed Three Million Three Hundred Thousand Dollars ($3,300,000) (the
“Cap”). For purposes of clarity, the Parties agree that the foregoing limitations do not
apply to Damages for claims asserted under other subsections of Section 7.2, and the
Parties Indemnified by Sellers’ right to recover such Damages is not limited.

(©) With respect to any claims under Section 7.2(a) set forth above, Purchaser
must notify Sellers Representative in writing of any such claims specifying the factual
basis of each claim in reasonable detail to the extent then known by Purchaser on or
before the eighteen (18) month anniversary of the Closing Date, at which time
Purchaser’s right to indemnification for such matters (absent such notice) will terminate;
provided, however, (i) with respect to such claims relating to Section 2.1 (Organization
and Qualification), Section 2.2 (Authority, Power and Enforceability), Section 2.4
(Capitalization), Section 2.5 (Subsidiaries), Section 2.7 (Indebtedness), Section 2.1
(Affiliate Transactions), Section 2.22 (Brokerage), or any claim relating to Article III,
inclusive (collectively, the “Fundamental Reps”), Purchaser may notify Sellers
Representative in writing at any time as the survival period for such representations and
warranties is the seven (7) year anniversary of the Closing Date, and (ii) with respect to
such claims relating to Section 2.11 (Taxes), Section 2.12 (Environmental Matters), and
Section 2.16 (Employee Benefits) (collectively, the “SOL Reps”), Purchaser must notify
Sellers Representative in writing at any time prior to the date which is thirty (30) days
following the applicable statute of limitations (after giving effect to any extensions or
waivers thereof), at which time Purchaser’s right to indemnification for such matters
(absent such notice) will terminate. In addition, if notice of a violation or breach of any
specified representation or warranty is given by Purchaser to Sellers Representative
during the period provided for in this Section then such representation or warranty (and
the underlying claim) will continue to survive until such matter has been resolved by
settlement, litigation (including all appeals related thereto) or otherwise.

(d) Payments by an Indemnifying Party pursuant to this Article VII in respect
of any Damages shall be reduced by an amount equal to any insurance proceeds (net of
costs of recovery, applicable deductibles, and premium adjustments) actually received
with respect to the matter in question prior to or during the calendar year in which such
indemnification claim was paid by the Indemnifying Party.

(e) In no event shall any Indemnifying Party be liable to any Indemnified
Party for any punitive damages relating to the breach or alleged breach of this
Agreement, except to the extent finally resolved under Section 7.4 and awarded pursuant
to a third-party Indemnifiable Claim in favor of any Person who is not a party to this
Agreement or an Affiliate of a Party to this Agreement.

® To the extent consistent with, and only to the extent required by, such
Indemnified Party’s duties to mitigate Damages under applicable contract law, each
Indemnified Party shall take, and shall cause its Affiliates to take, commercially
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reasonable steps to mitigate any Damages upon becoming aware of any event or
circumstance that gives rise thereto.

(2) Sellers shall have no obligation to indemnify Purchaser or any other
Parties Indemnified by Seller for Damages if and to the extent (on a dollar-for-dollar
basis): (i) there is a specific reserve in Working Capital as finally determined that applies
to the Damages in question; or (ii) the matter that gave rise to such Damages was
included as a specific component of Current Assets or Current Liabilities included in
Working Capital as finally determined in accordance with this Agreement, whether by
specific resolution by the Parties or by the determination of the Independent Accounting
Firm.

7.7  Effect of Materiality. In connection with any claim for Damages under this
Article VII, for the purposes of determining the existence of any breach of a representation,
warranty, covenant or agreement by a Seller, and for the purposes of determining Damages, each
representation, warranty, covenant and agreement made by a Seller will be deemed made without
any qualifications or limitations as to materiality and, without limiting the foregoing, the word
“material” and words of similar import will be deemed deleted from any such representation,
warranty, covenant or agreement.

7.8 Reserved.

7.9  Offset; Escrow. Subject to the other limitations herein, but in addition to any and
all other remedies otherwise available to it under this Agreement, Purchaser will have the right to
set off the indemnification obligations of the Sellers pursuant to this Article VII against the
Escrow Amount and against any other amount otherwise payable to Sellers on a dollar-for-dollar
basis. Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, for so long as and to the extent
funds remain from the Escrow Amount in excess of Damages alleged in any pending
Indemnifiable Claims under Section 7.4 or Section 7.5, any and all amounts payable by Sellers to
a Party Indemnified by Seller pursuant to this Article VII will be paid in cash first out of such
Escrow Account until such amount has been reduced to zero. For clarity, at such time as
Damages alleged in pending Indemnifiable Claims under Section 7.4 or Section 7.5 exceed the
amount then remaining in the Escrow Account, a Party Indemnified by Sellers will be entitled to
seek recovery of such excess from Sellers even if such Indemnifiable Claims or the amount of
Damages suffered thereunder have not been finally determined at such time.

7.10 Exclusive Remedies. Subject to Section 1.4, Section 5.3, and Section 9.7, the
Parties acknowledge and agree that their sole and exclusive monetary remedy with respect to any
and all claims (other than claims arising from Fraud, criminal activity or willful misconduct on
the part of a Party hereto in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement)
for any breach of any representation, warranty, covenant, agreement or obligation set forth herein
or otherwise relating to the subject matter of this Agreement (including to the extent arising in
tort), shall be pursuant to the indemnification provisions (and subject to the terms and
limitations) set forth in this Article VII. Nothing in this Section 7.10 shall limit any Person's
right to seek and obtain any equitable relief to which any Person shall be entitled or to seek any
remedy on account of any party's Fraudulent, criminal or intentional misconduct.
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ARTICLE VIII
DEFINITIONS

8.1 Defined Terms. The following terms, as used herein, have the following
meanings:

“Affiliate” of a Person means any other Person that directly or indirectly through one or
more intermediaries controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with such Person.

“Basis” means any past or present fact, situation, circumstance, status, condition, activity,
practice, plan, occurrence, event, incident, action, failure to act, or transaction that could
reasonably form the basis for any specific consequence.

“Benefit Plan” means any “employee benefit plan” (as such term is defined in Section
3(3) of ERISA) and any other material employee benefit plan, program or arrangement that the
Company maintains, sponsors, or contributes to or for the benefit of any employee or former
employee (or their beneficiaries) of the Company, whether written or oral, and whether or not
subject to ERISA, including, but not limited to, deferred compensation, medical, vision,
prescription drug, dental or disability insurance plans, fringe benefits, leave policies, workers’
compensation, bonus, commission, and incentive plans, severance or separation benefits,
retirement plans, equity-based compensation plans, and change of control benefits.

“Business Day” means any day, other than a Saturday or Sunday and other than a day
that banks in the State of Massachusetts are generally authorized or required by applicable Legal
Requirements to be closed.

“Cash” means cash and cash equivalents, determined in accordance with GAAP (and, for
the avoidance of doubt, calculated net of issued but uncleared checks and drafts for which the
Company is obligated).

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

“Confidential Information” of a disclosing Party means information that the recipient
knows or reasonably should know the disclosing Party treats as confidential or proprietary.

“Contract” means any agreement, contract, personal property lease, real property lease,
capital lease, note, loan, evidence of indebtedness, guaranty, purchase order, customer order,
letter of credit, franchise agreement, undertaking, covenant-not-to-compete, employment,
consulting or independent contractor agreement, license, instrument, obligation or commitment
(1) to which the Company is a party, or (ii) by which it is, or any of its assets are, bound, whether
oral or written, and including without limitation any terms and conditions, terms of sale, or other
similar provisions that are legally binding and are applicable to the purchase or sale of products
or raw materials by, or the performance of services by or provision of services to, the Company,
even if the Company has not signed or otherwise affirmatively agreed to such terms.

“Dollars” and any reference to “$” will mean U.S. dollars.

41

TRADEMARK
REEL: 006697 FRAME: 0472



29

“Environmental Law” means all Legal Requirements: (a) relating to pollution (or the
cleanup thereof) or the protection of natural resources, endangered or threatened species, or the
environment (including ambient air, soil, surface water or groundwater, or subsurface strata); or
(b) concerning the presence of, exposure to, or the management, manufacture, use, containment,
storage, recycling, reclamation, reuse, treatment, generation, discharge, transportation,
processing, production, disposal, or remediation of any Hazardous Materials. The term
“Environmental Law” includes the following (including their implementing regulations, any
state analogs or any similar laws in foreign jurisdictions): the Comprehensive Environmental
Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980, as amended by the Superfund Amendments
and Reauthorization Act of 1986, 42 U.S.C. §§ 9601 et seq.; the Solid Waste Disposal Act, as
amended by the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976, as amended by the
Hazardous and Solid Waste Amendments of 1984, 42 U.S.C. §§ 6901 et seq.; the Federal Water
Pollution Control Act of 1972, as amended by the Clean Water Act of 1976, as amended, 15
U.S.C. §§ 2601 et seq.; the Emergency Planning and Community Right to Know Act of 1986, 42
U.S.C. §§ 11001 et seq.; and the Clean Air Act of 1966, as amended by the Clean Air Act
Amendments of 1990, 42 U.S.C. §§ 7401 et seq.

“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.

“Fraud” or “Fraudulent” means the commitment of an intentional action against a party
alleging fraud with the deliberate intent to deceive such party.

“GAAP” means United States generally accepted accounting principles consistently
applied, as in effect when applied.

“Governmental Authority” means (a) any court, arbitrator, department, commission,
board, bureau, agency, authority, instrumentality, regulatory or administrative agency or other
body of any government, whether federal, state, county, regional, local or of a foreign
jurisdiction; or (b) or any quasi-governmental or private body exercising, or entitled to exercise,
any regulatory, administrative, executive, judicial, legislative, expropriation or taxing authority,
under or for the account of any of the foregoing.

“Hazardous Materials” means all hazardous substances, as that term is defined under the
Federal Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980, as
amended, any waste or other substance that is listed, defined, designated, or classified as, or
otherwise determined to be, hazardous, radioactive, or toxic, or a pollutant or contaminant under
or pursuant to any Environmental Law, including petroleum and derivatives thereof, asbestos and
asbestos-containing materials, PCBs, urea formaldehyde, pesticides, herbicides, and fertilizers
natural gas liquids, lead and lead-based paints and materials, flammable, explosive, or
radioactive materials, microbial matter, biological toxins, mycotoxins, mold or mold spores,
radon, and any other agriculture chemicals.

“Indebtedness” of any Person means, without duplication, (a) the principal of and,
accreted value and accrued and unpaid interest in respect of (i) indebtedness of such Person for
money borrowed, and (ii) indebtedness evidenced by notes, debentures, bonds or other similar
instruments for the payment of which such Person is responsible or liable; (b) all obligations of
such Person issued or assumed as the deferred purchase price of property, all conditional sale
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obligations of such Person and all obligations of such Person under any title retention agreement
(but excluding operating leases and trade accounts payable and other accrued current liabilities);
(c) under capital leases (in accordance with GAAP); (d) in respect of letters of credit and
bankers’ acceptances; (e) for Contracts relating to interest rate protection, swap agreements and
collar agreements; (f) all indebtedness of such Person secured by a purchase money mortgage or
other Lien to secure all or part of the purchase price of the property subject to the mortgage or
Lien; (g) any Outstanding Transaction Expenses of the Company that are unpaid as of the
Closing Date; and (h) in the nature of guarantees of the obligations described in clauses (a)
through (f) above of any other Person.

“Indebtedness Amount” means the amounts sufficient to satisfy and extinguish the
outstanding Indebtedness (including all principal, accrued interest, penalties, and premiums
thereon through the Closing Date) of the Company that Purchaser elects to pay off as of the
Closing.

“Insider” means (i) Seller, (i1) any officer, director, or equity owner of Seller, or the
Company, (ii1) any spouse, sibling, child or parent of any individual listed in clause (1) or (ii)
hereof, or (iv) any Person in which any individual listed in clauses (i) or (iii) hereof has a
beneficial Interest.

“Intellectual Property” means all patents, patent applications, and other rights associated
with or relating to the protection of inventions or ideas under applicable patent laws; all
copyrighted or copyrightable materials and all applications therefor or registrations thereof; all
trademarks, servicemarks, trade names, logos, and other brand identifiers; all proprietary rights,
processes, formulae, technology, and other items that are subject to protection under trade secret
or similar Legal Requirements that would generally be protected by a company conducting the
Business; all uniform resource locators, phone numbers, directory listings, and similar rights; all
registrations of, or applications for, any of the foregoing under any applicable state, United
States, or foreign Legal Requirement; and all goodwill in, rights to enforce, and recoveries or
relief associated with any of the foregoing.

“Inventory” means inventory of the Company.

“Knowledge” means, (a) with respect to a Seller, the actual knowledge of such Seller,
and the actual knowledge that such Seller would have had if he had conducted a reasonable
investigation into the matter in question, and (b) with respect to the Company, (i) the Knowledge
of any Seller (determined in accordance with the preceding clause (a)), and (i1)(A) the actual
knowledge of Anand, and (B) the actual knowledge that any such persons would have had if they
had conducted a reasonable investigation into the matter in question.

“Legal Requirement” means any federal, state, provincial, or local, or other foreign law,
statute, legislation, constitution, principle of common law, judicial decision, resolution,
ordinance, code, judgment, order, decree, treaty, rule, regulation, ruling, determination, charge,
direction, or other restriction of an arbitrator or Governmental Authority.

“Liabilities” means any liability, debt, loss, damage, adverse claim or obligation of
whatever kind or nature (whether known or unknown, whether asserted or unasserted, whether
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absolute or contingent, whether accrued or unaccrued, whether liquidated or unliquidated, and
whether due or to become due), including any liability for Taxes.

“Lien” or “Liens” means any liens, security interests, pledges, mortgages, deeds of trust,
conditional sales Contracts, charges (fixed or floating) or, in the case of real property, easements,
charges or other encumbrances, in each case whether imposed by Legal Requirements, Contract
or otherwise.

“Material Adverse Effect” means any event, change, circumstance, effect, or state of facts
that, when considered individually or in the aggregate, is, or could reasonably be expected to be,
materially adverse to (a) the Business or the financial condition or results of operations of the
Company, or (b) the ability of any Seller or the Company to consummate the transactions
contemplated in this Agreement.

“Ordinary Course of Business” means the ordinary course of business consistent with
past custom and practice (including with respect to quantity and frequency).

“Organizational Documents” means the articles or certificate of incorporation,
organization, or formation, bylaws, limited liability company agreement, partnership agreement
or other governing documents of an entity.

“QOutstanding Transaction Expenses” means any unpaid fees and expenses payable by or
on behalf of a Seller or the Company relating to the negotiation, execution, and delivery of any
letter of intent or term sheet, this Agreement, and any other agreement or document
contemplated hereby or delivered pursuant hereto, as well as the consummation of the
transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, that are incurred by or on behalf of, or charged to
Sellers or the Company, including (A) all legal, tax, accounting, financial, any brokerage fees,
commissions, finders’ fees, investment banking fees or financial advisory fees, and other
advisory and consulting fees, (B) the payment of assignment, consent or similar fees pursuant to
the express terms of Contracts to which the Company or any Seller is a party in connection with,
or to avoid termination or other adverse consequences under such Contract as a result of, the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement (including without limitation the Palmer
Agreement), (C) any obligations or agreements of the Company for payments relating to a
change of control of the Company, “stay” bonus, transaction retention, or similar obligations or
payments that may be owed or are otherwise payable to any Person based on any Seller’s or the
Company’s agreement with such Person, in each case, including the employer’s portion of any
payroll, social security, unemployment or similar Taxes related to such payments, and (D) other
amounts that any Seller or the Company is obligated to pay based on arrangements made by any
Seller or the Company prior to Closing in connection with the negotiation, execution, and
delivery of this Agreement and any other agreement or document contemplated herby or
delivered pursuant hereto, or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.

“Palmer Agreement” means the Operating Agreement of RP International, dated as of
October 27, 2011.

“Permitted Liens” means: (a) Liens for taxes not yet due and payable; (b) mechanics,
carriers', workmen's, repairmen's or other like liens arising or incurred in the ordinary course of
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business consistent with past practice for amounts that are not delinquent and which are not,
individually or in the aggregate, material to the Business of the Company; or (c) easements,
rights of way, zoning ordinances and other similar restrictions of record affecting Real Property
which are not, individually or in the aggregate, material to the business of the Company.

“Person” means an individual, corporation, partnership, limited company, limited liability
company, association, trust or any other entity or organization, including a Governmental
Authority.

“Pre-Closing Tax Period” means any Tax period ending on or prior to the Closing Date
and, with respect to any Straddle Period, the portion of any Straddle Period ending on and
including the Closing Date.

“Related Party Transaction” means any Contract, arrangement, or understanding under
which the Company or its Insiders: (i) has borrowed any monies from or has outstanding any
Indebtedness or other similar obligations to any Seller or the Company or any of their respective
Affiliates; (i1) owns any direct or indirect interest of any kind in, or is a director, governor,
manager, officer, member, employee, partner, equity owner, consultant, or lender to, or borrower
from, or has the right to participate in the management, operations, or profits of, any Person that
(x) is a competitor, supplier, customer, distributor, lessor, tenant, creditor, or debtor of the
Company, or (y) participates in any transaction to which any Seller or the Company is a party; or
(1ii) is or has been a party to any Contract, arrangement, understanding, or transaction with any
Seller or the Company.

“Subsidiary” means, with respect to any Person, any corporation, limited liability
company, partnership, association or other business entity of which (i) if a corporation, a
majority of the total voting power of shares of stock entitled (without regard to the occurrence of
any contingency) to vote in the election of directors, directors or trustees thereof is at the time
owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by that Person or one or more of the other
Subsidiaries of that Person or a combination thereof, or (ii) if a limited liability company,
partnership, association or other business entity, a majority of the partnership or other similar
ownership interest thereof is at the time owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by any
Person or one or more Subsidiaries of that Person or a combination thereof.

“Tax” means all taxes, assessments, duties, fees or levies of a Governmental Authority
including all United States federal, state, county, local, foreign and other income, gross receipts,
ad valorem, franchise, profits, capital gains, capital stock, transfer, registration, escheat or
unclaimed property laws, sales, use, value added, occupation, property, excise, utility,
environmental, severance, communications, real or personal property, membership interest,
windfall profits, stamp, license, payroll, wage, withholding, employment, unemployment, social
security, severance, occupation, alternative or add-on minimum, estimated and other and other
taxes, assessments, duties, fees or levies of any kind whatsoever (whether payable directly or by
withholding and whether or not requiring the filing of a Tax Return), all estimated taxes,
(including deficiency assessments, additions to tax, and penalties and interest thereon attributable
thereto) whether disputed or not.
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“Tax Return” means any return, statement, form, declaration, report, claim for refund, or
information return or statement required to be filed or actually filed with any Governmental
Authority relating to Taxes, including any elections, disclosure, estimate, schedule or attachment
thereto, and including any amendment thereof.

“Unpaid Seller Expenses” means any obligations of the Company arising out of or
relating to any Outstanding Transaction Expenses not paid at Closing pursuant to Section 1.3.

“Unpaid Indebtedness” means any Indebtedness of the Company as of the Closing Date
that is not paid at Closing pursuant to Section 1.3.

“Working Capital Target” means Nine Million Two Hundred Two Thousand Dollars
($9,202,000).

8.2  Construction of Certain Terms and Phrases. Unless the context of this Agreement
otherwise requires, (a) words of any gender include each other gender, (b) words using the
singular or plural number also include the plural or singular number, respectively, (c¢) the terms
“hereof,” “herein,” “hereby” and derivative or similar words refer to this entire Agreement, (d)
the term “including,” when used herein without the qualifier “without limitation,” will mean
“including, without limitation” and (e) the terms “Article,” “Section,” “paragraph” or “clause”
refer to the specified Article, Section, paragraph or clause of this Agreement.

ARTICLE IX
MISCELLANEQOUS

9.1 Notices. All notices, requests, demands, letters, waivers and other
communications required or permitted to be given under this Agreement will be in writing and
will be deemed to have been duly given if (a) delivered personally, (b) mailed, certified or
registered mail with postage prepaid, (c) sent by next-day or overnight mail or delivery or (d)
sent by fax or electronic mail, as follows:

if to Purchaser:

Gabriel Performance Products, LLC

725 State Road

Ashtabula, OH 44004

Attention: Chief Executive Officer
Facsimile: (440) 992-3204

E-Mail: seth.tomasch@gabrielchem.com

with a copy to (which will not constitute notice hereunder):

Fredrikson & Byron, P.A.

200 South Sixth Street, Suite 4000
Minneapolis, MN 55402-1425
Facsimile No.: (612) 492-7077
E-Mail: skearney@fredlaw.com
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Attention: Sean Kearney, Esq.
Ryan Miest, Esq.

Audax Management Company, LLC
101 Huntington Avenue

Boston, MA 02199

Attention: General Counsel

Fax: (617)859-1600

if to the Sellers” Representative (which will also constitute notice to each of the
Sellers):

Harvinder (Harry) Anand

409 Beach Road

Sarasota, FL 34242

E-Mail: MayorAnand@Gmail.com

with a copy to (which will not constitute notice hereunder):

Taft Stettinius & Hollister LLP
200 Public Square, Suite 3500
Cleveland, Ohio 44114
Facsimile No.: (216) 241-3707
E-Mail: pnealis@taftlaw.com
Attention: Peter Nealis, Esq.

or to such other Person or address as any Party will specify by notice in writing to the Party
entitled to notice. All such notices, requests, demands, letters, waivers and other communications
will be deemed to have been received (a) if by personal delivery, on the day of such delivery, (b)
if by certified or registered mail, on the fifth business day after the mailing thereof, (c) if by next-
day or overnight mail or delivery, on the day delivered, or (d) if by fax or electronic mail, on the
day on which such fax or electronic mail was sent, provided that a copy is also sent by certified,
registered, next-day or overnight mail.

9.2  Interpretation. The headings and the table of contents contained in this
Agreement are for reference purposes only and will not affect in any way the meaning or
interpretation of this Agreement.

93 Severability. Whenever possible, each provision of this Agreement will be
interpreted in such manner as to be effective and valid under applicable law, but if any provision
of this Agreement is held to be prohibited by or invalid under applicable law, the Parties agree
that the court will modify such term to make it enforceable to the maximum extent possible. If
the term cannot be modified, the parties agree that the term will be severed and all other terms of
this Agreement will remain in effect, without invalidating the remainder of such provision or the
remaining provisions of this Agreement.
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9.4  Further Assurances. The Parties agree (a) to furnish upon request to each other
such further information, (b) to execute and deliver to each other such other documents, and (c)
to do such other acts and things, all as the other Party may reasonably request for the purpose of
carrying out the intent of this Agreement and the documents referred to in this Agreement.

9.5  Waiver. The rights and remedies of the Parties to this Agreement are cumulative
and not alternative. Neither the failure nor any delay by any Party in exercising any right, power,
or privilege under this Agreement or the documents referred to in this Agreement will operate as
a waiver of such right, power, or privilege, and no single or partial exercise of any such right,
power, or privilege will preclude any other or further exercise of such right, power, or privilege
or the exercise of any other right, power, or privilege.

9.6  Public Statements. Neither the Company nor the Purchaser nor any Seller will
issue any press release or make any other public statement relating to the transactions
contemplated hereby unless (a) agreed to by Purchaser and the Sellers’ Representative, or (b)
required by a Legal Requirement; provided, however, that in the case of clause (b) of this
sentence, any such release or statement will be subject to prior review by Purchaser and Sellers’
Representative.

9.7  Injunctive Relief. Each Party acknowledges and agrees that the other Party’s
remedies at law for any violation or attempted violation of such Party’s obligations under this
Agreement would be inadequate and incomplete, and agree that in the event of any such
violation or attempted violation, a Party will be entitled to seek a temporary restraining order,
temporary and permanent injunctions, and other equitable relief, without the necessity of posting
any bond or proving any actual damage, in addition to all other rights and remedies that may be
available to such Party from time to time. Such remedies will be in addition to, and not in lieu
of, other remedies that may be available at law or in equity.

9.8  Construction. The Parties acknowledge and agree that they have participated
jointly in the negotiation and drafting of this Agreement. In the event an ambiguity or question
of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement will be construed as if drafted jointly by the
parties hereto and no presumption or burden of proof will arise favoring or disfavoring any Party
by virtue of the authorship of any of the provisions of this Agreement.

9.9  Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, which together
will constitute one and the same Agreement. The Parties may execute more than one copy of the
Agreement, each of which will constitute an original. Delivery of a fax or .pdf signature will be
deemed the delivery of an original signature.

9.10 Entire Agreement; Amendment. This Agreement (including the documents and
the instruments referred to herein) constitutes the entire agreement among the Parties and
supersedes all prior agreements and understandings, agreements or representations by or among
the Parties, written and oral, with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof. This
Agreement may not be amended except by a written agreement executed by Purchaser and
Sellers.
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9.11 Third Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement will not confer any rights or remedies
upon any Person other than the Parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns
other than with respect to a Party Indemnified by Seller or Party Indemnified by Purchaser, who
are intended third party beneficiaries of the provisions set forth in Article VII and the Released
Persons who are the intended third party beneficiaries of the provisions set forth in Section 5.4
and Section 5.9.

9.12 Governing Law; Forum; Waiver of Jury Trial. This Agreement will be governed
by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to the
principles of conflicts of law thereof. Any judicial proceeding brought with respect to this
Agreement must be brought in any court of competent jurisdiction in the State of Delaware, and,
by execution and delivery of this Agreement, each Party (a) accepts, generally and
unconditionally, the exclusive jurisdiction of such courts and any related appellate court, and
irrevocably agrees to be bound by any judgment rendered thereby in connection with this
Agreement, and (b) irrevocably waives any objection it may now or hereafter have as to the
venue of any such suit, action or proceeding brought in such a court or that such court is an
inconvenient forum. EACH PARTY WAIVES THE RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL WITH
RESPECT TO ANY DISPUTE RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT.

9.13 Assignment. This Agreement and all of the provisions hereof will be binding
upon and inure to the benefit of the Parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted
assigns, except that neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, interests or obligations under
this Agreement may be assigned or delegated (a) by any Seller without the prior written consent
of Purchaser in each instance, or (b) by Purchaser without the prior written consent of Sellers’
Representative; provided, however, that, notwithstanding the foregoing, Purchaser may assign
any or all of its rights pursuant to this Agreement (including its rights to indemnification) and
any other agreements contemplated hereby or delivered pursuant hereto without the consent of
Sellers Representative to any of its lender(s) as collateral security, to an Affiliate of Purchaser or
Parent, or to any Person or Persons that acquire all or substantially all of the assets of Purchaser.

9.14 Expenses. Purchaser will be responsible for all costs, fees and expenses incurred
by Purchaser in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby,
except that in the event the Closing occurs, the Company will be responsible for all such
amounts. Sellers will be jointly and severally responsible for all legal expenses incurred or
payable by any Seller or the Company in connection with this Agreement and the transactions
contemplated hereby and thereby.

9.15 Data Site; Disclosure. Within seven (7) Business Days following the Closing,
Sellers will deliver to Fredrikson & Byron, P.A., a CD with all information which the Company
or any Seller posted, filed, saved, or otherwise made available to Fredrikson & Bryon, P.A. and
Purchaser on that certain online data site maintained by or on behalf of Sellers and the Company
and related to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. A document will be considered
“made available”, “delivered” or other substantially terms if the document was provided to
Purchaser or was posted to such data site and continuously available for review for a period of
two (2) business days prior to the Closing Date.

[Signature pages follow]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOQF, this Unit Purchase and Contribution Agreement has been
duly executed and delivered by, or on behalfl of, the Parties, as of the date first above written,

FURCHASER:

GABRIEL PERFORMANCE PRODUCTS, LLC

s
N
N

ST

\0 feomniieamaasasan s ¢

d\:\ﬁ“:‘i&‘m e ﬁ_ww_wmmw‘w" T i
By: Seth Tomasch

its: President and Chiefl Executive Officer

{Signaiure Page so Unit Purchose Agreement]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOQF, this Unit Purchase and Contrtbution Agrsement has been
duly executed and delivered by, or on behalf of, the Parties, as of the date first above writien.

SELLERS:

Harvinder {Hary) Anand

Albert I, Royee, 11

Wytie H. Royee

Vietwr Villafranca

{Signature page 1o Unit Purchase Agreement]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Unit Purchase and Contribution Agreement has been
duly executed and delivered by, or on behalf of, the Parties, as of the date first above written.

SELLERS:

Harvinder (Harry) Anand

Albert J. Royce, 11T

7

Wylie H. ﬁoyce

Victor Villafranca

[Signature page to Unit Purchase Agreement]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Unit Purchase and Contribution Agreement has been
duly executed and delivered by, or on behalf of, the Parties, as of the date first above written.

SELLERS:

Harvinder (Harry) Anand

Albert J. Royce, 111

Wylie H. Royce

Victor Villafranca

[Signature page to Unit Purchase Agreement]
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Exhibit 1.4(a)

Sample Working Capital Statement

See attached.
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Reyoe international ~ Net Weorking Capital Methedology Proposal

Comments

Represents cash:yet 1o b reclassiied due to timing differences
Temporary holding account

Mar-18 | Calculated

5000 Mar-17  Apr-17 May-17 Jun-17  Juk7 Aug17 Sep17 Oct17 Nov-17 Dec17 Jan-18 Feb18 i LTM AtClose | AtClose
Current assets
Cash & cash equivalents 494 650 532 532 1,089 782 891 1,368 1,375 1,326 893 1,533 956 440
Accounts receivable 2917 2786 3,180 3752 3737 4667 4862 3912 3,142 2849 3,195 46361 3,632 5,064
Inventory 6964 681 7001 783 8791 9362 9503 9871 980 9767 9207 76611 8559 7,684
Other current assets 2 18 10 22 59 3 10 20 8 14 (1) 3 14 4
Current assets 10,377 10,345 10,674 12108 13,677 14,815 15265 15172 14416 13,955 13,295 138341 13,161 13,192
Surrent Ksoiities
Accounts payable 2222 1,886 1,788 2764 3218 3,157 3329 2987 2361 2637 2156 25531 2588 2,747
Accrued s 361 335 312 835 947 1,000 1,379 1,370 1425 1,072 1,040 1,166 937 718
Other current liabilities 102 102 103 102 102 102 102 60 61 60 95 86 % 81
Current liabilities 2685 2323 2208 3701 4267 4259 4810 4417 3847 3769 3291 38061 B8615 3,544
Reported NWC 7,692 8022 B8A70 8407 9410 10,556 10,456 10,755 10,569 10,186 10,004 10,028} 9,546 9,648
£chustons trom Fopide WS
i Cash (494 (650)  (532)  (532) (1,089)  (782)  (891) (1,368) (1,375) (1,326)  (893) (1,583)}  (956) (440)
ii) Duty refunds 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 27

) Undeposited funds @ 10) (26) 6] an @ ® © (16) (36) 10) (16) (12) -
) Payroll float - - - an (56) - - 14 - © - - ®) -
v) Gustomer deposits 43 43 44 43 43 43 43 1 2 2 36 27 31 22
Exclusions from Reported NWG (427)  (589)  (486)  (483) (1,092)  (713)  (827) (1,354) (1,362) (1,342)  (839) (1494)1 (918) (391)
Defined NWC 7,265 7,432 7,984 7,924 8318 9,843 9,620 9401 9,207 8844 9,165 8534 8629 9,257
Fofertiat aiustrenis idontiticd
1) One-time inventory purchases - - - (1558 (472) (714 (728) (1,525) (1,352)  (977)  (834)  (5683) - N
2) Nommalized AP accruals 120 122 124 673 675 677 1,138 1,140 1,142 614 616 618 638 - N
3) Nommalized employee bonus accrual 124 105 ) 43 124 163 66 43 76 276 236 342 138 - N
4) E&O reserve 508 488 462 365 73 (63) @7 (129 64 (150) (60) (54) 112 - Y
5) AR credits 147 147 147 147 147 147 147 147 147 147 147 147 147 147 Y
6) Reversal of GST/HST accrual 49 49 49 49 49 49 49 49 49 49 49 49 49 46 Y
7) Nommalized ADA 59 59 58 57 56 51 50 49 48 48 47 46 52 46 Y
Total adjustments to Defined NWG 1,007 969 898 1,334 970 552 699 577 (127)  (368) 57 314 574 239
Adjusted NWC 8272 8401 8883 9,258 9,288 10,395 10,328 9,978 9,080 B8A75 9,222 8848 9,202 9,495

A Net Working Capital Peg Proposal
(Based on LTM February)

B. Estimated Net Working Capital
(Provided by Royce on 4.2.2018)

(B.- A. + C.) Working Capital True Up Payment
(Due to Sellers / (Owed to Buyers))

9,496

294

)

alarge; UStomex:
88 AVBAIDFY. Al LA G Ga WA Sagmert
N htany.
Primanily acerusd maragement & director fees:
Primarily-fo: ol s b
Basad o reversing Target: Ard et A e SKU Vel H iy for e
Target had eim T ing 2013 and 2018} Credit bt ngver taken: @ terilisbility.
i i tudad:in oast; craating: s NWCimpact for thiat should: et 10zt
Targel treatod: i g Dec: 18, A iew i basad orwiite:offs:
Arialysia o b Tor iatest i available prior o i jofel
2 s providad by Seller <3 dags prisribicloss: ther finsi Yot cioss and st et up for bl
s i Net Working: Gapiel Grsaiter thari foeg; e o Buyer if. NWG & ass Hian peg

Creniation provided by Meragement

satiry puichasss
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Exhibit 1.5(c)

Allocation Statement

Purchaser and the Sellers agree that for U.S. federal income Tax purposes the Purchase Price will
be allocated among the assets of the Company deemed purchased and sold in accordance with
the following methodology:

Cash
(Class I)

Marketable Securities and
Certificates of Deposit
(Class 1)

Accounts Receivable
(Class 1II)

Inventory
(Class 1V)

Prepaid Expenses and Other
Current Assets
(Class V)

Leasehold Improvements,
Machinery and Equipment,
Furniture and Fixtures and
Vehicles

(Class V)

Investment in RP International,
LLC
(Class V)

Certain Intangibles

(Class VI)

Goodwill and Going Concern
Value

(Class VII)

The Amount of Cash purchased in USD, as finally
determined.

Not applicable

Amounts included in Closing Working Capital, as
finally determined, excluding the portion attributable to
RP International, LLC.

Amounts included in Closing Working Capital, as
finally determined, excluding the portion attributable to
RP International, LLC.

Amounts included in Closing Working Capital, as
finally determined, excluding the portion attributable to
RP International, LLC.

Leasehold improvements, machinery and equipment,
furniture and fixtures, and vehicles, shall be allocated a
portion of the Purchase Price equal to their respective
fair market values, which the parties agree for this
purpose equals their net book value immediately prior
to the Closing.

Investment in RP International, LLC shall be allocated
a portion of the Purchase Price equal to its fair market
value, which the parties agree for this purpose equals
the net book value immediately prior to the Closing.

$-0-

Remainder of the amount not allocated above.

TRADEMARK
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DISCLOSURE SCHEDULE
to
UNIT PURCHASE AGREEMENT
among
GABRIEL PERFORMANCE PRODUCTS, LLC
HARVINDER (HARRY) ANAND,
ALBERT J. ROYCE 111,
WYLIE H. ROYCE
and VICTOR VILLAFRANCA,
the members of
ROYCE INTERNATIONAL, LLC,

dated as of

April 5, 2018

Attached hereto is the Disclosure Schedule to that certain Unit Purchase Agreement, dated as of
April 5, 2018 (the “Agreement”), by and among Gabriel Performance Products, LLC, an Ohio
limited liability company (the “Purchaser”), and Harvinder (Harry) Anand, Albert J. Royce,
Wylie H. Royce and Victor Villafranca (each, a “Seller”, and together with the Company, the
“Sellers”), the members of Royce International, LLC, a Florida limited liability company (the
“Company”). Any capitalized terms defined in this Disclosure Schedule shall have the same
meaning when used in any other Section of the Disclosure Schedule, unless the context clearly
requires otherwise.

Section references used in this Disclosure Schedule are to sections of the Agreement pursuant to
which the information is being disclosed and have been provided for reference only. In addition,
headings contained in the Disclosure Schedule are for convenience of reference only and shall
not be deemed to modify or influence the interpretation of the information contained herein or in
the Agreement. Matters reflected in the Disclosures Schedule are not necessarily limited to
matters required by the Agreement to be reflected in the Disclosure Schedule. Such additional
matters are set forth for informational purposes and do not necessarily include other matters of a
similar nature.

Information disclosed in one section of this Disclosure Schedule shall be deemed to be disclosed
in such other sections of this Disclosure Schedule and applicable to such other representations
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and warranties to the extent that the disclosure is reasonably apparent to an independent third
party from a reading of such disclosure item to be applicable to such other section of this
Disclosure Schedule and such other representations and warranties. This Disclosure Schedule
may include items and information that are not “material” relative to the entire business of the
Company or Seller, taken as a whole, and such inclusion shall not be deemed to be an
acknowledgment or agreement that any such item or information (or any non-disclosed item or
information of comparable or greater significance) is “material” or to further define the meaning
of such term for purposes of the Agreement or otherwise.

In disclosing this information, the Company expressly does not waive any attorney-client

privilege associated with such information or any protection afforded by the work-product
doctrine with respect to any of the matters disclosed or referenced herein.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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DISCLOSURE SCHEDULE

Section 2.1(a) — Organization and Qualification
Section 2.3 — Transfer Restrictions
Section 2.4 — Capitalization

Section 2.5 - Subsidiaries

Section 2.6(a) — Financial Statements
Section 2.6(c) — Accounts Receivable
Section 2.6(e) — Refund of Duties

Section 2.7 — Indebtedness

Section 2.8 — Absence of Certain Changes
Section 2.10(a) — Compliance with Laws and Regulations; Permits
Section 2.11(a) — Tax Matters

Section 2.12 — Environmental Matters
Section 2.13(a) — Intellectual Property
Section 2.14 — Real Property

Section 2.15 — Litigation

Section 2.16(a) — Employee Benefits
Section 2.16(e) — Multiple Employer Plans
Section 2.17 — Insurance

Section 2.18 — Material Contracts

Section 2.18(b) — Consents

Section 2.19 — Employee Leave

Section 2.20 — Employee Matters

Section 2.21 — Affiliate Transactions
Section 2.22 — Brokerage

Section 2.23 — Suppliers and Customers
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Section 2.24 — Financial Accounts and Authority
Section 2.25 — Warranties and Certifications; Product Liability
Section 3.4 — Title to Equity

Section 3.7 — Brokerage
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Section 2.1(a

Organization and Qualification

None.
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Section 2.3
Transfer Restrictions

Section V(C) of the Operating Agreement of Royce International, LLC, dated as of June 30,
2012, by and among Royce International, LLC, Harvinder Anand, A. Jay Royce, III, Wylie H.
Royce, Victor Villafranca and Ronald Bluestein, contains certain right of first refusal obligations
exercisable by the Sellers and the Company in the event that a member seeks to transfer his
Company membership interests to a third party. The Sellers and the Company will not exercise
such rights of first refusal in connection with the closing.
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Section 2.4
Capitalization

Current Capitalization of Royce International, LLC:

Member Units Percent Ownership
Harvinder Anand 25 31.46%
Albert Jay Royce, 111 25 31.46%
Wylie H. Royce 25 31.46%
Victor Villafranca 4.47 5.62%
TOTAL 79.47 100.00 %
TRADEMARK
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Section 2.5
Subsidiaries

The Company has no Subsidiaries but owns 50% of the membership interests of RP
International, LLC, a Florida limited liability company (“RP International”).
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Section 2.6(a)

Financial Statements

See attached.
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ROYCE INTERNATIONAL, LLC
PINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Dzcowber 37, 2014

{Revigwed)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS : S 7
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? 3
Certified Public Accountants »
75 Mountain Boudevard = Watchung, New Jersey 87068 « 908-581-1600

‘Mickaet Koo, VFA

o ¥, Songlivn, OP {1086 - 20113

Raymond &, Sagelini, OPA

Spven N Sxbald, OB INDEPENDENT ACUQUNTANT'S REVIEW REPORT
Thousas J. Roatler (P4

Soffeey . Weinsicln, CRA

Eflexs Burrinn; NS i
Bourd of Directors
Hoyee International, LLC
Ssrasota, Florida

We have roviewed the acconpanying balance sheet of Royes International, LLC as of December 31, 2014, sad
the related statemarts of ncome and partneey” capital and cash Hows for the vear then ended. & revisw
melodes privenily applying anaivtical procedorss by mansgements Srnancial daty aud making inquiries of
Company mansgement. A review s substantialiy fess in scope than an audit, the ohjective of which i the
expression of an opinion regarding the Suencial statements as a whole. Ascordingly, we do not express such
an opinion.

Management is responsibde for the preparation and Rur prossotation of the Huancial steterents in accmdanse
with accounting principles gonerally accepted in the United States of America and v dos igning,
tplomenting, and mainiaining bderval control selevant to the prepasntion and fuir presentation of the financial
statements,

Cur vesponsibility is to conduct the review in acvordance with Statements on Standards for Avcounting and
Review Servives iasued b’« the American Institute of Certified Public Accoantants, Those standards require us
to perform procedurss io obtais limited axsranice that there mee ni imateriad modificativus that should be sade
tor the financial statements. We believe that the results of our provedures provide a reasonable basis for our
repunt.

Based on our review, with the sxception of the matter deseribed in the follow g paragraph, We ae not gware
of any mmterial mudifications that should be made to the ¢ x:cumpgms ing financial staterents in order for them
tr be in conformity with acconnting prinviples generally scoepted In the United States of America,

As disclosed in Note 7 s the francial stetoments, tocounting peinciples gene crally accepted in the United
Sates of Amavican require the pnmms beneficiary of a xasmi‘i ¢ fnterest entity fv consolidate the variable
iiterest gntily in is financial Matessents. The Company’s financial statements do not include the account of
various entities i which the same ;‘&iiﬁ&is of the Company hold & variable iterest and as the primary
beneficlaries are emitled to receive a majority of the partnership’s residard retiens, The effects of this
departure from accounting principles pererally accepted i the United States of America oo the Hnancial

an

position, results of operations, and cash feaes hurve not beey determined.

.'"

. ,,}

~
L

Sdsed {‘..‘,.ad\.-\\\; S A R O 4

Watchung, New Jersay
March 16, 2813

TRADEMARK
REEL: 006697 FRAME: 0500



ROYCE INTERNATIONAL, LLC
RALANCE SHEET

o ST R SO S T o 1
Spvemddor 31, 2044

ABRRETS

CURRENT ASSETR
Cash
Acoounts receivabie, trade
Tnventory, at cost
Propusd expenass
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETR

PFROPERTY AKD EQUIPMENT, st o, los
seouniated depreciation of $13,143

INVESTMENT IN RP INTERNATIONAL, LLC
TOTAL ASSETR
LIABILITIES AND PARTHERS CAPITAL

CLRRENT WIABILITIES

Accounts payable

Accrued expenses

Nate pavahde, baok

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES

PARTRERS CAPITAL

TOTAL LIARILITHES ARD PARTMERR CAMITAL

REEL: 006697 FRAME: 0501
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ROYUE INTERNATIONAL, LLO

STATEMENTOF

For the Yeur

SALER

COSTOFGOODES0LE
Beginning iventony
Parehases

Total availat
Frding inventy

Transportation
Faotory axpeonses

TOTAL CQST OF GOODS SDLD
GROSS PROETY

SELLING, OENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE
EXPENARES

Labor and wages
Divectors” fees
Intorest expowss, nat
Travel
Managoment foos
Pavvoll taxes
Bent and property taxes
Offtce-expense
fﬁﬁiixaﬁk&
Emplover benniits
Professional fees
Enteriainown
Seiliing exponses
Miwoellaoeous
Had debt
Research and developant

INCIME BEFORE OTHER [RCOME
PARTNERSHIP INCUME, RP btematiagd, LLC
NET INCOME

PARTNERS CAPITAL, beginning of year

LESK: distributions

FARTNERS CAPITAL, end of year

Segac mmmmm notes and independent secounint’s

COME AND PARTNE

3L

Faded December 345, 2

review report,

ERENCAPIRAL

Mg

SA88aE

Ae2iadn

1727445
TE00

N3 '\‘{\
181,147
1080080
112,718
39442
48491
1300687
TRORS
TR
41,063
49,313
MLE26
27T
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ATIONAL LI
CASH FLOWS
Decepther I, 207148

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING &CTIVITIES
Net incoms
Inosne from RP Detsraational, LLO
Adivstments o reconeile net Ibéome to vt eash
provided by c»pemz’in;; activities:
{neressed dedrbase is assets
Avstumts recstvable, tde
?.manmt}-, abcow
"gmisi SXpenses
{hher qanats

Tngrease {dac.rerszsa} i Habilites
Acvounts payable 1,390,393
Avvayed exponsss ST ¢ T30

NET CAYH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES L3088

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING SCTIVITIES
fswribations front BP Intetnational, LEG 191,948

CASH FLOWS FROM FINARCING ACTIVITIEN
Paymant on hagk kean
Procecds from bank i-wzm
Dhstributions fo pwrtse

NET CASH USED IN FENANCING ACTIVITIES

NETINCHEEASE INCASH 8534
CARH herinntng of vear 2R 83

CASH, endof vesr

SUPPLEMENTAL MMECLOSURES OF CARH FLOW INFORMATION

Interest padd

X

Incame taxes paid $ 3R 280

See seovmpanying notes and independent acvotstants review repor,
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Note

ROYCE INTERNATION
NOTES TQ FINANCIAL s‘i

k -Cit???"tf‘ 24 *

AL, LLC
RMENTS

P BURMARY GF SIGNIBICANT SCCOUNTING PULICIES

Higlory of Compsny
Rovyce Internationad, LLU, (ihe Company™) s 8 Hindted Hability company, orsaiized under the Staie of Florida
i dune 2012,

¥

012, Koves nonatiousd Carpowas sooverted to Rovvee International, LA wndevtha laws of the

O Fome 30,
lorida.

State ol F

restas and dyes which are wsed b cpoxy-and other mbuurs

.

-aien% ﬂ:u‘}rfssh\ﬁ shori-teroy highly iqund wvestiments, which wa readily convertible frcashowithan

seigingd mabheity of thres mombizor fese at the date af " purchases

At tines, cash hadanneg xmd af Hnanokal stittions mge b do exvegs of the federally sured Yl o 280,060
A times during the year, these balanses may have sxocaded fodorathy nxurad finita,

A

%c\, aunis recsivable consist of tradde recolvables recorded W ovighual imvaice amounts less an oxtimated

Heamge Tor ancoliectible accounts. Trade credit is generally extendad o g shortsam i 35 dhay toade
regsiviables dueaad beay interest, aithough a fosnve charge mav be apphiad ;Lwnabm that are past due,
Trade seesiv smi 23 are pefmciu.ad evaluated for collcombilior based wn pagt oredt histories with custoresrs and
e B NS, {,h&ﬂ&l s 11 the estimated collectability of trade “eees\'a{'s sw are recorded in
the resul <.t sparaiions im’ the pariod in which the estlvates are revised, Trade receivables that are deenied
uncoliectible are offvet against the dlowanes Yor vrevilectile uconunts, The Company monen by does not
require seilateral for frade veceivables.

A%
3RS

Py

inve

shories are valsed af the bewer of cost (firstein, Srst-out rosthod) or market,
ssaitnents
frments are recerded under the equity methiod of accounting.

Proparteand Baulpnes
Broperty and vquipraent are vecarded af cost. Depreciation & _
gstimated weefiil Hves ofthe axseta, Mulntenanos and repaivsare chavgedan sxp cvw BE

Kevenue Bevoenition

The Company records revenug when s pradast s shipped and fitle sod risk of Joas passes to the vustomer,
Slilpping and Handling

Asoanty kiled w oustoners in ¢ sai o wansaction selated to shipplog and handling are inciuded iy rovemse a8
reguired by the Fhunoial Secounting Standards Bowrd (FASE) Breruing tewses Vask Foroe (K PEY Contsentsng
Hepovt G0~ 1.

The preparation of financial sistements in conformiy with generally acvepted acvounting principles requires
smanagerast W make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported mnounts of sssen dud Habilities and
sdisclosare of contingent sssets and Habifities at the iife\f“‘- fhe financiaf starementts and the fep:.meﬁ amowrsnd
revandes and expenses during the period. Actuad vesults could differ o those setimates.

173
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Note 4 -

Note 8 -

Note 6.~

Note 7~

Note 8 -

Note &«

ROYCE INTERNATIONAL, LLC
KOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {CONTINUED)Y
December 31, 2004

ECONOMIC DEPENDENCY

The Company has two suppliers who provided approximately 28%% of #ts products, and one customer who
accounted for 9% of the Company’'s sales.

AFFRIATER COMPANY TRANSACTIONS

The Company collects a management fee from RY International, LLT for processing its transactions, The
related managernent fou collected by the Company for 2014 was §26,433. lnvluded inother tncome for the year
ended Decombeor 31, 2014 s $26,453, This fee was offset against the expenses of the Company.

The Company utilizes a warshouse in Newark, New Jersey which is leased by an affiliated company. The
affifiate bills the Company @i a monthly basis for a percenisge of rent and overhead asspciated to thespace it

usitizes. During 2014, the Company recorded warchouse expense of $288,540 relating to this space.

NOTE PAYABLE - BANK

O Seprensher 12, 2012, the Company entered into arevolving Hine of credit with Wells Fargo Bank, NA. The
fine expireson September 30, 2016 with a Himit not to exveed $5,5300,000, The outstanding balance will bear
interest at a rate of 1.75% over the datly one month LIBOR rate. This Hue is coliateralized by all the accownts
receivable, inventory and equipment of the Company and is also sabject to firancial covenants and Hndiations

-

as set forth in the foan agresment. The balance of the note was 83,534,500 at December 31, 2814,

VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES

The Cornpany does not include in its financial statements various entities under comnton ownership and/or
conteelk. Thess entities have been detenmined o be variable interest engities inwhich the Campany and Hs
owniers are the primary beneficiaries ofthe result of these entities. The amount of related party transactions is
not material to-the Company’s Prancial statements and i3 not readily deterntinable.

RETVIBEMENT PLAN

The Company has instituted a 401 (k) retirement plan covering salaried employess who have attained age 21 and
completed one year of service. Salary deferral contributions range from 1%t 18% percemt of cligible
compensation up to the statutory limit. The Company will match $.23 for each §1 of cach salary deferral
comiribution to & maximua of 1% of compensation.  After three vears of service, the participants are fudly
vested. The Company’s contribotion for 2014 totaled $2,330.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Subsequesnt events have beenevaluated through March 16, 2015, whick is the date the financial statorents were
available to be ssued.
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ROYCE INTERNATIONAL, LLC
FINANCIAL SEATEMENTS
December 31, HHA

{Reviewed}
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SCONTENT

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS REVIEW REPORT it oo s s s |
STATEMENT OF ISCOME AND PARTHRERS CAPITAL v R R— i ORI PN 3

ROTES TOFINANCIAL STATEMENTS s s s s s s i St S R
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Coriified Public Sccommfanty
T35 Mounludy Bowlevard ¢ Walchomyg, New Jersey (17088 » S8R-B81-1888

Michaet Ross, TRA

Joka X, Angh, (28 (1948 2011}

Ravimond & Sngeltd SFR

Staven M. Sabeld, KR

Thowmue § Rreitien OF8 WNBEPENDENT ACCOUNTANT'S REVIEW REPORT
Softvey BL Wetiatehn, 0P8

Fion Rasxison, 88 T

To Management
Royee Iternational, LLC
Rarasota, Florida

Wi bave reviswed thy socompanying Hnmotal statements of Rovee International, LLO, which clunprise the
balance sheet as of Decersber 31, 2015, and the related statements of inemue and pariners” capitel and cash
flows fin the vear then ended, and the related notey 1o the Dauneial sttomeants, A review includes primandy
ving snalytios! procedares to mansgement s finavwial data and making lnguiries of company management,
A review Ix substantially less i scope than an audit, the ohiective of which is thy axpressiva of an opinion
reparding the financial statements as g whole, Acowdingly, we di not sxpress such an opinion.

Managentent’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Managemunt 15 responsible for the preparation and fidr prosontation of these fivancial slatements in avcordance
with accounting principles generally acoepled in the United States of Amerion; this includes the desigs,
implementation, and maintenance of teral vontrol wlovant fo the preparation and fair prosentation of

financial statements that sre free frow materisd misstaiomont whether dus to frand ov srror
Acesuntant’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to condact the review engagemsat in accordanee with Statements on Standards for
Ascounting and Review Services promulgated by the Accounting snd Review Servicss Comunittee of the
AJCPA. Those standards require us to perfhem procedures to obtein mitted ssnurancs ax a basts for reporting
whether we are aware of myy mattenial moditications thatshould be nrade to the financial staterents for then to
e by sccordance with accounting principles genersily accepted i the United States of America. We believe
that the resulis of sur procedures provide areasonable basiy for s raport,

Aesountani’s Conclusion

Based on our review, sxeept for the sue noted in the Known Departwre From Accounting Principlus
Crenerally Acocpied in the United States of Ameriea paragraph, we ars not aware of auy material modificationy
thut should he made wo the accompanying fnancial slements in order for theny to be i sceordance with

accounting principies gonvrally accepted By the United States of America,

&
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s, Aneran, Aveset & 0o, we

Corsifad Public Actauatals

To Managerment
Royee Internstional, LEC
Page Two

Known Departore from Accounting Principles Generally Accopted in the United States of Americs

Avcoutsing principles generally scoepted m the United States of America roquire management 16385088
whother the Compsny has o controlling interest in any entities fn whick the Company has a variable interestin
grder to determine if those entities should be consolidated. Masagement has vot performed the required
asseesment and therefore, ¥ theve are variable intorest entities for which the Company 18 the primwy
beneficiary, has not consolidated thuse entities. Although, mansgoment has not determined the effects on the
finzncial statemnents of the failure o perform the required assewment, many elements in the financial
statements would besn swterially affected had mansgement determnined that the Company i the primary
serefiotary of any variable interast entition,

e s
.,.1' Sy 3 ~
i 3 ] . &
R e REOIRE EEREN > S : 5 § o8
LRFRE SERRESS RO &3
4
p%

Watchung, New Jersey
March 18, 20186
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ROYOCE INTERNATIONAL, LLC
BALANCE SHEEY

Drecenrher 31, 3643

ASSETS

CURKRERT ASSETS

Cash and cash squivaionts

Accounts receivnble, not of slfowanss for doubifid
goconty 6F S5LH00

fiwentorny, at cost

Fropaid expooses

TOTAL CURRENT ARSETS

OFFICE BQUIPMENT, atvost, loss
scounmiated depreciadion of IR

INVESTMENT IN BP INTERNATIONAL LI
TOTAL ARSETS
LIABILITIES AND PARTNERS  CAMTAL

CURBENT LIABILITIES

Note payabsie. bank

Avcounts pavable

Averued £xponsss

TOTAL CURBENT LIABILITIES

PARTNERS CAPITAL

TOTAL LIABILITIER AND PARTNERS' CARITAL

See sorompanying notes and ndependent aconundant’ L reviow mpott.
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ROYCE INTERNATIONAL LLC
STATEMENT OF INCOME AND PARTNERS CAPMITAL

For the Year Ended December 31, 2845

CQST OF GOODDS SGLE
Beginniny ventory
Porchases

Total avaiiabic for sale
Ending nventory

Transportation
Factory exponses

TOTAL COST GF GUODS SOLD

ROSS PROFIT

5 G OENERALAKD ADMINIBTRATIVE
f X PENKER
Labar and wages

Directory” fogs
Interest oxponss

Traved ;47 38
Manaporsen feos FIZO00
Payroll taxes ard partnership layes 154,167
Reutand propecty tages ST.40R
Gifice expense 45344
Inswrancs 7 046
Einploves beuchite 44408
Frofossional fens AR
Enteriainnierd 331927
Selling exponses 87,287
Siscollonemn 1RG7
Bad dein 21848
Ressarch and development e 5%

T AL SELLENG, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES ERUZANRN)

INCOME REFORE OUTHER IRCOME 384,160

PRVESTMENT INCDME

NET INUOME

PARTNERS CAPITAL, beginning of year 474840

S gt -
LESS dintpibutions G 13

PARTNERS CAFITAL, end ofysar

See acsontpanying notes and independent aocoumant’s rovidy oot

“x

Lk
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ROYCE ENTEKNATK‘}NALS LLC
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Forthe Year Ended Devenber 31, 2045

CABH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Met ineone
Incomme from RE International, LLC
Adjustments to reooncile net Bgpme to-netcash
provided by operating sctivitiey:
{Increase) decrense In assets
Accouns reeeivable, trade
brventory, at cast
Prepaid expenses
increass fdecrease in Hahilities
Adeonnts payable
Agcruacd expenses

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

CASHFLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIRES
Distributions from RP lntermational, LLC

CASHFLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payment on bank low
Procesds from bagk lean
Distribuiions to partners

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND BEQUIVALENTS, beginning of yvear
CASH AND EQUIVALENTS end-of year

SUPPLEMENTAL MISCLOSUBES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Interest paid

See accompanying notes and independent ecaintant’s review report,

§ 837,430
(230,828}

{1.009,43%)
107,659

(4700800}
27585000
BRUNERY

L AL85L135)

60046
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Mote b~

ROYCE INTERNATIONAL, LLC
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Pecember 3§, 3013

ORCGANFATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Organization

P

Rovee International, LLO, (ke Conpany™) v & Hoxited Hability vempany, organized sader the Stats of Flovida
i),\ June 2012,

o

Ciny funie 30, 2012, Roves Internativant Corp. was comverind fo Rovoe Internattonal, LL wnder the faews ot the
Riatent Fim:s{ia‘

Natwre of Operstions
The Company imports and exports resing and dyos fioagh out the United States of Aserion which are used in
TRONA S “m*i other nuixiures,

Liss of Estinsales

The proparativregf financial statenantz in cc»sxi‘c»m*;i*\-* with generally sccopied acepunting principles reguing
Srner i make cetinates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts (si"a- m,i" s;-sd Habifities angd

ég chosureof contingentasseis and Habilives atf-n- dute of the Snancizd statenends and the repovted snows of
reventes wnd cxponses duting the poried Actual rosualts conehd dif¥er from

e;;s*mest@&

sroashowithan

At times, cash balances held at Bnancial institutions miy bo in excoss of S fodorally nsured Tt of 256,800,
At times during the vear, theae balmoes may have sxocadasd fadervally snsured it

Accourds Recehmbls

<§s:t:'mmas r8ee dvable con £ tade voccivabies recorded at originad ovoice wmponts liss an estiroated

slfewanee “”*wm T k credivis generally exdended ona shorttenn %*esxs g thas trade
yoeetvables isiwm*{x inmnce charge may be applied fo reontvables that are past ﬁm
Trade revanvables arg pyy amimsd vehsated m‘*mii setatnlity ‘h:swci cr st crodit histories vt onstomery and
teables are r.:cm'dud i

1h clreurrent finaneial »,(xn(img,m (.‘isa es i the estirpatiod collcetabiy wlitrade we
B resulis of operations for e period in which he estinites st rmmd Trade reseivables that e decired
ancctisciible are offist spainst the alfowance for uncolicetible acconmts. The Co npz 36¥ »<>si»:za§‘v does not
reguire colateral for ade recatvables

ortes are valued w e Tower of cost { frstdn, Hrstoout mefhody or magket,

arts

Tnvestoents we recorded ander the quity methed of aceonnting.

roperty and Bouipment
roperty and squipiment are recorded at costt De pm: atton is compited o the straizbt-line method sver
cstinmted neeful lives of the asseis, Maintvanoe aud ropaies are charged 1o oxpenss @ ncuesd,

|

Bovense Bemogitian
The Company recoeds sevenue when 4 product i shipped sod tithe and risk of loss prages to the anipnen

Shivping snd Handling
Srvounts bitled to customers i a sale ivasaction related o shipping sod handling are inchrded b rovenne.

A
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ROYCE INTERNATIONAL, LLC
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {CONTINUED)
December 31, 20135

Mote'b - SUMMARY OF SIGMNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continusd)

Compensatod Absences

Employees of the Company are entitled to paid vacation and sick days, depending on fength of service and other
factors. It is impractical to estimate the aveunt of sompensation for age absenges, and, accordingly, no
tHability has been teeorded in the accompanying fisancial statements. The Company’s policyisto recognize the
costs of compensated absences when actually paid to erployees.

Income Tuxes

For federal and statc purposes, the Company 15 a partnership and, 5 such, the meoms tixey are the
responstbility of the respective partners. The Company accounts for wnecrtainties in income taxes, which
requires that a tax position be recogmeed or derceo@nized based on a “more-likely-than-not” threshold, This
applies to posttions taken or expected o be taken ina tax return, The Company’s financial statements do not
inchade the effects of any uncertain tax positions at December 31, 2015

The Company files income tax returns in the 1.8, Pederal jurisdiction and vavious states. Fedeml incoms tax
returns for tax years 2012 and beyond remain subigct to examination by the Internal Revenue Service.

Note 2 - INVESTMENT IN RP INTERNATIONAL, LLC

in June 2009, Royce International, LLC (formerly Royoe International Corp.) entered inte a pattnership
agrecment with Palmer International, Inc., forming an equal intevest in & new cotity ealled RP Internationad,
LEC, This inderest was assigned to the Company on June 380, 2612

Note 3~ COMMITMENTS & CONTINGENCIES

The Company moved its office to Sarasota, Florida and enterad into a lease agrecment that extends through
November 14, 2016, Included i rent expense is $21,627 for 2015,

On August 1, 2012, the Company entered into an operating fease with a related company. The term of the lease
15 10 years and monthly rent 15 $1,709 through September 2015 increasing to $1,738, thereafter. Rent wall

annpally increase by the constinter prioe index. Included in rent expense is $20,642 for 2015,

The future nuintmam rental payments are gs folloses:

2016 § 42,356
2817 pR22
018 20822
2016 21,822
20620 KRR
Thereafter 32,968

f
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ROYCKE INTERNATIONAL, LLC
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS{CONTINUED)
Becenber 34, 2045

Note 4 - BECONOMIC DEPENDENCY

The Contpany has two suppliers who provided approximately 46% of its products doring 2013,

Note 3= RELATED PARTY

The Company collects & management fee from R Interaatioral, LLC for procossing ifs iransaetions. The
related management fee cpllected by the Company for 2015 was $22:44 Zandis included o other income foe the

year ended Decomber 31,2085, This foe was offset against the sxpenses of the Company,
The Company patd ront to a related pavty 51 8§14,750 as of December 31, 2015,

Mote 6 - NOTE PAYABLE - BANK

On Septerpher 12, 2012, the.Company entered o avevolving Uneof credit with Wells Fargo Bank, N4&. The
tine expizes on September 30, 2036 with a hmit nobto exveed $§500,000. The outstanding balance will bear
mierestata rateof 1.75% over the daily onemonth LIBOR rate, This Haeds volluteralized by altthe secounts
recctvable, inventory andequipment of the Corapany and is also subjoct to financial eovenants and Haodtstions
a5 set Torth in the loan agreement. At December 31, 2015, the available balance for additional borrowings
totafed §3.010,500,

Note 7 - INVESTMENT INCOME

Favestment income fior the year snded December 31, 2013 corgisty of the following bm RP Intemationsl LEC:
Management fee & 22442

Net iheorne

Note 8- RETIREMENT PLAN

The Company hag mshitufed a 401k retiroment plan covering salaried enployees who have attained age 2 1 and
compleisd wng vear of service.  Salary defereal pontributions vangs from 1% to 18% percent of aligible
compensation up to the statutory limit. The Company will match $.23 for each 51 of each salary deferral
gontribution to aanaxinugn of 195 of compensationy, Afler three years of service, the participants sre fully
vesied: ThoUompany s contyibation for 2015 totaled 52,089

Note § - BUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Subsequent events have been evaluated through March 16, 2016, which is the date the financial statements were
availahle to bedssued.

~3
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ROYCE INTERNATIONAL, LLC
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Decamber 3], 2016

{Revipwed)

TRADEMARK
REEL: 006697 FRAME: 0516



SCONTENTS-

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANT S REVIEW REPORT Lot i ontermas i imss sos e oo smssserssssarss s isessssss seses §
BALANCE SHEET...ox R R £ e s b e s e R s re et et ceseanti e s aaver 2
STATEMENT OF INCOME AND'CHANGES IN MEMBERY GAPETAL ..o K S G e 3
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS e et e aes v b S b e S PR PRI

T S T PN AN AL ST A TEMENTS o s sresaerssssnrrars sesoms e esiaras pessis s s s snsss sesean s sess 504 e v oS8 38100 0500 £

TRADEMARK
REEL: 006697 FRAME: 0517



! Certified Public Accountants
775 Mountain Boulevard « Watchung, New Jevsey 07060 « 808-561-1600

Michaed Ross; OP3

oo N. Anglhe, CPA (1548 - 2011}
Raymoad A Angeling €A

Steven M. Sebuld, CPR

Thomas 3. Roefther, CPA

el . Wt CFA INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANT’S REVIEW REPORT
Ellers Forison, MS Thx

For Management
Royes International, LLC
Rarvasota, Flonda

We have reviewed the socompanying financial statements of Royee International, LLC, which comprise the
balance sheet ax of December 31, 2016, and the related statements of income and changes i menbers’ capital
and cash floses for the vear then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements, A review includes
orimarily applving snalvtical procedures to management’s financial data and making inguities of company
management, A review is substantially less in scope than an asdit, the ohjective of which is the expression of
an opinion regarding the fisancial staternents as 4 whole, Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion,

Manasgement’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and {air presentation of these financial slaterments in accordance
with accounting principles generally acoepted in the Linited States of America; this includes the design.

implementation. and maintenance of internal control refevant to the preparation amd {air presentation of
{irancial statemenss that are free from material missiatement whether due 1o frand orerror,

Acgointant’s Respimsibility

Our responsibility s to conduct the review eogagement in agcordance with Staternents on Standards for
Accaunting and Review Services promuleated by the Accounting and Review Services Committee of the
AICPA. Those standards require us fo perform procedures 1o obtain linvted assurance as abasis for reporting
whether we are aware of any material modifications that should be made to the financial statesents for themto
be in avcordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. We believe
thiat the reselis of pur procedires provide 2 ressonable basis for curconclusion

Aceountant’s Counclusion

Bassd on our review, except for the ssue noted in the Koown Departure From Accounting Principles
Generally Aceepted in the Linited States of America paragraph, we are notaware of any matenal moditications
that should be muade 10 the acvompanying foancial statements in order for thom o be in accordance with
accounting principles venerally aceepted 1o the United States of America.
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Ross, Axctim, Averniwi & €0, ue

Cortified Public Accosmiands

To Managemont
Royes Internations!, LLO
Page two

Known Departure from Accounting Principles Generally Accepied in the United States of Americs

Accounting priveiples generally aceepted in the United States of America require management 10 855088
whether the Company has a controlling interest in any entities in which the Company has a variable interest it
avder to determine if those entitios should be consolidated. Management has not performed the reguired
assessment and therefore, if there sve variable interest entities for which the Company is the primary
beneficiary, has not consolidated those entities. Although, management has not determined the effects on the
financial statements of the fatluee to perform the required asscssment, many elements in the financhl
statements sould have been materially affected had mansgement determined that the Company s the priswary
beneficiary of any varinble interest entities,

N ;
£ A n Iy g <
R, B P o AR
Rt fgenbien | RSy s SLE
kS A B
i N
"

Watchung: New lersey
March 31, 2017
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ROYCE INTERNATIONAL, LLC
BALANCE SHERT

Decenthsy 31, 2878

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash eguivalents 5 489
Acepunts receivable, net of allowance for doubtfid 1,390,509
acoouts of STHIZBGO
inventories 6,292,098
Propald expenses 8576

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 7.841,664

INVESTMENRNT IM RFINTERNATIONAL, LLC L 63044

TQTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS CAMTAL

CLIRRENT LIABILITIES

w3
P

1388500
Aceoums pavable 871,148
Accrued Habitities 294003

Liveoforedit

TOTAL CURRENT LIABHITIES 25854741

MEMBERS CAPITAL 6018867

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS CAPITAL SR273.708

See accorapanying notes and indépendent accountant’s review report.
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ROYCE INTERNATIONAL, LLC
STATEMENT OF INCOME AND CHANGES IN MEMBERS' CAPITAL

For the Year Ended December 31, 2016

NET SALES $20,136.340

COST OF GOODRS S0LD

Beginning inventory 6,117.5883
Purchases 13,868,472
Total available for sale 21986355
Ending inventory - (6,292.&9&

15,683,657

Fransportation 320,618

Factory 399,150

TOTAL COST OF GOODS SCLD 16613474

GROSS PROVIT 3.522.866

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINMISTRATIVE
EXPENSES

Labor and wages 1417252
[Hrgetors” fees 68,000
Interest 28,330
Travel 158,383

Management fees 600,000
Payealt taxes and partnership tases 134,383

Reat and property taxes A0
fice 51,152
Insurance 132,178
Employee benefis 36,978
Professional foes 267,784
Entertainment 75,729

Sefling 37,
Missellaneous 2

Research and developmont !
Bad debt B3040

TOTAL SELLING, GERNERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 3232045
INCOME BEFORE OTHER INCOME 304,823
OTHER INCOME 302003
NET INCOME GO2.826

MEMBERS CAPITAL, beginning of year SN EONE:

MEMBERS CAPITAL, cud of vear 56018867

See accompanying notes ard independent accomstant’s review report.

e
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ROYCE INTERNATIONAL, LLC
STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS
Eopr the Yeogr Ended December 31, 26148

CASH FLOWS FROM-OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Met incame §  HO2.826

Adjustments to reconsile net income to net cash
provided by uperating activities:
tacorne from RP International, LLC REFRI
Changes i operating assefs and Habilities
Accounts receivable 313,138
Inventories {474,815

Prepaid gxpenses {6,705}
Aveounts payable {1.038,78()
Agcrned Babilities £32.7503

NET CASH USEDIN OPERATING ACTIVITIES o Ae344n

CASHFLOWS FROM DINVESTING ACTIVITIES
Distritaitions from RF fnternationad, LLC B Wiy it

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANGING ACTIVITIER
Repayment on line of eredit. net {200,000

NET BECREASE INCASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (B394

CASH AND CASH BOQUIVALENTS, begining of voar e TOEATS

CASH ANDVTASH EQUIVALENTS, cnd of voar

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Cash paid during the vear for inferest

sesand independent stcontant’s roview report,
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ROYCE INTERNATIONAL, LLC
NOTES TOFINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Biecomber 38 2016

Note - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Company hnports and exports resing and dyes though ouf the United States of America which wre used 1a
epony and other prixtures.

Basis of Preseniation
The sccompanying Snancial statements of the Partnership have beey presented in confbrinity with accounting
principtes penerally accepted in the United States of Ameriea AAPTYL

Cash and Cash Eguivalents
Cash equivalents sansist of short-term, highly liquid investments, which are readily converible to cash. withan
ariginal maturity of fires months or less af the date of purehase,

At times, cash batances held at financial institations may be b vaeess of the federally insured limit G $250.000.
At tirnes during the vear, these balances muy have sxcdeded fedevally instred Hmits.

of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted aceounting o7 ms:‘; leg reguires
anasenient to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported anounts of assety amd Habilities and
disclosuee of contingent assets and Habilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amownts of
reveries mid axperises during the period. Actual results could vary frors those estimates used.

Accouits Becgivable

Acvounts reseivable consist of trade receivables recorded at origingl lvoice amounts fess an cslimated
allowance for uncoilectble acoounts. Trade credit s generally extended orea shori-term basis: thus trade
receivables do not bear intevest, although a fivance charge may be applied to receivables that are past due.
Trade receivables are perfodicatly evaluated for collectabibity hased on past credit histories with custowiers and
their current financial conditions. Changed in the estimated collectabifity of trade recelvables are vecorded in
the results of operations for the perod in which the estimates are revised, Trade receivables that ate deemed
uncollectible are offset against the atlowance for uncoliectible aceounts. The Company generally does nat
vequire collateral for rade recsivables,

Inventorias
Inventories are valoed atthe lower of cost{figst-in, first~out method} or market

Properiy
Property and eguipnent are stated at cosy, fess accamulaied depraciationand amaortization. The Pastpership

provides for deprecigtion and amortization using the straight-tine method over the following estimated usefid
Hves of Huee to fifteen yvears,

Maintenance and repairs are charged to operating expense ag incmred. When assets ave retived ot disposed of]
the cost and the related acoumulated depreciation are reversed from the docounts. and any gain or loss is
reflectad o corvent operations.

Hevenus Recognition
The Company records revenue when @ product bs shipped and title and rish of'foss passes w the customer.

Shippbizand Handline
Asaounis bitled to customers o wsale ansacuon refated 1o shipping and handling are tacleded-in revenue,
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Note 3

ROYCE INTERNATIONAL, LILC
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Drecembor. 3, 2018

JCIES

Income Tanes
For tfederal and date purposes, the Compary 13 @ pattnership and; as such, the income faxes are e
responsibiity of the respective members. The Company accpants for uncertaintics in ipcome taxes, which
reguires that 2 tax position be recopnized or devevognized based on a “more-Hikele-than-not” threshold, This
applicy iy positions takest or expected to betaken i atmureturn,. The Company’s Hoancial statements do not
include the effects of any uncentaln tax positions at Degember 31, 2016,

The Company Ties income foorelorns o the U8 Federal jurisdiction and varions siates. Paderalincometas
rerarns Tor tax vears 2093 and bevond reraiin subject to-examinativn by the Internal Revenue Service

Fauity Mathod

The Partnership uses the egquity method of acccunting for is parinership investment,  This partnership
imvestnient iz under commen control and can be significanthy inflnenced through commbn management. Undey
the equity method, ivvestments are carried at costand invreased or decreased by the Partnership’s pro-tata sharve
of earniigs-oe fosses. The-carrving vosts of these investmenty ave also focreased or decressed tor reflect
additional contributions or withdrawals of capital. Any difference in the book equity and the Partrership’s pro-
ruta shate of the net assétgof the investraent will be reported as gain or loss atthe Houidation of the investment.
Losses I excess of the wvestment are recorded when the Partnership is comaitted fo provide additionad
fimancial support to the partnership,

The fair valoe of the partnership fvestiment is not disclosed becanse #t s not practical for the Pavtnership to
satimate the fae valie of this privately-held entity] Thers are no gventd ot chifnges ivcircumstanees that may
have asignificant adverseeffect on the fair value of the nvestment,

Ow fune 8. 2836, the Company entered into arevolving Hne of credit with Wells Farge Rank M., The line
expireson Jung 1, 2018, with a it nof o exceed $5,000,008. The putsianding balaace willbear mierest at a
rateof 1.70% over the daily one month LIBOR rate. This Hne s collaterafized by all the aconunts receivable,
inventory andeguipment of the Company arid is alse subject fo Hnancial covenants and liraiations azsetdorth
in the loan agreement, At December 31, 2016, the svailable balasce for additional borrowings totaled
FLAT0 308,

SCOMMITMENTA AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company moved its office to Sarasota, Florida and entered into 3 fease agresment that extends through
Wovember-i4, 2018, twluded inreot expense is $23 968 for 2016,

OnAugust 1, 2002 the Dompany cntered into anoperating ieasewith a related conmpany. The terma of the lease
ks H0 vearsmmdimonthdy ront s 31735 through Jely 2022 inereasing anoualiy by the consumer price dndex.
included in rent expense i3 820886 for 201 6.

The foture minbowm remad payments are ss follows:
2017

46408

I00E 43583
2018

22
2021

Theesafler
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ROVYCE INTERNATIONAL, LLC
KOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Devember 37, 2008

Nate 4 -RELATED PARTY

e

The Company collects 3 management fee from RP International, LLO fe processing ity wransactions. The
velated munacement fee collected by the Company for 2016 was $24.912 and is ineloded in ather incotmetorthe
vear ehded December 31, 2016,

The Company paid rent to a related party of $13 300 as of December 3 12010

Note 5 - INVESTMENT INCOME

Iavestment income for the year ended December 31, 2016 consists o the folfowing from RP Intemational, LLC

524,912
RGN
2003

$.302

Management fae
Kot incone

Note § - MAJOB SUPPLIERS

The Company has two suppliers who provided approximately 37% of its produsts during 2016
Mote T- REVIREMENT PLAN

The Company has instituted 8 401 {K) retirement plas covering salaried employees who have atained age 24 and
completed owe vear of service. Salary deferral contributions range from 1% to 8% percont of eligible
compensation up to the statutory Hmit. The Compaty will mateh $.25 for cach 31 of cach salary deferval
contribution o a maximum of 1% of compensation.  After three years of service, the participants are Rdlly
veswed, The Company’s contribation for 2016 totaled $1.777.

Mate B - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Subsequent events kave been evahuted through Mareh 31, 2017, which is the dte the tirancidd statements were
svailable to be issised
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Options: Activity Only

Financial Row

ASSETS

Current Assets

Bank

11003 - CASH WELLS FARGO R/|
11005 - CASH WELLS FARGO R/! (LLC}
Total Bank

Accounts Receivable

11100 - Accounts Receivable

11120 - Allowance for Bad Debt
Total Accounts Receivable

Other Current Asset

11150 - CLEARING OR SUSPENSE ACCOUNT
11160 - LANDED COST

11300 - INVENTORY-RAW MATERIAL
11301 - INVENTORY CLEARING
13110 - PPD EXPENSE

Undeposited Funds

Inventory In Transit

Payroll Float

Total Other Current Asset

Total Current Assets

Fixed Assets

15010 - OFFICE EQUIPMENT

16010 - ACCUM DEPR - OFFICE EQUIPMENT
Total Fixed Assets

Other Assets

14000 - INVEST IN RP INT LLC

Total Other Assets

Total ASSETS

LIABILITIES & EQUITY

Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable

20000 - Accounts Payable

Total Accounts Payable

Other Current Liability

20200 - A/P MONTH ACCRUALS
20210 - Canada GST/HST

22020 - Duty Refunds

22035 - Payroll - Insurance Premiums
22040 - ACCRUED BONUSES

22046 - Accrued Management Fees
22060 - ACCRUED COMMISSIONS 6
22065 - Payroll Taxes - RI

22075 - Employer Contributions - RI
Inventory Received Not Billed
Customer Deposits

Total Other Current Liability

Total Current Liabilities

Long Term Liabilities

25000 - NOTE-PAYABLE WELLS FARGO
Total Long Term Liabilities

Equity

Equity

30300 - Albert J Royce |

30320 - Harvinder Anand

30330 - Wylie Royce

30340 - Victor Villafranca

Total - Equity

Retained Earnings

Net Income

Total Equity

Total LIABILITIES & EQUITY

Amount (As of Jan 2017}

mwﬁ 271.95

mwwu 535.26

$1,812,125.62

$18,408.61
$5,213,497.72
$46,789.35
$11,526.67
$3,896.34
$127,101.57
$21,180.64
$5,436,194.76
$7,470,855.64

wHM 143.65

$632,044.00
$632,044.00
$8,102,899.64

$1,155,287.55
$1,155,287.55

$242,213.54
$84,116.59
$58,816.09
$2,424.94
$161,493.10
25T

mHm 990.86

$1,139,500.00
$1,139,500.00

$1,703,598.05
$1,703,600.17
$1,703,598.08
$305,345.19
$5,416,141.49
$570,574.24
$158,131.32
$6,144,847.05
$8,102,899.64

Amount (As of Feb 2017}

$523,025.63
$0.00
$523,025.63

$2,418,188.42

$2,303,188.42

AR
$26,361.37
$5,196,698.70
$60,409.60
$11,526.67
$2,066.76
$10,246.99
$65,101.52
$5,360,690.53
$8,186,904.58

mHm 143.65

$407,044.00
$407,044.00
$8,593,948.58

$1,857,601.70
$1,857,601.70

$190,626.83
$89,467.23
$58,816.09
$2,479.20
$185,487.26

$17,582.68

$739,500.00
$739,500.00

$1,703,598.05
$1,703,600.17
$1,703,598.08
$305,345.19
$5,416,141.49
$570,574.24
$398,714.76
$6,385,430.49
$8,593,948.58

Amount (As of Mar 2017)

$279,493.60
$0.00
$279,493.60

$2,586,018.82

$2,471,018.82

$19,055.90
$5,014,536.31
$49,336.86
$11,526.67
$0.00
$131,207.11
$0.00
$5,212,748.15
$7,963,260.57

$15,143.65

$407,044.00
$407,044.00
$8,370,304.57

$1,704,721.90
$1,704,721.90

$110,414.36
$62,181.88
$58,816.09
$2,812.06
mE 504.81

$1,248,066.65

$489,500.00
$489,500.00

$1,703,598.05
$1,703,600.17
$1,703,598.08
$305,345.19
$5,416,141.49
$570,574.24
$646,022.19
$6,632,737.92
$8,370,304.57

Amount (As of Apr 2017}

$380,556.83
$0.00
$380,556.83

$2,487,632.10

A0

mE 271.78
$5,158,378.80
$60,246.38
$14,886.67
$0.00
$4,045.28
$0.00
$5,241,652.04
$7,994,840.97

$15,143.65
5,

$0.00

$407,044.00
$407,044.00
$8,401,884.97

$1,478,054.87
$1,478,054.87

$95,831.03
$72,966.67
$58,816.09
$2,656.33
$124,311.89

me‘NmNow

wwmw‘uww.ww

$739,500.00
$739,500.00

$1,703,598.05
$1,703,600.17
$1,703,598.08
$305,345.19
$5,416,141.49
$570,574.24
$686,469.97
$6,673,185.70
$8,401,884.97

Royce International
Parent Company : Royce International (Consolidated)
AB Balance Sheet by month
End of Dec 2017

Amount (As of May 2017}

$362,487.30
$0.00
$362,487.30

$2,841,815.45

mHm 368.45
$4,932,991.30
$50,352.01
$12,886.67
$4,440.05
$95,162.62
$0.00
$5,082,468.24
$8,171,770.99

$15,143.6
i

$0.0

$407,044.00
$407,044.00
$8,578,814.99

$1,507,884.25
$1,507,884.25

$106,583.30
$84,510.41
$58,816.09
$2,989.78
$76,468.74

$800,818.27

$839,500.00
$839,500.00

$1,703,598.05
$1,703,600.17
$1,703,598.08
$305,345.19
$5,416,141.49
$570,574.24
$951,780.99
$6,938,496.72
$8,578,814.99

Amount (As of Jun 2017} Amount (As of Jul 2017)

$212,267.14

$195,541.44

$3,377,390.24

$3,262,390.24
BRI
$19,560.45
$4,981,985.47
$53,762.02
$12,886.67
$0.00
$58,503.87
$16,675.70
$5,130,535.44
$8,588,467.12

$407,044.00
$407,044.00
$8,995,511.12

$2,387,111.87
$2,387,111.87

$658,508.60
$83,662.66
$58,816.09
$2,855.00
$61,907.61

$42,967.60

S NEARE G2

$1,351,645.85

$1,039,500.00
$1,039,500.00

$1,883,100.71

mdm 188.40
S.s
$662,410.12

mw 387,925.48

mw Nd oE 08

me 979.82
$5,391,558.57
$96,731.46
$12,886.67
$0.00
$52,680.96
$55,703.28
$5,612,874.30
$9,552,288.50

$15,143.65

mo.oo

$407,044.00
$407,044.00
$9,959,332.50

$2,864,497.05
$2,864,497.05

$662,796.48
$97,763.92
$58,816.09
$2,710.45
miw 929.33

mrwmrﬁiw

$1,689,500.00
$1,689,500.00

$1,883,100.71

Amount (As of Aug 2017}

$339,594.03
$0.00
$339,594.03

$4,303,563.37

mm 880.48
$6,519,329.61
$87,756.67
$12,886.67
mEN 64

mo.oo
$6,618,446.88
$11,150,682.88

wum‘bmm.ww

mwNw 28

$407,044.00
$407,044.00
$11,558,050.16

$2,717,917.06
$2,717,917.06

$663,094.88
$105,033.35
$58,816.09

$3,643.63
mGH 500.64

mNN 948.06

mw 04591

$1,891,370.69

$2,439,500.00
$2,439,500.00

$1,883,100.71

Amount (As of Sep 2017}

$331,136.41
$0.00
$331,136.41

$4,358,557.23

$4,247,635.83

ﬁv,,.?.j
$32,427.74
$6,496,024.09
$66,637.48
$15,841.70
$0.00
$122,093.82
$0.00
$6,721,043.92
$11,299,816.16

$15,466.93
817,105,685

$323.28

$407,044.00
$407,044.00
$11,707,183.44

$2,726,276.47
$2,726,276.47

$1,137,599.45
$109,548.27
$58,816.09
$3,495.82
mmm 020.70

mﬁ 967.60

mN NNm 096.96

$2,439,500.00
$2,439,500.00

$1,883,100.71

$1 102 $1 102, $1 102 $1 102
$1,883,100.74 $1,883,100.74 $1,883,100.74 $1,883,100.74
$337,411.45 $337,411.45 $337,411.45 $337,411.45
$5,986,715.73 $5,986,715.73 $5,986,715.73 $5,986,715.73
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
$617,649.54 $901,375.34 $1,240,463.74 $1,054,870.75
$6,604,365.27 $6,888,091.07 $7,227,179.47 $7,041,586.48

$8,995,511.12

$9,959,332.50

$11,558,050.16

$11,707,183.44

Amount (As of Oct 2017)

$791,095.24
$0.00
$791,095.24

mw 463,130.31

$25,669.98
$6,964,726.13
$53,184.94
$15,841.70
$107.12
$195,993.58
$13,676.94
$7,259,788.09
$11,403,092.24

$15,466.93
SR

$323.28

$407,044.00
$407,044.00
$11,810,459.52

$2,450,822.80
$2,450,822.80

$1,151,468.11
$111,201.36
$58,816.09
$3,235.15
$66,464.88
S2E82 00

mNo 773.97

$2,439,500.00
$2,439,500.00

$1,883,100.71
$1,883,102.83
$1,883,100.74
$337,411.45
$5,986,715.73
$0.00
$1,280,108.65
$7,266,824.38
$11,810,459.52

Amount (As of Nov 2017)

$714,276.81
$0.00
$714,276.81

mNN 851.04
$7,836,747.68
$53,478.41
$17,466.70
$0.00
$6,917.04
$0.00
$7,911,878.57
$11,342,728.17

$15,46

$407,044.00
$407,044.00
$11,750,095.45

$1,940,568.93
$1,940,568.93

$1,164,452.64
$112,141.14
$58,816.09
$3,539.92
mSm 902.80

$1,816.17
$333,959.23
$2,274,528.16

$2,039,500.00
$2,039,500.00

$1,883,100.71
$1,883,102.83
$1,883,100.74
$337,411.45
$5,986,715.73
$0.00
$1,449,351.56
$7,436,067.29
$11,750,095.45

Amount (As of Dec 2017}

$488, 748, 3

e,

wbww‘mwo.wb

$2,619,206.37

$2,508,284.97

Saa,265.60
$34,886.72
$7,365,329.75
$54,415.54
$12,776.67
$1,624.75
$124,746.62
$9,071.05
$7,558,567.46
$10,546,483.17

$775,755.00
$775,755.00
$11,322,238.17

$2,037,627.03
$2,037,627.03

$641,837.69
$112,673.14
$58,816.09
$3,392.11
mﬁm 608.20
5216500

mHm 441.25

$1, wE 935.58

$1,539,500.00
$1,539,500.00

$1,893,247.71
$1,893,249.83
$1,893,247.74
$339,222.45
$6,018,967.73
$0.00
$1,851,834.86
$7,870,802.59
$11,322,238.17
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Royce International
Parent Company : Royce International (Consolidated)
Incorne Staternent
Frorn Jan 2016 to Dec 2017

Financial Row Jan-16 Feb-16 Mar-16 Apr-16 May-16 Jun-16 Jul-16 Augls Sep16 Oct16 Nov-16 Dec16 Jan-17 Feb-17 Mar-17 Apra7 May-17 Jun7 a7 Aug17 Sep-17 Oct17 Nov-17 Dec17 Total
Amount Amount Amount Amount Amount Amount Amount Amount Amount Amount Amount Amount Amount Amount Amount Amount Amount Amount Amount Amount Amount Amount Amount Amount Amount

Ordinary Income/Expense
Income
40000 - SALES $1,976,029.20 $1,488,499.72 $1,977,808.30 $2,111763.16 $1,539,218.28 $1,739,353.21 $1,847,580.89 $1,874,420.44 $1619,596.78 $1,487021.73 $1,557,132.14  $917,906.66 $1,650,763.60 $1,665418.72 $1892,943.16 $1,684,445.37 $2,123,652.33 $2,084,688.70 $2436,631.21 $2,811465.07 $2,553,632.31 $2,201,973.09 $1,787,601.34 $1479,619.90 $44,509,174.40
40100 - RP Management Fees $2,919.29  $1,665.31  $183195  $206437  $3,727.55  $1,80358  $2,179.65  $1,898.95  $190625  $142972  $1,588.28 $1,90700  $2,530.29  $1,867.00  $2389.75  $1,96629  $2730.40  $3249.90  $2,43993  $247220  $3702.44  $2,85045  $2,773.47  $2,165.62  $56049.14
40500 - RP INTERNATIONAL INCOME $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  $277,091.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  $368,711.00  $645,802.00
Total - Income $1,978,948.49 $1490,165.03 $1,979,640.25 $2,113.827.53 $1542,945.83 $1,741,156.79 $1,849,760.54 $1876,318.39 $1,621,503.03 $1,488451.45 $1,558,720.42 $1,196904.76 $1,653,293.98 $1,667,285.72 $1895332.91 $1686,411.66 $2,126,382.73 $2,087,938.60 $2439,071.14 $2,813937.27 $2,557,334.45 $2,204,823.24 $1,790,374.81 $1,850,496.52 $45,211,025.54
Cost Of Sales
45000 - RAW MAT'LCOSTS $1,537,187.22 $1,164,924.43 $1,516,364.99 $1,597.852.36 $1,165,561.72 $1,280,694.83 $1455,797.25 $1428,186.24 $1,229,587.94 $1,128,666.41 $1,116990.76 $1,104,095.03 $1,221,955.92 $1,131,729.75 $1325707.12 $1,203,738.40 $1545019.52 $1,534,424.87 $1,825725.75 $2,095895.31 $1,926,740.38 $1,663,487.42 $1,357,981.59 $1,040,912.39 $33,599,227.60
Total - Cost Of Sales $1,537,187.22 $1,164,924.43 $1,516,364.99 $1,597.852.36 $1,165,561.72 $1,280,694.83 $1455,797.25 $1428,186.24 $1,229,587.94 $1,128,666.41 $1,116990.76 $1,104,095.03 $1,221,955.92 $1,131,729.75 $1325707.12 $1,203,738.40 $1545019.52 $1,534,424.87 $1,825725.75 $2,095895.31 $1,926,740.38 $1,663,487.42 $1,357,981.59 $1,040,912.39 $33,599,227.60
Gross Profit $441,761.27  $325240.60 $46327526 $515975.17 $377,384.11 $460,461.96  $393,963.29  $448,13215 $391,91509 $359,785.04 $441729.66  $92,809.73 $431338.06 $535,555.97 $569,625.79 $482,673.26 $581,363.21 $553513.73 $613,34539 $71804196 $630,594.07 $541,335.82 $432,393.22  $809,584.13 $11,611,797.94
Expense
41000 - CASH DISCOUNTS $534.36 $435.06  $1,158.09 $914.49 $737.52 $744.09 $570.15 $442.16 $31826 $910.41 $320.01 $607.47 $937.03  $1,01447 $871.51 $41227  $1,605.10 $819.45  $1,198.70 $931.88 $506.63 $524.93 $337.57 $512.24  $17465.95
44000 - TRANS COSTS $47,47091  $33,41579  $36,20339  $58004.08  $50,880.02  $51,108.92  $48583.18  $50,956.87  $4241593  $36,334.86  $29,270.40  $26970.10  $41,289.30  $3647357  $41,797.76  $38,73160  $58,46428  $72,457.64  $61,92993  $80672.61  $63,002.97  $58280.15  $37.501.04  $32,010.23 $1,143229.53
50000 - ENERGY COSTS $158.20 $181.06 $128.87 $141.70 $156.10 $192.03 $252.26 $216.68 $21196 $176.25 $125.66 $110.71 $131.72 $105.97 $113.37 $147.29 $183.22 $211.45 $212.60 $197.58 $173.18 $173.66 $121.62 $109.03 $3,932.17
50010 - FACTORY SUPPLIES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $2.360.30 $0.00 $0.00 $485.33 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $2,845.63
50020 -R& D $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $1,040.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $1,040.00
50025 - SAMPLE EXPENSE $49.40 $968.61 $154.99 $0.00 $606.76 $454.21 $105.42 $574.73 $67931  $2,49871  $1,932.68 $222.58 $23.39 $139.51 $0.00 $0.00 $145.42 $112.74 $78196  $2,052.09 $9606  $2,145.55 $7.31 $936.23  $14,687.66
50060 - COMMUNICATION EXPENSE $1,57.03  $1,912.77  $149144  $183290  $2,689.01  $2,529.53  $2,193.89  $155158  $1,277.33 $964.17  $1,185.93 $2697.33  $101031  $121738  $1,204.84  $1,146.15  $1,14277  $141585  $1,257.63  $151547  $149251  $1525.81 $962.08  $1666.78  $37,130.49
50080 - AUTO EXPENSE 2 $230000  $230000  $2,30000  $2300.00  $2300.00  $2300.00  $2300.00  $2300.00  $385685  $242471  $2,300.00 $230000  $230000  $2,300.00  $2,300.00  $2300.00  $2300.00  $2300.00  $230000  $230000  $2,30000  $2,30000  $2,30000  $2,300.00  $5688156
50100 - OFFICE EQUIP & SUPPLY $680.09  $1,69537  $1.92656  $167557  $2,260.94  $2,864.53  $4521.47  $2,09643  $2,99449  $1,99273  $2,099.38 $2,81041 $433.61  $1,71598  $1,2683.18 $494.09 $415.52 $673.50 $92016  $100771  $1,18336 $950.68 $658.18  $1,14616  $38.500.10
50110 - PROFESSIONAL SVS $5045.90  $4966.11  $4,82636  $4.86258  $5286.81  $6860.90  $7.564.86  $8,93253  $1570363  $10,196.69  $11,553.91  $13,81563  $10,119.00  $7537.07  $5820.52  $15323.73  $5824.91  $5283.15  $5254.03  $498167  $4,962.81  $4,944.15  $4,932.83  $4,818.03  $179417.81
50120 - INTEREST EXPENSE 2 $2630.58  $2689.07  $2,89789  $280834  $2176.75  $2,398.02  $2,999.05  $2,748.25  $2,30579  $1734.87  $1,292.73 $1,844.47  $2,81110  $1,589.65  $1,35230  $1564.66  $1,72231  $245131  $352154  $426534  $6,027.52  $617012  $603551  $4,51146  $70552.63
50130 - OTHER EXPENSE 1 $128.95  $1,663.90  $1,70167  $307532  $1,256.85  $243156  $665272  $1365.20  $3,71627 $785.45 $0.00 $906.79 $645.83 $894.55 $76235  $1515.00 $41625  $2,895.68  $1578.65 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  $32392.99
50140 - RENT $5114.63  $5114.63  $511463  $5114.63  $5114.63  $5114.63  $5114.63  $5147.60  $5147.60  $3,647.60  $3,754.60 $3754.60  $3754.60  $375460  $375460  $375460  $3754.60  $3,754.60  $3,75460  $3788.19  $3788.19  $3,78219  $3,94269  $3,94260  $102,798.56
50160 - PROPERTY TAXES $5,869.86 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $7,525.64 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $1,343.01 $0.00 $3,922.58 $18,661.09
50180 - INSURANCE - GENERAL $11,949.47  $10,747.47  $10,71239  $1101547  $11583.61  $12673.23  $9,773.23  $14630.23  $9,77323  $9,77323  $9,773.23 $9773.23  $1247023  $9,773.23  $13891.19  $10138.04  $7.27557  $11,28676  $833636  $1070651  $8,33636  $8,33636  $8,33636  $8,33636  $24940135
50185 - Insurance - Medical $2,027.80  $2,61141  $2447.92  $258648  $323310  $2489.72  $2,99120  $2,39296  $2,39296  $2,658.40 $206016  $2317.54  $245376  $4,086.90  $3473.46  $4,069.64  $3473.46  $347346  $4069.64  $3473.46  $3473.46  $4,060.64  $3.473.46  $67015.27
50186 - Insurance - Dental $176.24 $255.79 $264.08 $264.08 $330.10 $254.76 $306.80 $24544 $245.44 $288.16 $226.80 $240.78 $245.44 $323.56 $337.67 $403.22 $426.61 $362.22 $440.11 $368.39 $368.39 $440.11 $368.39 $6,573.58
50187 - Insurance - Vision $48.96 $68.30 $62.40 $62.40 $78.00 $59.36 $70.40 $5632 $56.32 $64.32 $50.24 $54.80 $56.32 $69.28 $75.02 $88.82 $75.02 $75.02 $88.82 $75.02 $75.02 $88.82 $75.02 $1,456.50
50188 - Insurance - STD/LTD/Life $544.89 $68274  $1472.79 $825.60 $808.06 $808.06 $808.06 $73364 $780.92 $780.92 $624.16 $707.29 $760.59 $766.97 $766.97 $766.96 $766.97 $766.97 $766.97 $766.97 $766.97 $766.97 $766.97  $18199.54
51120 - SHIPPING SUPP & EXP $1.20 $0.00 $35.03 $1.68 $1.15 $6.45 $1.15 $0.00 $2.30 $1.62 $2.46 $0.00 $71.46 $0.00 $40.40 $0.00 $0.94 $0.00 $16.89 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $184.53
60040 - SELLING EXPENSE $5177.06  $3,75280  $7,182.01  $4990.56  $6,60188  $5677.98  $360046  $625270  $3,07185  $4,109.73 $6365.92  $6681.28  $675400  $6397.07  $2,946.86  $3698.75  $6358.54  $3,76566  $297258  $3,01659  $4574.89  $176211  $13,958.62  $120127.14

$39,486.97  $36,62821  $4647930  $4246255  $30502.11  $51,029.328  $39,034.22  $41477.68  $40,79619  $38,21533  $36,792.92  $64,535.86  $41506.57  $38036.87  $40,595.60  $38,345.04  $40,45212  $39,77632  $38,307.77  $43627.12  $39,866.01  $40,447.04  $41150.34  $39228.03  $988,779.55
60150 - Payroll - Commissions $14,425.09  $12,917.91  $1577209  $16194.10  $12,22657  $10,990.65  $13221.74  $13,87132  $1237100  $10,79592  $13,249.35 $2,400.09  $13,113.82  $12,877.04  $1547242  $1330517  $17437.42  $15191.09  $17,01585  $18705.91  $17,394.13  $16202.75  $13,255.08  $13388.16  $337884.57
60160 - Payroll - Bonus $64875.13  $A0,172.63  $6945400  $76914.18  $49,20180  $60,514.51  $4593750  $60,098.80  $4507536  $46230.61  $7692221  $89,773.00  $6411871  $9209555  $94,400.26  $74,902.63 $101468.74  $8LO07.61 $10802172 $12847892 $108,02070  $26464.88  $65437.92  $89,568.16 $1,20,070.62
65000 - DIV. ADMIN. SVCS. $200000  $200000  $2,00000  $2000.00  $2000.00  $2000.00  $2000.00  $2,000.00  $2,00000  $2,00000  $2,000.00 $820000  $200000  $2,000.00  $2,00000  $2,000.00  $2000.00  $2000.00  $200000  $200000  $2,00000  $2,00000  $2,00000  $2,00000  $54,200.00
65020 - ENTERTAINMENT $3.02212  $278163  $594491  $5796.37  $6234.66  $6231.92  $9,43170  $6384.05  $9,58976  $4,00832  $6,644.47 $9.659.14  $3205.89  $6480.87  $6108.62  $5638.40  $3,604.89  $5913.65  $847452  $437110  $7,22200  $6436.85  $4.83556  $7,687.84  $145709.24
65030 - T&A $4386.96  $9377.31  $1097451  $1138299  $8,897.00  $12,67248  $1556842  $11,21267  $11,26442  $6709.97  $9,941.42 $871575  $6009.94  $5359.69  $14,199.57  $837276  $3569.70  $8,01276  $738270  $6056.91  $7,36134  $5539.54  $2,34565  $9,03245  $204346.91
65044 - CONSULTING FEES $15472.02  $12,94832  $15527.27  $13763.00  $16107.84  $15601.98  $16675.13  $14318.93  $1970901  $1831179  $15207.89  $24524.57  $13311.04  $1356364  $14,99525  $1650832  $16775.89  $18,054.84  $13,123.09  $13964.14  $19,273.83  $13339.22  $15280.90  $13390.75  $379,748.75
65046 - DIRECTORS FEES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $60,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  $37,500.00 $0.00 $0.00  $18,750.00 $0.00 $0.00 $3,750.00  $120,000.00
65047 - MANAGEMENT FEES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  $600,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  $155,000.00 $0.00  $510,000.00 $0.00 $0.00  $445,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  $1,714,000.00
65050 - TAX EXPENSE $13,769.02  $9,211.95  $10,44646  $15082.84  $4994.23  $12189.37  $562022  $7,07647  $7,0032  $4,353.39  $9,337.07  $55096.08  $10,994.86  $9,77155  $10,049.21  $10,920.82  $5577.43  $17,07673  $6898.14  $4904.56  $6857.26  $6189.52  $10733.95  $454048  $258,897.93
65060 - Bad Debt $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $65,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $4,078.60 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 RO $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $65,000.00
66020 - Warehouse - Brook NJ $14,70931  $11,70432  $14,67460  $13556.88  $11289.20  $12473.22  $13,880.84  $13,982.35  $11,84913  $13463.49  $1385151  $15218.90  $16576.29  $15249.65  $1443118  $15946.49  $16,149.45  $15193.97  $11,96542  $14260.13  $13985.77  $13.823.67  $13353.60  $12,607.40  $334,196.86
66040 - Warehouse - RV Tech $0.00 $60.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $1,625.55 $1,481.79 $0.00 $0.00 $6,258.50 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $9425.84
67000 - Warehouse - SC $8457.03  $537126  $595954  $6774.90  $6289.23  $7,04147  $640259  $5476.03  $6339.05  $7455.61  $7,748.97 $7735.18  $5806.96  $7,681.03  $5716.19  $6903.27  $6457.88  $6055.19  $4,44200  $587325  $5877.28  $7.460.83  $4.442.00  $15114.04  $162889.78
68020 - Warehouse - IDC Houston $1398.72  $244158  $218662  $1839.29  $164536  $2175.98  $1,802.94  $151690  $397944  $2,84022  $3,271.44 $2734.36  $317554  $4020447  $323834  $2,23523  $1843.36  $5301.26  $4,21188  $4847.40  $3,592.62  $3.966.79  $4,81422  $4,80579  $74069.75
68040 - Warehouse - Vopak Belgium $1,788.08  $1,557.35  $1550.77  $298352 $839.39  $2,696.56 $553.68  $1,77550  $1,537.74 $320.27 $660.38 $298.63 $303.72 $596.30  $3,648.85 $278.39 $285.92 $695.56 $149.05 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $000  $22519.76
68050 - Warehouse - Schafer Logistics $500502  $4,574.30  $465650  $578950  $3,979.45  $435115  $6379.05  $4.26045  $490475  $3,03130  $2,48815 $388535  $5532.50  $7,881.00  $5797.25  $686125  $565L70  $855525  $612690  $13602.75  $16870.30  $14,023.75  $12,786.75  $1675845  $173752.22
68060 - Warehouse - Prairie $50.00 $265.00 $50.00 $265.00 $290.00 $50.00 $265.00 $265.00 $25.00 $265.00 $25.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $1,815.00
68065 - Warehouse - Opportunity Center $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $000 $0.00 $0.00 $336.00 $350.00 $378.00 $140.00 $308.00 $322.00 $315.00 $336.00 $392.00 $140.00 $308.00 $336.00 $98.00 $3,759.00
68070 - Warehouse - Dominion $659.51 $296.40 $442 85 $268.35 $335.14 $327.89  $1,460.02 $684.46  $1,94803  $1,67459  $1,170.66 $1,11068  $1,24095  $1,68508  $2142.07  $144961  $2,08468  $1,23875  $156174  $1103.18 $355.78 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  $2324052
68080 - Warehouse - Springfield $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $215.00 $50.00 $125.00 $2500 $25.00 $0.00 $0.00 $25.00 $25.00 $0.00 $25.00 $25.00 $25.00 $25.00 $25.00 $50.00 $25.00 $0.00 $0.00 $690.00
Total - Expense $270,04251 $226320.26 $282,106.74 $320343.17 $24861157 $302,32550 $278,695.57 $293,993.28 $278,07770 $237,696.28 $270,823.12 $1,114,150.79 $273,199.60 $294.84329 $321,907.91 $442,168.19 $315983.22  $887,57 $329,53127 $378907.83 $816187.04 $316,068.18 $263,040.81 $314,820.80 $9,077490.38
Net Ordinary Income $171,718.76  $98,86034 $181,16852 $195632.00 $12877254 $158,136.46 $115267.72 $154138.87 $113,83739 $122,088.76  $170,906.54 L $158,138.46  $240712.68 $247,717.88  $40,505.07  $265,379.99 $283,814.12  $339134.43 50850287 $225267.64  $16935241  $494,754.33  $2,534,307.56

Other Income and Expenses
Other Expense

Rounding Gain/Loss $0.01 X $0.01 $0.02 o o $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 SN $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 o o $0.01 $0.00 $0.02 $0.00 $0.00

Reslized Gain/Loss $4,770.06 $1,369.44 $5452.77 $19.52 $3,782.7 $455.18 $798.34 $273.89 $25440 $411.62 $1,005.50 $7.14 $129.24 $410.45 $57.30 $69.01 $68.44 $88.31 $45.73 $0.00 $109.50 $93.03 $19,720.51
Total - Other Expense $4,770.07  $1,369.42 $1954  $3,782.71 $455.17 $798.34 $273.89 $254.40 $41161  $1,005.50 $7.14 $129.24 $410.45 $57.29 $68.97 $68.43 8832 $45.73 $0.0; $109.50 $93.03  $19,720.46
Net Other Income BEany Hisendd . TR Rt 5 §raa2 Srsidn Sl ILAnEIR s 2 . P} 40837 S8 5 S REIERC) Sma2r e

e 3 3 sed? L8832 HARTT
$158,131.32  $240583.44 $247,307.43  $40447.78  $265311.02 Hiaailich  $283,725.80  $339088.40

: il N 5
Net Income $166,348.69  $97,490.92 $19561246 $124,989.83  $157,681.29 $114,469.38  $153,864.98  $113,58299 $121,677.15 $169,901.04 -& $225237.90  $169,242.91  $494,661.30 $2,514,587.10
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Section 2.6(c)

Accounts Receivable

One of the Company’s customers purchases a large quantity of its requirement for Company
product in a single order. The customer pays in full at the time of placing the order, and the
Company designates to customer the inventory that the customer has bought, and takes it off of
its books. However, the product inventory stays in the Company’s warehouse until the customer
needs it over the next three to four months. The Company records this sale in the month the
customer places the order and makes the payment.
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Section 2.6(e)

Refund of Duties

The Company is entitled to a refund of duties previously paid to Governmental Authorities
following the expiration of the Generalized System of Preferences on December 31, 2017 in the
amount of $54,203.58.
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Section 2.7
Indebtedness

None.
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(a)

None.

(b)

None.

(©

None.

(d)

None.

(e

None.

®

None.

(g)

None.

(h)

None.

(@

None.

@

None.

(k)

None.

Section 2.8

Absence of Certain Changes
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o

None.

(m)

1. Hotbox sold from RP International to Palmer International, Inc., in the amount of
$22.,980.84 as of March 2018.

2. Director’s Fees paid in the aggregate amount of $60,000.00 for the time period beginning

January 1, 2017 through December 31, 2017.

3. Management Fees paid in the aggregate amount of $1,114,000.00 for the period
beginning January 1, 2017 through December 31, 2017.

(n)
None.
(0)
None.

(p)

None.

(q)
None.
(r)
None.
(s)
None.
(t)

1. The Company has discontinued any and all operations in connection with its storing
product at a Canadian public warehousing facility.

(w)
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None.

(v)

None.
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Section 2.10(a)

Compliance with Laws and Regulations; Permits

1. Certificate of Conversion for “Other Business Entity” Into Florida Limited Liability
Company, filed with the Florida Secretary of State as of June 18, 2012.

2. Articles of Organization, Royce International, LLC, effective as of June 30, 2012.

3. Royce International, LLC, Form SS-4 — Employer Identification Number (EIN), assigned
as of July 5, 2012.

4. RP International, LLC, Form SS-4 — Employer Identification Number (EIN).

5. Canada Revenue Agency Act Filing No. 81237-1532. There is no underlying license or
permit associated with the foregoing.

6. Certificate of Registration of Quality Management System (issued by ISOQAR, Inc.),
Royce International, LLC, Certificate No.: 11058QMSO001, issued as of May 21, 2017.
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Section 2.11(a)

Tax Matters

Victor Villafranca was audited for tax periods 2012 and 2013. A settlement in the amount of
$45,331.11 was assessed. Victor Villafranca is making monthly payments in the amount of
$1,300.00 per month. The Company has no ongoing liabilities relating to these payments.
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Section 2.12
Environmental Matters

None.
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Section 2.13(a)

Intellectual Property

1. Registered Trademark: RoyOxy
Reg. No.: 4,102,990
Registered: February 21, 2012
Registrant: Royce International Corp.

2. Domain Name: www.royceintl.com, owned and registered by Royce International, LLC.

3. All product formulations and processes are in a secure folder in Royce International,
LLC’s ERP. Access to such folder will be granted after closing.
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Section 2.14
Real Property

1. Lease Agreement, dated as of July 31, 2012, by and between Peachview Acquisitions,
LLC and Royce International, LLC for certain real property situated at 41 Peachview Blvd.,
Gaffney, South Carolina 29341. This lease is being terminated at closing.

2. Lease Agreement, dated as of November 15, 2011, by and between Sun Siesta LLC and

Royce International Corp., for certain real property situated at 3400 South Tamiami Trail,
Sarasota, Florida 34239.

3. Warehouse Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2017, by and between Royce International,
LLC and Brook Warehousing Corporation.

4. Warehouse Agreement, dated as of February 11, 2013, by and between Royce
International Corporation and International Distribution Corporation.

5. Warehouse Agreement, dated as of September 23, 2016, by and between Royce
International, LLC and the Opportunity Center, 730 North State Street, Prairie du Chien, WI
53821.

6. Warehouse Agreement, dated as of December 1, 2016, by and between Royce
International Corporation and Schafer Logistics, Inc.

7. Royce International, LLC stocks epoxy resins, curing agents, diluents and additives at the
following warehouse locations (there are no warehousing agreements in place for such storage):

e Michigan Toller: Springfield Industries, LLC, 609 Folk Court, Imlay City, MI 48444

e New Jersey Warehouse: RV Tech Inc., 801 Magnolia Ave., Bldg. 38, Elizabeth, NJ
07201
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Section 2.15
Litigation

1. Royce International, LLC (“Plaintiff””) v. Corvixx Polymers Corporation (“Defendant”),
Case No. 2017-L-001096. Corvixx Polymers Corporation filed Answer and Counterclaims, as of
September 8, 2017, in the Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois, alleging breach of contract and
various product warranties following receipt and acceptance of goods. Plaintiff’s original
complaint brought claims to collect on past due invoices in the total amount of $40,078.60. The
Company carried accounts receivable insurance on Defendant’s accounts with Coface (the
“Insurer”). The Insurer paid Plaintiff for a claim in the amount of $36,000. Plaintiff wrote off its
deductible of $4,078.60. The Insurer is suing Defendant to collect the remaining balance. The
Company believes that the likelihood of success is very high. To the knowledge of the Company,
there is no basis for further liability on the part of the Company with respect to the foregoing
legal action.

2. Royce International, LLC was a named creditor in a customer’s (DJ Simpson Coating
Company) Chapter 11 bankruptcy petition, which was entered January 23, 2015. Royce
International, LLC wrote off $9,125.60 in bad debt. The Company has no ongoing liabilities
relating to this bankruptcy.
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1.

Section 2.16(a)

Employee Benefits

Manopco, Inc. 401(k) Plan, administered by Empower Retirement. Royce International,

LLC has adopted the Manopco, Inc. 401(k) Plan as a participating employer.

2. Royce International, LLC Group Health Insurance Plan, insured by Blue Cross and Blue
Shield of Florida.
3. Royce International, LLC Group Life, Dental and Vision Coverage, insured by the

Guardian Life Insurance Company.

4.

5.

Workers Compensation and Employers Liability Policy
Insurer: Travelers Companies, Inc.

Insured: Royce International, LLC

Policy No.: IHUB-4550T77-0-0-18

Royce International, LLC’s vacation, personal and sick leave policy is based on the

following:

3

Vacation Policy

One (1) year of service: one (1) week vacation.
Three (3) years of service: two (2) weeks vacation.
Eight (8) years of service: three (3) weeks vacation.
Fifteen years of service: four (4) weeks vacation.

If an employee joins between January 1 and June 30, such employee is entitled to three
days of vacation in their first year. If an employee joins after July 1, 2013, such employee
is not entitled to any vacation time in first year. All vacation time renews on January 1 of
each calendar year.

Employees are entitled to ten (10) paid holidays per calendar year.

Sick Leave

Employees are entitled to three (3) days of sick time per calendar year.

Personal Leave

Employees are entitled to two (2) days of “personal leave” per calendar year.
Commission Plan, by and between Royce International, LLC and Victor Villafranca.

Commission Plan, by and between Royce International, LLC and Brian Macrae.

TRADEMARK
REEL: 006697 FRAME: 0540



8. Commission Plan, by and between Royce International, LLC and Casey Yniguez.
9. Bonus Plan, by and between Royce International, LLC and Victor Villafranca.
10. Bonus Plan, by and between Royce International, LLC and Vipul Joshi.

11. Bonus Plan, by and between Royce International, LLC and Dr. Frank Cheng.

12. Annual discretionary bonus applicable to the following employees: Alynda Burelle,
David Lewis, Steve Shuman and Chelcie Marsham.
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Section 2.16(e)

Multiple Employer Plans

None.
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Section 2.17

Insurance
Policies

1. Shea Bond No.: 150630027
C.A. Shea & Company, Inc.
Surety: Western Surety Company
Effective Date: July 26, 2015
Amount: $70,000.00

2. Worldrisk Foreign Commercial Coverage
Insurer: American International Group, Inc. (AIG)
Insured: Royce Associates, ALP and Royce International, LL.C
Policy No.: WS11008403
Policy Dates: March 13, 2017 — March 13, 2018

3. Workers Compensation and Employers Liability Policy
Insurer: Travelers Companies, Inc.
Insured: Royce International, LLC
Policy No.: IHUB-4550T77-0-0-18
Policy Dates: January 21, 2018 — January 21, 2019

4. Commercial Crime Policy
Insurer: Ben Brown Insurance Agency, Inc.
Insured: Royce International, LLC
Policy No.: BDJ1848556
Policy Dates: August 29, 2017 until cancelled.

5. Multi-Markets Business Credit Insurance Policy
Insurer: Euler Hermes North America
Insured: Royce International, LLC
Policy No.: 5092578
Policy Dates: March 31, 2017 — March 31, 2018

6. Commercial Umbrella Liability Policy
Insurer: Zurich Insurance Group, Ltd.
Insured: Royce International, LLC
Policy No.: AUC 0112315-02
Policy Dates: March 13, 2017 — March 13, 2018

7. Commercial Property/Cargo Policy
Insurer: Ben Brown Insurance Agency, Inc.
Insured: Royce International, LLC
Policy No.: JY975017H
Policy Dates: July 1, 2017 — July 1, 2018

8. Commercial General Liability Policy
Insurer: AIG
Insured: Royce International, LLC
Policy No.: 41710677
Policy Dates: March 13, 2017 — March 13, 2018

9. Health Insurance Coverage, administered by Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Florida, provided through
Royce International, LLC 2018 Benefits Plan.
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10. Life, Dental and Vision Coverage, administered through the Guardian Life Insurance Company, provided
through Royce International, LLC 2018 Benefits Plan.

11. Property Insurance Coverage, issued through Besso Insurance Group Limited.
Claims
12. Claim filed against Commercial Crime policy as of 2013. Claim was filed in connection with

embezzlement by accounting staff member in the amount of $314,332.44. Claim was covered in full, and the
Company has no ongoing obligations relating to this claim.
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(@)

()
None.
(ii)
None.

(iii)

Material Contracts

Section 2.18

1. Below is a list of the Company’s outstanding sales orders and purchase orders over
$50,000.00 in value. The sales orders and purchase orders below are either (i) on the same form
of invoice or purchase order provided to the Purchaser, or (i1) are on third party forms that do not
contain material legal terms and conditions:

12/4/17
1/23/18
2/23/18
2/23/18
2/23/18
2/27/18
2/27/18
2/27/18
2/28/18
3/6/18
3/7/18
3/8/18
3/9/18
3/9/18
3/12/18
3/20/18
3/26/18
3/26/18
1/9/18
1/22/18
1/22/18
1/22/18
1/22/18
1/25/18
2/5/18
2/6/18
2/6/18
2/6/18
2/6/18
2/8/18
2/15/18

Dec 2017
Jan 2018
Feb 2018
Feb 2018
Feb 2018
Feb 2018
Feb 2018
Feb 2018
Feb 2018
Mar 2018
Mar 2018
Mar 2018
Mar 2018
Mar 2018
Mar 2018
Mar 2018
Mar 2018
Mar 2018
Jan 2018
Jan 2018
Jan 2018
Jan 2018
Jan 2018
Jan 2018
Feb 2018
Feb 2018
Feb 2018
Feb 2018
Feb 2018
Feb 2018
Feb 2018

Sales Order
Sales Order
Sales Order
Sales Order
Sales Order
Sales Order
Sales Order
Sales Order
Sales Order
Sales Order
Sales Order
Sales Order
Sales Order
Sales Order
Sales Order
Sales Order
Sales Order
Sales Order
Purchase Order
Purchase Order
Purchase Order
Purchase Order
Purchase Order
Purchase Order
Purchase Order
Purchase Order
Purchase Order
Purchase Order
Purchase Order
Purchase Order
Purchase Order

RI12914
RI13185
RI13446
RI13447
RI13456
RI13501
RI13502
RI13508
RI13514
RI13543
RI13566
RI13574
RI13589
RI13590
RI13596
RI13649
RI13690
RI13694
RI2019
RI2033
RI2036
RI2037
RI2038
RI2040
RI2045
RI2047
RI2048
RI2050
RI2051
RI2056
RI2058

56,400.00
63,250.88
64,400.00
62,000.00
59,508.00
77,056.20
77,056.20
66,000.00
67,439.68
59,508.00
63,871.92
61,807.76
59,111.28
61,995.56
92,000.00
72,599.76
67,951.56
60,698.16
55,005.00
62,437.50
127,200.00
127,200.00
145,565.00
52,789.60
220,576.00
58,336.30
58,307.00
215,648.00
55,084.00
53,680.00
58,600.00
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2/22/18 Feb 2018  Purchase Order  RI2063 58,600.00

RI2045-

2/23/18  Feb 2018  Purchase Order 01 112,800.00

2/28/18  Feb 2018  Purchase Order  RI2067 56,050.00

2/28/18  Feb2018  Purchase Order  RI2068 266,044.00

2/28/18  Feb2018  Purchase Order  RI2069 216.585.60

2/28/18  Feb 2018  Purchase Order  RI2070 479,348.00

2/28/18  Feb2018  Purchase Order  RI2071 52,036.80

2/28/18  Feb2018  Purchase Order  RI2072 52,740.00

3/6/18 Mar 2018  Purchase Order  RI2075 52,740.00
3/9/18 Mar2018  Purchase Order ~ RI2079 68,235.84

3/12/18 Mar 2018  Purchase Order ~ RI2080 58,600.00

3/12/18 Mar 2018  Purchase Order ~ RI2081 58,600.00

3/12/18 Mar 2018  Purchase Order ~ RI2082 58,600.00

3/13/18  Mar2018  Purchase Order  RI2083 50,155.30

3/20/18 Mar2018  Purchase Order  RI2086 62,240.00

3/27/18  Mar2018  Purchase Order  RI2100 65,670.00
(iv)
None.
)
1. Employment Agreement, by and between Royce International, LLC and Alynda Burelle.
2. Employment Agreement, by and between Royce International, LLC and David Lewis.
3. Employment Agreement, by and between Royce International, LLC and Brian Macrae.
4. Employment Agreement, by and between Royce International, LLC and Casey Yniguez.
5. Employment Agreement, by and between Royce International, LLC and Chelcie
Marsham.
6. Employment Agreement, by and between Royce International, LLC and Steve Shuman.
7. Employment Agreement, by and between Royce International, LLC and Victor
Villafranca.
8. Employment Agreement, by and between Royce International, LLC and Vipul Joshi.
9. Consulting Agreement, by and between Royce International, LLC and Dr. Frank Cheng.

10. Consulting Agreement, by and between Royce International, LLC and Dr. Hubert
Monteiro.

11. Consulting Agreement, by and between Royce International, LLC and Greg Tzap.

(vi)
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None.
(vii)
None.
(viii)
None.
(ix)
None.
(%)

1. Operating Agreement of RP International, LLC, dated as of October 27, 2011, by and
between the Company and Palmer International, Inc.

(xi)

None.

(xii)

1. Royce International, LLC is under written contract with a customer through December
31, 2018. The customer is afforded Most Favored Nation pricing as the customer is the largest
buyer of the relevant product. The terms of the foregoing contract are subject to confidentiality
restrictions.

(xiii)

None.

(xiv)

None.

(xv)

None.

(xvi)

1. Royce International, LLC is under contract to produce products for two customers,

through which Royce International, LLC is using such customers’ proprietary formulas. The
foregoing formulas are each protected under applicable Non-Disclosure Agreements. Other than
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as referenced in the two immediately preceding sentences, there are no other material terms
governing the contractual relationship between the Company and either of these customers. The
non-disclosure agreements between the Company and each of these parties contains customary
confidentiality obligations and no other material terms. Other than the non-disclosure
agreements disclosed above, there is no written documentation relating the Company’s contracts
with these customers, and all contracts between the Company and these customers are terminable
by either party at any time with no liability to the Company for such termination.

(xvii)

None.

(xviii)

None.

(xix)

None.

(xx)

None.

(xxi)

None.
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Section 2.18(b)

Consents

None.

TRADEMARK
REEL: 006697 FRAME: 0549



Section 2.19
Employee Leave

None.
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Section 2.20
Employee Matters

Emplovee Names, Position, Hire Date, Compensation and Bonus Eligibility:

Alynda Burelle Yes 4/6/15 Sarasota/FL 40,000.00 Yes Accounting

Brian MacRae Yes 9/26/11  Sarasota/FL 45,000.00 Yes Sales

David Lewis Yes 1/30/14  Sarasota/FL 48,000.00 Yes Purchasing

Chelcie Marsham Yes 5/22/15 Sarasota/FL 35,000.00 Yes Customer Service

Casey Yniguez Yes 3/14/16  Sarasota/FL 48,000.00 Yes Sales

Steve Shuman Yes 1/3/17  Sarasota/FL 38,000.00 Yes Inside Sales

Victor Villafranca Yes 7/19/04  Bloomfield/NJ 90,000.00 Yes Yes Sales

Vipul Joshi Yes 11/2115 Macungie/PA 150,000.00 Yes Marketing
Consultant 1

Greg Tzap Skippack, PA 1152/Wk  No No Technical
Consutant 2

Frank Cheng Santa Clara, CA 3000/Mo  No Yes Technical
Consultant 3

Hubert Monteiro Huntsville, AL 1250/Mo Yes Technical

Commissions are based on sales and gross margins. Bonuses
are on net profits

Changes in Compensation Since December 31, 2017

None.

Emplovee Handbooks or Personnel Manuals

None.
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Section 2.21
Affiliate Transactions

1. Royce International, LLC has the following oral agreements in place with Royce
Associates, ALP:

(i) Payment of $1,730 per month in connection with employment of Phil Flor, a
regulatory employee. There are no written agreements in place with respect to his
employment.

(i) Warehouse and space sharing expense arrangement relating to Gaffney, SC facility.
There are no written agreements in place evidencing this arrangement.

2. Royce International, LLC has an oral agreement in place with a Palmer International, Inc.
stockholder, Roberta Brody, in connection with use of Skippack, PA residential property. The
Company has two consultants and other visiting employees who occasionally stay at this
residential property. The Company pays Roberta Brody $900 per month for use of this
residential property, and there is no written lease for use of this building. This agreement is
terminable by Royce International, LLC at any time with no liability to the Company for such
termination.

3. Lease Agreement, dated as of July 31, 2012, by and between Peachview Acquisitions,
LLC and Royce International, LLC for certain real property situated at 41 Peachview Blvd.,
Gaffney, South Carolina 29341. This lease is being terminated at closing.

4. Operating Agreement of RP International, LLC, dated as of October 27, 2011, by and
between the Company and Palmer International, Inc.

5. RP International, LLC and Palmer International, Inc. are both listed on Section 2.23
below as material vendors to the Business.
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Section 2.22
Brokerage

Advisory Agreement, dated as of October 31, 2017, by and between Royce International, LLC
and Wells Fargo Clearing Services, LLC d/b/a Wells Fargo Advisors. The Company will pay all
amounts due to Wells Fargo in connection with this broker agreement at closing.
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Section 2.23

Suppliers and Customers

Top 10 Material Vendors

1 Kumho $4,304,647.18  $5,200,168.31
2 ATULLIMITED $3,187,632.00 $4,210,153.00
3 PALMER INTERNATIONAL, Inc. - (RI) $940,737.27 $1,822,563.67
4 Aditya Birla $1,053,804.00 $1,379,844.10
5 RPINTERNATIONAL, LLC $665,590.09 $840,367.09
6 DELAMINEB.V. $294,990.00 $794,726.07
7 Formosan Union Chemical Corporation $515,850.50 $651,941.80
8 AVS Chemical $296,431.20 $625,831.85
o :-rlllfei Greenhome Materials Technology, $366,938.10 $493.966.40
10 D.R. COATS INK & RESINS PVT LTD $383,771.20 $370,033.00

Top 10 C
1 E-Chem $1,424,283.50 $2,323,510.28
2 3M(PARENT) $1,588,153.60  $1,795,648.80
3 Berry Plastics (PARENT) $1,401,144.03  $1,838,189.46
4  Specialty Polymer Coatings SPC $337,902.00 $909,510.00
5 VON ROLLISOLA - NY $959,522.06 $901,786.45
6 NOV National Oilfield Varco (PARENT) $853,246.64 $890,628.28
7 WARREN ENVIRONMENTAL INC. $585,545.18 $759,162.88
8 WC Richards / TMS Manufacturing $462,160.11 $540,835.16
9 INDUSTRIAL LAMINATES $476,819.20 $498,912.95
10 Arkema (PARENT) $462,884.00 $470,256.00

Material Changes to Supplier/Customers

None.
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Section 2.24
Financial Accounts and Authority
1. Wells Fargo Bank, National Association: Royce International Act. No. 4121399976.

2. Wells Fargo Bank, National Association: RP International Act. No. 4121936132.

3. Names of authorized account signatories for each of the above accounts: Harvinder
Anand, Albert J. Royce III, Wylie Royce.
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Section 2.25
Warranties and Certifications; Product Liability
Royce International, LLC’s standard customer invoices include the following warranties:

“THE CONDITIONS OF SALE RECITED HEREIN CONSTITUTE THE ENTIRE
CONTRACT OF SALE AND PURCHASE OF THE PRODUCT DESCRIBED HEREIN AND
SELLER SHALL NOT BE LIABLE FOR, OR BOUND IN ANY MANNER BY, ANY
REPRESENTATIONS, GUARANTEES OR COMMITMENTS EXCEPT AS SPECIFICALLY
PROVIDED HEREIN, NO MODIFICATION OF THIS CONTRACT SHALL BE OF ANY
FORCE OR EFFECT UNLESS IN WRITING AND SIGNED BY THE PARTY CLAIMED TO
BE BOUND THEREBY, AND NO MODIFICATION SHALL BE EFFECTED BY THE
ACKNOWLEDGMENT OR ACCEPTANCE OF PURCHASE ORDER FORMS
CONTAINING...”

“IN NO EVENT SHALL THE SELLER’S LIABILITY EXCEED THE PURCHASE PRICE OF
THE MATERIAL AS TO WHICH A CLAIM IS MADE.”

“THERE ARE NO WARRANTIES, INCLUDING EXPRESS WARRANTIES, IMPLIED
WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY OR IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF FITNESS FOR
A PARTICULAR USE WHICH EXTEND BEYOND THE WRITTEN DESCRIPTION OF
THE GOODS ON THE FACE HEREOEFE.”

TRADEMARK
REEL: 006697 FRAME: 0556



Section 3.4
Title to Equity

See Section 2.4.

TRADEMARK
REEL: 006697 FRAME: 0557



Section 3.7
Brokerage

Advisory Agreement, dated as of October 31, 2017, by and between Royce International, LLC
and Wells Fargo Clearing Services, LLC d/b/a Wells Fargo Advisors. The Company will pay all
amounts due to Wells Fargo in connection with this broker agreement at closing.
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